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OR
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best of registrant’s knowledge, in definitive praxyinformation statements incorporated by refeeeindPart 11l of this Form 10-K or any amendment
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Indicate by check mark whether the registrantlarge accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, m-accelerated filer, or a smaller reporting company
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Large accelerated file ~ Accelerated filel
Non-accelerated file p (Do not check if a smaller reporting compa Smaller reporting compar

Indicate by check mark whether the registrantsbell company (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Exgje Act). Yes™ No p
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registrant’s common stock. The registrant’'s commsimek began trading on The NASDAQ Global Marketraigust 11, 2011.

As of March 1, 2012, there were 25,243,178 shafréiseoregistrant’s common stock, par value $0.0dspare, outstanding.

DOCUMENTS INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE
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PART I
SPECIAL NOTE REGARDING FORWARD LOOKING STATEMENTS

This Annual Report on Form 10-K (the “Annual Refprincluding the sections entitled “Business,” $RiFactors,” and “Management’s
Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition &websults of Operations,” includes forward-lookingtsments. The words “believe,” “may,” “will,”
“estimate,” “continue,” “anticipate,” “intend,” “gpect,” “predict,” “potential,” and similar expressis, as well as the negatives thereof, as thetera
us, our business, our management, and our indastryntended to identify forward-looking statensem light of risks and uncertainties discussed in
this Annual Report, the forward-looking events airdumstances discussed in this Annual Report noayocur and actual results could differ
materially from those anticipated or implied in foeward-looking statements. We have based thaseafd-looking statements on our current
expectations and projections about future everdsiaancial trends affecting the financial conditiof our business. Forward-looking statements
should not be read as a guarantee of future peafioceor results, and will not necessarily be adeuraications of the times at or by which such
performance or results will be achieved. Forwamking statements are based on information availabike time those statements are made and/or
management’s good faith belief as of that time wétbpect to future events, and are subject to d@skisuncertainties that could cause actual
performance or results to differ materially fronosle expressed in or suggested by the forward-lgatmiements. Moreover, we operate in a very
competitive and rapidly changing environment. N&ks emerge from time to time and it is not pogsibr our management to predict all risks, nor
can we assess the impact of all factors on ounkssior the extent to which any factor, or comimmnadf factors, may cause actual results to differ
materially from those contained in any forward-loukstatements we may make. Important factorsabald cause such differences include, but are
not limited to:

e our ability to accurately forecast revenue and appately plan our expenses and working capitaliiregnents

e our ability to generate additional reven

e our ability to retain existing customers and attramw customers

* our ability to protect our custom stored files and adequately address privacy cosg

« the impact of actual or threatened litigation, irtithg intellectual property infringement claimsyatving us or our industry

» the impact of increased competition in our busin

* interruptions in service and any related impacbonreputation

» our ability to maintain, protect, and enhance aanid; anc

» other risk factors included und‘Risk Factor” in this prospectus

Forward-looking statements speak only as of the dithis Annual Report. We may not actually achithwe plans, intentions, or expectations

disclosed in our forward-looking statements, and sloould not place undue reliance on our forwaakilog statements. Actual results or events could

differ materially from the plans, intentions, angectations disclosed in the forward-looking statate we make. In addition, our forward-looking
statements do not reflect the potential impactgffature acquisitions, mergers, dispositions, jeentures, or investments we may make.

You should read this Annual Report completely aritth the understanding that our actual future resmiay be materially different from what-
expect. We do not assume any obligation to updatdaward-looking statements, whether as a resfutew information, future events, or otherwise,
except as required by law. If we update one or nfmm@ard-looking statements, no inference shouldtasvn that we will make additional updates
with respect to those or other forward-looking estag¢nts.
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Unless otherwise indicated, information contairethis Annual Report concerning our industry areliarket in which we operate, including
our general expectations and market position, maneortunity, and market size, is based on infaionafrom various sources, on assumptions that
we have made that are based on such data, and @nawledge of the markets for our solutions. Sdata involves a number of assumptions and
limitations, and you are cautioned not to give undieight to such estimates. In addition, proje&j@ssumptions, and estimates of our future
performance and the future performance of the imguis which we operate, whether made by us origtparties, are necessarily subject to a high
degree of uncertainty and risk due to a varietfaofors, including those described in “Risk Factarsd elsewhere in this Annual Report. These and
other factors could cause results to differ mallgrfeom those expressed in the estimates madééyntdependent parties and by us.

ITEM 1. B USINESS

Overview

Carbonite, Inc. (together with its subsidiariesatonite,” the “Company,” “our,” “we,” or “us”) wamcorporated on February 10, 2005 and is a
Delaware corporation. We are a leading providesrdine backup solutions for consumers and smallmadium sized businesses, or SMBs. We
provide easy-to-use, affordable, unlimited, anduseonline backup solutions with anytime, anywhazeess to files stored on our servers, which we
call the Carbonite Personal Cloud. We believe Weatre the best known brand in the online backugketa

We founded Carbonite on one simple idea: all coensuteed to be backed up, and in this always-coad@nd highly-mobile world, online
backup is the ideal approach. Our “set and forgatbmated solution requires little effort and petéeour customers’ stored files even if their
computers are lost, stolen, or destroyed.

Our backup solutions work quietly in the backgrouauatomatically and continuously uploading encrgptepies of our customers'’ files to the
Carbonite Personal Cloud. Our customers can brawdeshare their photos, videos, and documentsra@ytinywhere using a web browser or our free
iPad, iPhone, BlackBerry, and Android apps. Outohnisal consumer offering, re-branded as Carbdddene, continues to include unlimited online
backup for an annual flat fee of $59. Carbonite ldBins provides customers with additional backuprastbre features for external hard drives for an
annual flat fee of $99. Carbonite HomePremier frrihcludes automatic online backup for video fésswell as a recovery-by-mail feature for an
annual flat fee of $149. Our SMB offerings, CarlterBusiness and Carbonite BusinessPremier, indeatares designed for multiple computers and
users, enabling SMBs to easily install and use @ate backup without the help of a professionasiaff.

As of December 31, 2011, we had subscribers in rihame 100 countries, with subscribers based itUtlge representing 94% of our total
revenue for 2011. Since 2005, we have backed upI@billion files and have restored over 13 biilifiles that might otherwise have been
permanently lost. We currently back up an averdgeare than 300 million files each day.

We have developed a highly predictable subscriptgmenue model, with a consistently high custoretntion rate and a scalable infrastructure
to support our growth. We generated revenue ofgs@llion in 2011. We continue to invest heavilyanstomer acquisition, principally through
advertising, and as a result we recorded a neolo$23.5 million in 2011. Our bookings have grofsom $32.9 million in 2009 to $80.9 million in
2011. For a reconciliation of bookings to revenuethe last five years, see “Selected Consoliditedncial and Other Data.”
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Industry Trends

We believe that a decade from now nearly everyadettiat creates or stores data, including deskiddaptop computers, tablets, smartphones,
and digital cameras, will be backed up over therimgt. Online backup is gaining increasing accepgas the best way to store copies of valuable data
off-premise, where they are safe from equipmeftfaj theft, loss, viruses, and accidental deletion

Several trends are helping to fuel the growth efdhline backup industry:

Your life is on your compute€omputers and mobile devices have transformed #yepgople work, communicate, and lead their dagspnal
and professional lives. People store a plethorafofmation on their computers and mobile devidesn photos, music, videos, and school work, to
financial records, correspondence, passwords, Vilegk and tax returns. These files could be peendly destroyed due to equipment failure, theft,
loss, viruses, and accidental deletions. Oftenetfiiéss are accumulated over time and are irrepllalee making their loss devastating for the owner.

The number of data-creating devices is growingagpiToday, there are billions of computers and othectebnics devices worldwide.
According to IDC * an independent research firm, over two billion desj including 146 million desktops, 209 milliont@lesooks, 38 million
netbooks, 303 million smartphones, and 1.4 bilhoobile phones, were shipped in 2010 alone. Thegieeteare becoming increasingly powerful, w
capabilities such as camera, bluetooth, wi-fi, 8ifeo, and high definition, enabling users to aeatd consume high quality multimedia content and
leading to an exponential increase in created tordd content.

Shift to laptop computer$he market shift to laptops continues to accelerateording to IDC, in 2010, 247 million noteboadsd netbooks
were shipped worldwide compared to 146 million deglcomputers. By 2014, notebook and netbook shipsreere projected to be 439 million units
compared to 154 million desktop units, according@. Laptop users need a backup solution that earkywhere and that does not require external
hardware.

Proliferation of broadband connectioriBoday, fixed and mobile broadband connections eadable nearly everywherehomes, offices, hotel
airports, public spaces, coffee shops, and otloatilons. Wireless 3G and 4G networks provide mdiitedband throughout the developed world.
Based on data from the OECD , the percentage eflfboroadband subscribers in the OECD countrieg;iwinclude U.S., Canada, Mexico, Australia,
New Zealand, Korea, Japan and many European cesnltras grown from approximately 2.9% in 2001 terd®b.1% in the first half of 2011, grea
expanding the potential market for online backupe DECD also estimates that as of June 2011, whene approximately 900 million fixed and
mobile broadband subscribers in the OECD countries.

Smartphones and tablets drive demand for anytimgyhere acces3he growing popularity of smartphones, tablet coraps) and other mobile
devices is driving the demand for instant accessftwmation regardless of a user’s location. Adiog to IDC, smartphone and tablet shipments were
expected to grow by 49% and 170%, respectivel20il.

Plummeting storage and bandwidth co3tise cost of providing online backup is highly degent on the cost of storage and bandwidth. The cos
of a gigabyte of capacity-optimized storage haeffalrom approximately $5.35 in 2005 to approxina®9.92 in 2011, a decline of 82.8%, according
to IDC. IDC forecasts a further decline in thesgage costs at a rate of 25% to 30% annually toceqapately $0.28 in 2015. In 2005, the average
wholesale cost of bandwidth was approximately $&5megabits per second (Mbps) as compared to $8lpes in 2010, according to an August 2(
study done by DrPeering International. This studyjgets that the wholesale cost of bandwidth wiitlier decline to approximately $0.94 per Mbp:
2014.

There are multiple alternatives currently availdblebacking up data, such as external hard diskedy flash memory drives, CDs, DVDs, and
tape backup drives. However, these traditionalétives are limited by drive capacity, cumbersamscale, prone to failure, not secure, and not
accessible from a remote location. Traditional heme solutions for storing data have the followfingjtations:

" The IDC information was derived from reports dafdober and December 2010 and March and April 20h#&.OECD information was accessed
on February 24, 2011 www.oecd.org/sti/ict/broadbar.
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Limitation Key Problems
Limited Capacity » Users must select which files to back up

» Cumbersome to add incremental capa

Susceptible to failur » Unable to protect files in the event of equipmeiilufe, theft, loss
viruses, and accidental deletic

Overly complex * Time consuming and labor intensive to manuallyage backup
* Confusing software and proces:

Lack of mobile acces * Do not provide anytime, anywhere access from coepy
smartphones, tablets, and other mobile de\

As a result of theses limitations, consumers an@S#kte increasingly searching for simple, affordadwlutions that provide reliable and secure
online backup and anytime, anywhere access to stmied files. We believe that online backup effety addresses the limitations of traditional
solutions and will be the predominant backup sotutn the future.

Our Solution

We provide online backup solutions for consumers 8kIBs. We believe that our customers buy our smistbecause they are easy to use,
affordable, and secure, and provide anytime, anyevhecess to their stored files. We make it easgudstomers to restore their files and we provide
high quality customer support to those customers mded assistance.

We believe that our solution provides the followlmnefits to all of our customers:

Easy to install and us&Ve offer our customers automatic backup, elimirgatiee need to manually pick and choose which fiesack up.
Installation requires just an email address andwwasi. Once installed, our “set and forget” solutworks continuously in the background backing up
new and changed files.

Easy to restore filesn the event of data loss, our restore wizard guestomers through the process of restoring fifesr. If customers
accidentally delete or overwrite files on their qauters, they can quickly restore them from any cat@pwith an internet connection.

Anytime, anywhere acce®e enable customers to access stored files fror@#nkonite Personal Cloud anytime, anywhere usiwgtabrowse
or one of our free iPad, iPhone, BlackBerry, or Aud apps. Customers can browse their photos, mlasic and videos, and view documents,
spreadsheets and presentations. Unlike traditiemadte desktop applications, we allow our custorteexcess their stored files even if their
computers are turned off, lost, stolen, or destloye

Affordability. We believe that we were one of the first compatoesffer consumers unlimited online backup fornaeé price. Our Carbonite
Home subscription costs $59 for one year, withalists for multi-year plans. Our SMB solutions alfofer an unlimited number of users, with tiered
pricing based on the total amount of data backed up

Security.We encrypt all of our customers’ files before tlag transmitted to our data centers, guarding agaimauthorized access to backed-up
files and ensuring a high level of data securityadldition, we employ state-of-the-art data ceséeurity measures intended to prevent intrusions.

Reliability. Our proprietary Carbonite Communications System@arbonite File System manage our customers’ stidesdand are designed to
ensure high levels of reliability and accessibility
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Our Key Competitive Strengths
We believe that our key competitive strengths idelthe following:

Brand awarenesaVe believe that we have among the highest brandeseas in the online backup market. According toresearch surveys,
our unaided brand awareness is more than one halfl ttmes that of our nearest competitor. Accogdio our customer surveys, 83% of our consumer
customers say that they have recommended Carliorfitends and family. We promote our brand throogh multi-channel marketing program,
which in 2011 included advertising endorsementmf@® national radio talk show personalities. W® &lave a broad presence in television, online
display advertising, print advertising, paid antunal search, and a large affiliate network.

Scale.Since 2005, we have backed up over 180 billiors filmd we currently back up an average of more 38@mnillion files each day. We
believe that our large scale infrastructure, baikr the last six years, enables us to store additifiles at lower incremental cost than our serall
competitors. In addition, we are able to purchag®nal advertising at advantageous rates, acckgstasing opportunities that may be unavailable to
smaller businesses, and take advantage of sophégtianalytical marketing systems.

Optimized backup architectur®ur entire infrastructure is optimized for backugich is a low transaction speed, high volume, evnitostly
application. We believe that our average storagésqeer subscriber are lower than those realizagifigal general purpose data center storage
systems.

Comprehensive customer supp®¥te believe that our U.S.-based customer supponbi® comprehensive than that offered by our primary
competitors in the online backup market and aidsuincustomer retention. We provide free telephtime chat, and email customer support in our
basic subscription fee.

Significant intellectual property portfoli?Ve have a significant intellectual property poitiaielating to our online backup solutions.
CARBONITE and the Carbonite logo are registereddmaarks in the U.S. and in over 30 other countimeduding countries in the European Union.
We have also filed trademark applications for addal marks in the U.S. and other countries, iniclgdBack it up. Get it Back”, “Because Your Life
is On Your Computerthe Carbonite Green Dot logo and Chinese charagpeesentations for Carbonite. In addition, we have issued patent and
pending patent applications that cover both oum@al infrastructure and our key usability andigesoncepts.

Our Offerings

We offer backup solutions to our customers withtemg, anywhere access to their stored files. Wegghaonsumers a flat fee for one year of
unlimited online backup at three different senleeels, each with discounts for multi-year subgaips. We offer SMB customers online backup for
an unlimited number of computers for an annualfiatbased on the total amount of data backed itip the option to purchase additional incremental
storage capacity.
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The following table sets forth key features of @arbonite Home, Carbonite HomePlus, and CarboritméPremier consumer offerings:

Carbonite Home Carbonite HomePlus Carbonite HomePremier
Number of computer One per subscriptio
Supported operating syste| Windows, Mac Windows
Pricing $59/year; unlimited storage| $99/year; unlimited stora $149/year; unlimited storage},
external hard drive backyp external hard drive backup
and restore and restore, automatic
backup for video files,
recoven-by-mail feature

Subscription Perio Annual or mult-year
Customer suppo U.S-based telephone, live chat, and er
Remote file acces Anytime, anywhere using a web browser or our fReliiPhone, Blackberry, or Android ap

The following table sets forth key features of Qarbonite Business and Carbonite BusinessPremi& &férings:

Carbonite Business Carbonite BusinessPremiel
Number of computet Unlimited
Supported operating syste| Windows Windows and Windows Serv
Pricing $229/year; 250 GB of backup storage sg $599/year; 500 GB of backup storage st
Subscription Perio Annual
Customer suppo U.S-based telephone, live chat, and er
Remote file acces Anytime, anywhere using a webrowser or our free iPad, iPhone, Blackberry, odiid apps

We use sophisticated encryption technology to enthe privacy of our customers’ stored files. Wergpt files using a secure key before the
files leave the customer’s computer and transneitetiicrypted files over the internet to one of @ause data centers. Customers’ files remain
encrypted on our servers to guard against unautttbaccess. We employ outside security analysissfimcluding anti-hacking specialists, to review
and test our defenses and internal procedures.

Our Proprietary Server Software

At the core of our offerings is our proprietary\sarsoftware designed specifically for online bgeKiihe server software is comprised of two
major components: the Carbonite CommunicationseBy¢CCS) and the Carbonite File System (CFS). Thesgonents work together to move and
store vast amounts of customer data — an averageeof300 million files every day. CCS moves custoniata between our software installed on our
customers’ computers and CFS running on our stasageers. CCS also balances loads across our sertveork. CFS manages the write-mostly
database of stored files with the flexibility toespte on a wide variety of readily available thiaity storage hardware.

6
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We invest heavily in the development of our tecbgas. In 2011, 2010, and 2009, we spent $16.5aml$10.9 million, and $6.2 million,
respectively, on research and development. Ourrigtapy technologies are fundamental to our valop@sition as they enable us to deliver the
following benefits:

Scalability.We add storage capacity at the rate of approxiyaiet petabyte every two weeks. CCS allows us tonaatically balance
processing and storage capacity across our ladjexganding server network. CFS allows us to easlity storage capacity across multiple physical
locations by automatically integrating new storagevers into our existing infrastructure.

Reliability. We designed CCS and CFS to eliminate all singlatpaif failure. The modular design of these comptmases well-defined
protocols intended to ensure that our customeosédifiles are accurate and free from errors. GfeSigees proprietary disk error detection for errors
that can occur over years of storage. Our softabs® incorporates checks and balances to verify id&tgrity.

Cost effectivenesStorage cost is the biggest component of our dagivenue. CCS enables us to dynamically load lselamong servers to
allow higher overall utilization. CFS enables useduce storage costs by utilizing almost everglblaf physical disk space to store our customers’
files. We can choose the most cost-effective hardwalutions for our data centers because CFS sllsrto operate in a heterogeneous hardware
environment.

Marketing and Sales

Our marketing efforts are focused on three pringgrgls: building brand awareness, acquiring custeraea low cost, and retaining existing
customers. Our advertising reinforces our brandyemay emphasizing ease of use, affordability, ggcueliability, and anytime, anywhere access to
stored files. We use television and radio advewgisonline display advertising, print advertisipgjd search, direct marketing, and affiliate mariget
Our public relations efforts include engaging tteglitional press, new media, and social networks.

Consumer marketingJost of our revenue is from consumers who signarpgfarbonite backup on our website in responseitalivect
marketing campaigns. Direct sales from our website®unted for 96% of our total revenue during 2@dr marketing efforts are designed to attract
prospects to our website and enroll them as pagtiistomers, usually after a 15-day free trial thatoffer to consumers.

SMB marketingOur SMB sales team responds to inbound qualifie®384ds, communicates the benefits of our solutiorike SMB market
and assists our SMB customers to enroll in freg #ersions and purchase subscriptions to our SKBing.

RetentionOur customer retention efforts are focused on éstabg and maintaining long-term relationshipshwtur customers by delivering a
compelling customer experience and superior vaoasmunicating regularly with customers through énmai-site messaging, and other media, and
creating positive interactions with our customeuart team. We monitor developing trends in sulpsiom durations, renewals, and customer
satisfaction to maximize our customer retention. &fer incentives to customers to purchase muléirygibscriptions, which we believe helps to
increase our customer retention. As of Decembef@11, 2010, and 2009, respectively, 30%, 24%,1a8d of our customers had multi-year
subscriptions.

Intellectual Property

We believe that the strength of our brand and ginetfonality of our software help differentiate fasm our competitors. As such, our success
depends upon our ability to protect our technolegied intellectual property, including our propaigtserver software, which allows us to move and
store vast amounts of customer data. To protecinteliectual property, we rely on a combinatiortraidemark, patent, copyright, and trade secret
laws,
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as well as confidentiality procedures and cont@atestrictions. CARBONITE and the Carbonite loge eegistered trademarks in the U.S. and in over
30 other countries, including countries in the F@an Union. We have also filed trademark applicatior additional marks in the U.S. and other
countries, including “Back it up. Get it Back”, “Bause Your Life is On Your Computer”, the Carboi@teeen Dot logo and Chinese character
representations for Carbonite. We have one issaghpcovering the green dots that notify usersttier files have been successfully backed up, 12
patent applications pending, and we are in thega®of filing additional patent applications. Thea@ing applications cover various aspects of der fi
storage software, our remote access software, andser interface.

The steps we have taken may not adequately protecéhtellectual property or prevent unauthorized of our technologies. Others may
independently develop technologies that are coniyetio ours or infringe our intellectual property.addition, costly and time consuming litigation
may be necessary to protect and enforce our intaléproperty rights.

If we become more successful, we believe that ctitope will be more likely to try to develop prodsand services that are similar to ours, and
that may infringe our proprietary rights. It mag@be more likely that competitors or other thiedgtigs will claim that our solutions infringe their
proprietary rights.

Competition
We compete with both online backup providers arabiglers of traditional hardware-based backup systéithe market for online backup
solutions is competitive and rapidly changing. Vifectly compete with Prosoftnet, CrashPlan, Mozditasion of VMWare), Norton Online Backup
(provided by Symantec), McAfee Online Backup, SQfiri@ Backup, and others. Certain of our featuresuding our remote access service, also
compete with current or potential services offdsgdApple, Google, Microsoft, Amazon, and otherstt@ia of our planned features, including the
ability to share data with third parties, will alsompete with current or potential services offdsgdropBox, Mozy, SugarSync, and others. With the
introduction of new technologies and market enant expect competition to intensify in the futuvkany of our actual and potential competitors
enjoy competitive advantages over us, such asegraatne recognition, longer operating historiesiamnaried services, and larger marketing budgets,
as well as greater financial, technical, and othsources. In addition, many of our competitorsehestablished marketing relationships and access to
larger customer bases, and have major distribatipaements with computer manufacturers, internetcgeproviders, and resellers.
We believe that the key competitive factors inechasumer and SMB backup industry include:

+ ease of installation and us

« affordability;

* remote acces:

» storage capacity

» security of custome’ stored files;

* rapid recovery of lost files

» reliability and redundanc

* automated file backup; ar

e reputation of the provide

We believe that we compete favorably with respe@ech of these factors by providing easy to u$erdable, unlimited, secure online backup
solutions with anytime, anywhere access to stafesl. f

Some of our competitors have made or may make sitiguis or enter into partnerships or other striategjationships to offer a more
comprehensive service than we do. These combirsati@y make it more difficult

8
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for us to compete effectively, including on theibaxf price, sales and marketing programs, tectgylor service functionality. We expect these tsend
to continue as companies attempt to strengtheraintain their market positions.

Employees

As of December 31, 2011, we had 342 full-time agart-time employees. Of our full-time employeE36 were in operations and support, 32
were in sales and marketing, 96 were in technolagg,18 were in general and administrative funestiddone of our employees are covered by
collective bargaining agreements.

Available Information

We file reports with the Securities and Exchangen@®dission (“SEC"), including annual reports on FatfiK, quarterly reports on Form 10-Q,
current reports on Form 8-K any other filings reqdiby the SEC. We make available on our websitenwarbonite.com) our annual report on
Form 10-K, quarterly reports on Form 10-Q, curmepiorts on Form 8-K, and all amendments to thogerte as soon as reasonably practicable after
such material is electronically filed with or fushied to the SEC. These materials are availableofrelarge on or through our website via the Inmest
Relations page at www.carbonite.com. Referencesitavebsite address in this report are intenddaktimactive textual references only, and none of
the information contained on our website is parthe$ report or incorporated in this report by refee.

The public may read and copy any materials wevfite the SEC at the SEC’s Public Reference Roofr08tF Street, NE, Washington, DC
20549. The public may obtain information on theragien of the Public Reference Room by calling #t€C at 1-800-SEC-0330. The SEC maintains
an Internet site (http://www.sec.gov) that contaisorts, proxy and information statements, anéroitiformation regarding issuers that file
electronically with the SEC.

ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS

An investment in our common stock involves a hegvek of risk. You should carefully consider tis&sidescribed below and the other
information in this Annual Report on Form 10-K refonaking an investment decision. Our businesspgacts, financial condition, or operating
results could be harmed by any of these risks,edksas other risks not currently known to us ortthee currently consider immaterial. The trading
price of our common stock could decline due toafrthese risks, and, as a result, you may losergbart of your investmen

Risks Related to Our Business

We have experienced losses and negative cash floeesour inception, and we may not be able to acker sustain profitability or positive cash
flow in the future.

We experienced net losses of $19.2 million for 2@2%.8 million for 2010, and $23.5 million for 2DIrespectively, and have an accumulated
deficit of $100.4 million as of December 31, 20Wle have not generally achieved positive cash flamnfour operations or reported net income, and
we do not expect to be profitable for the foreséealiure. We expect to continue making significaxpenditures to develop and expand our business,
including for advertising, customer acquisitiorghteology infrastructure, storage capacity, prodisstelopment, and international expansion, in an
effort to increase and service our customer baiseO11, we incurred increased expenses associdfedelocating our customer service operations
from India to the U.S., which adversely affected operating results for 2011. In 2012, we expeddwotinue to incur increased expenses associated
with the relocation of one of our data centers tew facility. We also expect that our quarterlgulés may fluctuate due to a variety of factors
described elsewhere in this Annual Report on FddAK lincluding the timing and amount of our advartg expenditures, which are seasonal, as well
as the
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timing and amount of expenditures related to theetbgpment of technologies and solutions and tortkfetellectual property infringement and other
claims. In addition, as a public company, we ingignificant legal, accounting and other expensedyding increased costs for director and officer
liability insurance that we did not incur as a ptey company. We may also incur increased lossesegutive cash flow in the future for a number of
reasons, and we may encounter unforeseen expeliffies|ties, complications, delays, and other uakm events. For these reasons, we expect to
continue to record net losses for the next seyeals and we may not be able to achieve or maiptsitive cash flow from operations or profitalyili

Any significant disruption in our service or losg anisuse of our custome’ data could damage our reputation and harm our bosss and
operating results.

Our brand, reputation, and ability to attract, irgtand serve our customers are dependent upaeliable performance of our service and our
customers’ ability to readily access their storiégsf Our customers rely on our online backup serto store digital copies of their valuable détsf
including financial records, business informatiphptos, and other personally meaningful content.data centers are vulnerable to damage or
interruption from human error, intentional bad actsmputer viruses or hackers, earthquakes, hnegdloods, fires, war, terrorist attacks, power
losses, hardware failures, systems failures, tet@wonications failures, and similar events, any bfcl could limit our customers’ ability to access
their files and could prevent us from being abledatinuously back up our customers’ files. Prokhglelays or unforeseen difficulties in connection
with adding storage capacity or upgrading our netvewchitecture when required may cause our seyicdity to suffer. A breach of our network
security and systems could also cause the lossldicisclosure of, or access by third partieota, customers’ stored files. Any event that
significantly disrupts our service or exposes awstomers’ stored files to misuse could damage eputation and harm our business and operating
results, including reducing our revenue, causintpussue credits to customers, subjecting us terpial liability, harming our renewal rates, or
increasing our cost of acquiring new customers.

The market for online backup solutions is compet#i and if we do not compete effectively, our operg results could be harmed.

We compete with both online backup providers amiglers of traditional hardware-based backup syst@he market for online backup
solutions is competitive and rapidly changing. Vifectly compete with Prosoftnet, CrashPlan, Mozditasion of VMWare), Norton Online Backup
(provided by Symantec), McAfee Online Backup, SQfiri@ Backup, and others. Certain of our featuresuding our remote access service, also
compete with current or potential services offdsgdApple, Google, Microsoft, Amazon, and otherstt@ia of our planned features, including the
ability to share data with third parties, also cetepwith current or potential services offered bpfaBox, Mozy, SugarSync, and others. With the
introduction of new technologies and market enrane expect competition to intensify in the futuvkany of our actual and potential competitors
benefit from competitive advantages over us, ssaraater name recognition, longer operating hiesspmore varied services, larger marketing
budgets, established marketing relationships, adeelsirger customer bases, major distributionemgents with computer manufacturers, internet
service providers and resellers, and greater finriechnical, and other resources. Some of ompsgitors may make acquisitions or enter into
strategic relationships to offer a more comprehenservice than we do. These combinations may ntakere difficult for us to compete effectively.
We expect these trends to continue as competitept to strengthen or maintain their market poss.

Demand for our online backup solutions is sensitivprice. Many factors, including our advertisiecgstomer acquisition and technology costs,
and our current and future competitors’ pricing amatketing strategies, can significantly affect pricing strategies. Certain of our competitorenff
or may in the future offer, lower-priced or fre@gucts or services that compete with our soluti®isilarly, certain competitors may use internet-
based marketing strategies that enable them tdraccustomers at a lower cost than us. There camlassurance that we will not be forced to engage
in price-cutting initiatives, or to increase ouwvadising
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and other expenses to attract and retain custamezsponse to competitive pressures, either oflwbould have a material adverse effect on our
revenue and operating results.

Our limited operating history makes it difficult tevaluate our current business and future prospects

We have been in existence since 2005, and our uevieas grown rapidly from $8.2 million in 2008 ®0$ million in 2011, representing a
compound annual growth rate of 95% over that peide do not expect that this growth rate will cang in future periods and you should not rely on
the revenue growth of any prior quarterly or anmeiods as an indication of our future performamceddition, because we recognize revenue from
customers over the terms of their subscriptiodarge portion of our revenue for each quarter otfleleferred revenue from subscriptions entered int
during previous quarters, and downturns or upturrsaibscription sales or renewals may not be reftein our operating results until later periodse W
may not achieve sufficient revenue to achieve antaa positive cash flow from operations or praffitlity, and our limited operating history may
make it difficult for you to evaluate our currentdiness and our future prospects. We have enceaahserd will continue to encounter risks and
difficulties frequently experienced by growing coamies in rapidly changing industries, includingreasing expenses as we continue to grow our
business. If we do not manage these risks sucdlgssfur business will be harmed. If our future wgib fails to meet investor or analyst expectatidgns,
could have a negative effect on our stock priceutfgrowth rate were to decline significantly @cbme negative, it could adversely affect our
financial condition and operating results.

A decline in demand for our solutions or for onlinkackup solutions in general could cause our revenio decline

We derive, and expect to continue to derive, suibisily all of our revenue from the sale of ourioelbackup solutions, a relatively new and
rapidly changing market. As a result, widespreaztptance and use of online backup solutions igafito our future growth and success. If the mt
for online backup solutions fails to grow or gromsre slowly than we currently anticipate, demandoiar solutions could be negatively affected.

Changes in customer preferences for online bactlupiens may have a disproportionately greater ichpa us than if we offered multiple
products and services. The market for online badalptions is subject to rapidly changing custodemand and trends in preferences. Some of the
potential factors that could affect interest in @etnand for online backup solutions include:

» awareness of our brand and the online backup sokitategory generall

» the appeal and reliability of our solutiot

» the price, performance, features, and availabiitproducts and services that compete with c
* public concern regarding privacy and data secu

» our ability to maintain high levels of customeristaction; anc

» the rate of growth in online solutions genere

In addition, substantially all of our revenue isremtly derived from customers in the U.S. Consetjyea decrease of interest in and demand for
online backup solutions in the U.S. could havespidiportionately greater impact on us than if eographic mix of revenue was less concentrated.

If we are unable to attract new customers to oulfig@®ns on a cos-effective basis, our revenue and operating reswitsuld be adversely affected.

We generate substantially all of our revenue frbendale of subscriptions to our solutions. In otdegrow, we must continue to attract a large
number of customers on a cost-effective basis, nedmyhom have not previously used online backuptsmhs. We use and periodically adjust a
diverse mix of advertising and
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marketing programs to promote our solutions. Sigaift increases in the pricing of one or more afamvertising channels would increase our
advertising costs or cause us to choose less expearsd perhaps less effective channels. As wa@dd change the mix of our advertising and
marketing strategies, we may need to expand irdaméls with significantly higher costs than ourrent programs, which could adversely affect our
operating results. Currently, we rely significanthy advertising endorsements by certain radio patg@s. The loss of one or more of these
endorsement arrangements or our inability to otadufitional effective endorsements could advera#fsct our advertising and customer acquisition
efforts and our operating results. We may incureatising and marketing expenses significantly imaate of the time we anticipate recognizing any
revenue generated by such expenses, and we magtamlater date, or never, experience an incrieagenue or brand awareness as a result of such
expenditures. We have made in the past, and mag imake future, significant investments to testelvertising, and there can be no assurance that
any such investments will lead to the cost-effectiequisition of additional customers. If we arakle to maintain effective advertising programs, ou
ability to attract new customers could be adveraéfigcted, our advertising and marketing expensesddncrease substantially, and our operating
results may suffer.

A portion of our potential customers locate our sitshthrough search engines, such as Google, Bimdy)Yahoo!. Our ability to maintain the
number of visitors directed to our website is nairely within our control. If search engine compnmodify their search algorithms in a manner that
reduces the prominence of our listing, or if oumpetitors’ search engine optimization efforts a@ensuccessful than ours, fewer potential customers
may click through to our website. In addition, st of purchased listings has increased in thegresmay increase in the future. A decrease in
website traffic or an increase in search costsccadlersely affect our customer acquisition effartd our operating results.

A significant portion of our customers first tryroonline backup solutions through free trials. Véelsto convert these free trial users to paying
customers of our solutions. If our rate of convamssuffers for any reason, our revenue may deelivteour business may suffer.

If we are unable to retain our existing customei®yr revenue and operating results would be adveyssfected.

If our efforts to satisfy our existing customere apt successful, we may not be able to retain tlagch as a result, our revenue and ability to
grow would be adversely affected. We may not be &bhccurately predict future trends in custoreeewals. Customers choose not to renew their
subscriptions for many reasons, including if custoservice issues are not satisfactorily resolaatksire to reduce discretionary spending, or a
perception that they do not use the service sefiity, the service is a poor value, or that contipetiservices provide a better value or experietice.
our customer retention rate decreases, we maytoeredrease the rate at which we add new custoimengler to maintain and grow our revenue,
which may require us to incur significantly higleetvertising and marketing expenses than we cuyranticipate, or our revenue may decline. A
significant decrease in our customer retentionwateld therefore have an adverse effect on oumlegsj financial condition, and operating results.

If we are unable to develop additional solutions fmobile devices, or if users of these devices dowidely adopt our solutions, our business col
be adversely affected.

The number of people who access the internet throlegices other than personal computers, includingile telephones, personal digital
assistants, smartphones, and handheld tabletsrgruters, has increased dramatically in the pastylsaws and is projected to continue to increase. In
addition, people are increasingly using their mohbliévices to create and store data and other ddhtris important to them. We have not launched
any version of our service that will back up ddtaed on these devices. If one or more of our cditgps were to launch such a service, or if we were
to be unsuccessful in an attempt to launch su@mnace, our competitive position could be mateyidldrmed. As new devices and new platforms are
continually
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being released, it is difficult to predict the plerdas we may encounter in developing versions ofsolutions for use on these mobile devices, and we
may need to devote significant resources to thatiome, support, and maintenance of such servicbkighacould adversely affect our operating results.

If we are unable to expand our base of SMB custosiesur business could be adversely affect

In 2010, we introduced the first version of our kgt solution targeted toward SMBs, which are gdhecampanies that are too small to have a
dedicated imouse IT staff. We are committing substantial resesito the expansion and increased marketingrasbIB offerings. If we are unable
market and sell our solutions to SMBs with compegipricing and in a cost-effective manner, outighio grow our revenue and achieve profitability
will be harmed. We expect it will be more difficalbd expensive to attract and retain SMB custothenrs consumers, because SMBs:

* may have different or much more complex needs thase of individual consumers, such as archivirgsien control, enhanced secul
requirements and other forms of encryption andenttbation, which our solutions may not adequadelgiress

» frequently cease operations due to the sale aréadf their business; ar
« are difficult to reach without using more expensiaggeted sales campaig

In addition, SMBs frequently have limited budgetsl @re more likely to be significantly affected diyonomic downturns than larger, more
established companies. As a result, they may chimosgend funds on items other than our solutipagjcularly during difficult economic times. If we
are unsuccessful in meeting the needs of poteBli8 customers, it could adversely affect our futgrewth and operating results.

If we are unable to improve market recognition ofd loyalty to our brand, or if our reputation wer® be harmed, we could lose customers or
to increase the number of our customers, which adbiarm our revenue, operating results, and finantizondition.

Given our consumer and SMB market focus, maintgimind enhancing the Carbonite brand is criticalllosuccess. We believe that the
importance of brand recognition and loyalty wiltiease in light of increasing competition in ourkeds. We plan to continue investing substantial
resources to promote our brand, both domesticalliyimternationally, but there is no guarantee theitbrand development strategies will enhance the
recognition of our brand. Some of our existing potential competitors have well-established bramitls greater recognition than we have. If our
efforts to promote and maintain our brand are notassful, our operating results and our abilitattoact and retain customers may be adversely
affected. In addition, even if our brand recogmitand loyalty increases, this may not result iméased use of our solutions or higher revenue.

Our offerings, as well as those of our competitars,regularly reviewed in computer and businesdigations. Negative reviews, or reviews in
which our competitors’ products and services aredranore highly than our solutions, could negayivafect our brand and reputation. From time-to-
time, our customers express dissatisfaction withsolutions, including, among other things, disfatition with our customer support, our billing
policies, our handling of personal data, and thg & solutions operate. If we do not handle custocomplaints effectively, our brand and reputation
may suffer, we may lose our customers’ confideaod, they may choose not to renew their subscrigtionaddition, many of our customers
participate in online blogs about computers aneritét services, including our solutions, and oacess depends in part on our ability to generate
positive customer feedback through such online calsnwvhere consumers seek and share informatiaatitins we take or changes we make to our
solutions upset these customers, their blogginddooegatively affect our brand and reputation. Claimps or negative publicity about our solutions or
billing practices could adversely impact our apitib attract and retain customers and our busitiiess)cial condition, and operating results.
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The termination of our relationship with any majoeredit card company would have a severe, negatimpdct on our ability to collect revenue from
customers. Increases in credit card processing feesild increase our operating expenses and adversélect our operating results.

Substantially all of our customers purchase ouwtgmis online with credit cards, and our businessethds upon our ability to offer credit card
payment options. The termination of our abilityptmcess payments on any major credit card woulkifggntly impair our ability to operate our
business and significantly increase our adminisgatosts related to customer payment procesdinge fail to maintain our compliance with the data
protection and documentation standards adoptetebyngjor credit card issuers and applicable tohese issuers could terminate their agreements
with us, and we could lose our ability to offer @uistomers a credit card payment option. If thesedrs increase their credit card processing fees
because we experience excessive chargebacks ndsedu for other reasons, it could adversely aféectbusiness and operating results.

Any significant disruption in service on our webseg or in our computer systems could damage our ttegion and result in a loss of customel
which would harm our business and operating results

Our brand, reputation, and ability to attract, irend serve our customers are dependent uporlibble performance of our websites, network
infrastructure and payment systems, and our custrakility to readily access their stored filese\Wave experienced interruptions in these systams i
the past, including server failures that tempoyasibwed down our websites’ performance and outocusrs’ ability to access their stored files, or
made our websites and infrastructure inaccessiblg we may experience interruptions in the futlmrruptions in these systems, whether due to
system failures, computer viruses, physical ortedec break-ins, or other factors, could affee gecurity or availability of our websites and
infrastructure and prevent us from being able taticoiously back up our customers’ data or our ausis from accessing their data. In addition,
prolonged delays or unforeseen difficulties in caetion with adding storage capacity or upgradingraiwork architecture when required may cause
our service quality to suffer. While we believetttigere are alternative suppliers who could meeneeds, we currently depend primarily on one
provider of disk storage systems for our data genfroblems with the reliability or security ofr@ystems could harm our reputation. Damage to our
reputation and the cost of remedying these problmukl negatively affect our business, financialditon, and operating results.

Our systems provide redundancy at the disk leweldb not keep separate, redundant copies of bagkedstomer files. Instead, we rely on the
fact that our customers, in effect, back up outesysby maintaining the primary instance of thdiedi We do not intend to create redundant backup
sites for our solutions. As such, a total failuf@or systems, or the failure of any of our systecasild result in the loss of or a temporary inépto
back up our customers’ data and result in our costs being unable to access their stored filesnédf of our data centers fails at the same timediat
customerstomputers fail, we would be unable to provide bdake copies of their data. If this were to occun, eputation could be compromised
we could be subject to liability to the customérattwere affected.

Our data centers are vulnerable to damage or uggon from human error, intentional bad acts, ganids, earthquakes, hurricanes, floods, 1
war, terrorist attacks, power losses, hardwarerfd, systems failures, telecommunications failuaed similar events. As all of our data faciliteee
located in a single metropolitan area, we may beersasceptible to the risk that a single eventdasignificantly harm the operations of these
facilities. The occurrence of a natural disastewyer failure or an act of terrorism, vandalism tites misconduct, a decision to close the facilities
without adequate notice, or other unanticipatedbleros could result in lengthy interruptions in gervices. The occurrence of any of the foregoing
events could damage our systems and hardware tor cause them to fail completely, and our insurames not cover such events or may be
insufficient to compensate us for the potentiaigngicant losses, including the potential harnite future growth of our business, that may refsaih
interruptions in our service as a result of systaires.
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We depend on data centers operated by third pardied any disruption in the operation of these fatis could adversely affect our business.

We host our services and serve all of our custorfinens our network servers, which are located iradagnter facilities operated by third parties.
While we control and have access to our serversalimd the components of our network that are fedan our external data centers, we do not control
the operation of these facilities. Our data celg@ses expire at various times between August a0@i3January 2016, and a separate data centerd
arrangement is cancellable by us upon 120 daysendfhe owners of our data center facilities havelligation to renew their agreements with us on
commercially reasonable terms, or at all. If wewamable to renew these agreements on commerc&bonable terms, we may be required to transfer
our servers to new data center facilities, and \ag mcur significant costs and possible servicerimiption in connection with doing so. During the
first half of 2012, we intend to relocate our equént and operations from our Boston, Massachudatsscenter to one of our other data centers and tc
discontinue the use of our Boston, Massachusetssaggater. We will incur moving and other costsamnection with this transition. Any operational
difficulties or disruptions we experience in conti@t with this transition could adversely affectr saputation and operating results.

Problems faced by our third-party data center lonat with the telecommunications network provideith whom we or they contract, or with
the systems by which our telecommunications pragiddocate capacity among their customers, inolgidis, could adversely affect the experience of
our customers. Our third-party data centers opesatould decide to close their facilities withodeguate notice. In addition, any financial diffides,
such as bankruptcy, faced by our third-party dat&ters operators or any of the service providetls whom we or they contract may have negative
effects on our business, the nature and extenhafhware difficult to predict. Additionally, if ouwtata centers are unable to keep up with our grpwin
needs for capacity, this could have an adversetedfe our business. Any changes in third-partyiserlevels at our data centers or any errors, tiefec
disruptions, or other performance problems withsrmwices could harm our reputation and may daroageustomers’ stored files. Interruptions in
our services might reduce our revenue, cause igsue refunds to customers, subject us to potdiafility, or harm our renewal rates.

If the security of our customer’ confidential information stored in our systems ksreached or their stored files are otherwise sudigsl to
unauthorized access, our reputation and businessyrba harmed, and we may be exposed to liability.

Our customers rely on our online system to stogéalicopies of their files, including financialogrds, business information, photos, and other
personally meaningful content. We also store creaitl information and other personal informationwttour customers. A breach of our network
security and systems or other events that caudesher public disclosure of, or access by thadips to, our customers’ stored files could have
serious negative consequences for our businedsding possible fines, penalties and damages, sxtidemand for our solutions, an unwillingness of
customers to provide us with their credit card ayrpent information, an unwillingness of our custosrte use our solutions, harm to our reputation
and brand, loss of our ability to accept and precestomer credit card orders, and time-consumiigeapensive litigation. Third parties may be able
to circumvent our security by deploying virusesyms, and other malicious software programs thatlasiggned to attack or attempt to infiltrate our
systems and networks and we may not immediatebodes these attacks or attempted infiltrationsthan outside parties may attempt to fraudulently
induce our employees, consultants, or affiliatedisolose sensitive information in order to gainess to our information or our customers’
information. The techniques used to obtain unaigkdraccess, disable or degrade service, or sabeyagems change frequently, often are not
recognized until launched against a target, and oniggnate from less regulated or remote areasratdiie world. As a result, we may be unable to
proactively address these techniques or to impléaeequate preventative or reactionary measuresldition, employee or consultant error,
malfeasance, or other errors in the storage, ugearsmission of personal information could result breach of customer or employee privacy. We
maintain insurance coverage to mitigate the paéfitiancial impact of these risks; however, owsurance may not cover all such events or may be
insufficient to compensate
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us for the potentially significant losses, incluglithe potential damage to the future growth oflmusiness, that may result from the breach of custom
or employee privacy.

Many states have enacted laws requiring compaaiasetify individuals of data security breaches iwirtg their personal data. These mandatory
disclosures regarding a security breach often feaddespread negative publicity, which may causeaustomers to lose confidence in the
effectiveness of our data security measures. Aoyritg breach, whether successful or not, wouldrhaur reputation and could cause the loss of
customers. Similarly, if a well-publicized breadhdata security at any other online backup serpiowider or other major consumer website were to
occur, there could be a general public loss ofidenfce in the use of the internet for online backegvices or commercial transactions generally. Any
of these events could have material adverse eftectair business, financial condition, and opegatesults.

We process, store and use personal information atider data, which subjects us to governmental regfidn and other legal obligations related to
privacy, and our actual or perceived failure to cpiy with such obligations could harm our busines

We receive, store, and process personal informatiohother customer data. There are numerous fedtte, local, and foreign laws regarding
privacy and the storing, sharing, use, processiisglosure and protection of personal informatiod ather customer data, the scope of which are
changing, subject to differing interpretations, amaly be inconsistent among countries or conflithwiher rules. We generally seek to comply with
industry standards and are subject to the ternesioprivacy policies and privacy-related obligasdo third parties. We strive to comply with all
applicable laws, policies, legal obligations andustry codes of conduct relating to privacy andgabtection to the extent possible. However, it is
possible that these obligations may be interpratetiapplied in a manner that is inconsistent from jorisdiction to another and may conflict with
other rules or our practices. Any failure or peveifailure by us to comply with our privacy poési our privacy-related obligations to customers or
other third parties, or our privacy-related ledaligations, or any compromise of security that hssim the unauthorized release or transfer of
personally identifiable information or other cus&malata, may result in governmental enforcemembrt litigation, or public statements against y:
consumer advocacy groups or others and could a@awussustomers to lose trust in us, which could revadverse effect on our reputation and
business. Our customers may also accidentallyatisdheir passwords or store them on a mobile devidch is lost or stolen, creating the perception
that our systems are not secure against third padgss. Additionally, if third parties we work isuch as vendors or developers, violate appkcabl
laws or our policies, such violations may also @ut customers’ information at risk and could imtliave an adverse effect on our business. Any
significant change to applicable laws, regulationsdustry practices regarding the use or discksii our customersiata, or regarding the mannet
which the express or implied consent of customarshfe use and disclosure of such data is obtagwdd require us to modify our services and
features, possibly in a material manner, and rmmait bur ability to develop new services and feadureat make use of the data that our customers
voluntarily share with us.

We may not be able to respond to rapid technolog@eanges with new solutions, which could have ater@al adverse effect on our operating
results.

The online backup market is characterized by régitinological change and frequent new product endce introductions. Our ability to attre
new customers and increase revenue from existisgers will depend in large part on our abilityetdhance and improve our existing solutions,
introduce new features and products and sell iate markets. Customers may require features andiiiea that our current solutions do not have.
Our failure to develop solutions that satisfy casto preferences in a timely and cost-effective neammay harm our ability to renew our subscriptions
with existing customers and create or increase ddrfa our solutions, and may adversely impactaperating results.

The introduction of new services by competitorsher development of entirely new technologies tdaegp existing offerings could make our
solutions obsolete or adversely affect our busiaessoperating results. In
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addition, any new markets or countries into whighattempt to sell our solutions may not be recepiVe may experience difficulties with software
development, design, or marketing that could delagrevent our development, introduction, or impdatation of new solutions and enhancements.
We have in the past experienced delays in the pthnglease dates of new features and upgradebasedliscovered defects in new solutions after
their introduction. There can be no assurancertbatsolutions or upgrades will be released accgrttirschedule, or that when released they will not
contain defects. Either of these situations coeddilt in adverse publicity, loss of revenue, détemarket acceptance, or claims by customers bitough
against us, all of which could have a material aslweffect on our reputation, business, operagsglts, and financial condition. Moreover, upgrades
and enhancements to our solutions may require auifstinvestment and we have no assurance thhtisuestments will be successful. If customers
do not widely adopt enhancements to our solutiasesiay not be able to realize a return on our iimwest. If we are unable to develop, license, or
acquire enhancements to our existing solutions timely and cost-effective basis, or if such enlegmnents do not achieve market acceptance, our
business, operating results, and financial comtitn@y be adversely affected.

Our quarterly operating results have fluctuated the past and may continue to do so in the futures &result, we may fail to meet or exceed the
expectations of research analysts or investors, ebhiould cause our stock price to decline.

Our quarterly operating results may fluctuate assalt of a variety of factors, many of which atgside of our control. If our quarterly operati
results or guidance fall below the expectationseskarch analysts or investors, the price of ommgon stock could decline substantially. The
following factors, among others, could cause flatitns in our quarterly operating results or guan

* our ability to attract new customers and retairstxg customers

» our ability to accurately forecast revenue and appately plan our expense

e our ability to introduce new solution

» the actions of our competitors, including pricirganges or the introduction of new produ
» our ability to effectively manage our grow

* the mix of annual and mu-year subscriptions at any given tin

» seasonal variations or other cyclicality in the dewhfor our solutions, including the purchasing bodgeting cycles of our SMB
customers

» the timing and cost of advertising and marketirfors;

» the timing and cost of developing or acquiring tembgies, services, or business

» the timing, operating cost, and capital expendgustated to the operation, maintenance, and eigan$our business

* service outages or security breaches and any delatgact on our reputatiol

» our ability to successfully manage any future asijons of businesses, solutions, or technolog

« the impact of worldwide economic, industry, and keaiconditions and those conditions specific terinét usage and online busines:
» costs associated with defending intellectual prigpiefringement and other claims; a

« changes in government regulation affecting ourriess.

We believe that our quarterly revenue and operagsglts may vary significantly in the future ahdttperiod-to-period comparisons of our
operating results may not be meaningful. You showoldrely on the results of one quarter as an atdio of future performance.
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Seasonal variations in our business may also daugaations in our financial results. For example, generally spend more on advertising
during the first and third quarters of each yeaapitalize on lower advertising rates in theseégosrand increased sales of devices that crea®
data during post-holiday and back to school perauour bookings tend to be higher in these peridthile we believe that these seasonal trends
have affected and will continue to affect our gedytresults, our trajectory of rapid growth maywéavershadowed these effects to date. We believe
that our business may become more seasonal intinefas our growth rate slows, and that such sehsariations in advertising expenditures and
customer purchasing patterns may result in fluadaatin our financial results.

Growth may place significant demands on our managathand our infrastructure.

We have experienced substantial growth in our mssinThis growth has placed and may continue te@@nificant demands on our
management and our operational and financial itrfxesire. As our operations grow in size, scopd, @mplexity, we will need to improve and
upgrade our systems and infrastructure to attsactjice, and retain an increasing number of custariidie expansion of our systems and infrastru
will require us to commit substantial financial epational, and technical resources in advance ai@ease in the volume of business, with no
assurance that the volume of business will increfsg such additional capital investments will iease our cost base. Continued growth could also
strain our ability to maintain reliable service éévfor our customers, develop and improve our atpmral, financial and management controls, enh
our reporting systems and procedures, and retraiit, and retain highly skilled personnel. If veél to achieve the necessary level of efficiencpum
organization as we grow, our business, operatigglt® and financial condition could be harmed.

We may expand by acquiring or investing in othemapanies, which may divert our management’s attentioesult in additional dilution to our
stockholders, and consume resources that are nemgst® sustain our busines:

We may in the future acquire complementary prodsesrices, technologies, or businesses. For exanmplune 2011, we acquired substant
all of the assets of Phanfare, Inc., a privateligipeovider of photo sharing services, for approxiety $2 million in cash and the assumption ofaiart
liabilities. We also may enter into relationshipishather businesses to expand our portfolio ofisahs or our ability to provide our solutions in
foreign jurisdictions, which could involve prefedrer exclusive licenses, additional channels dfithistion, discount pricing, or investments in athe
companies. We do not have experience with intaggatnd managing acquired businesses or assetstiftegpthese transactions can be time-
consuming, difficult and expensive, and our abitdycomplete these transactions may often be sttg@onditions or approvals that are beyond our
control. Consequently, these transactions, evaendertaken and announced, may not close.

An acquisition, investment, or new business reteiop may result in unforeseen operating diffi@dtand expenditures. In particular, we may
encounter difficulties assimilating or integratithge businesses, technologies, products, persaomaberations of acquired companies, particuldrly i
the key personnel of the acquired company choostmneork for us, the company’s software is notilgeedapted to be compatible with ours, or we
have difficulty retaining the customers of any doeg business due to changes in management omasieerAcquisitions may also disrupt our busin
divert our resources, and require significant manaent attention that would otherwise be availabidtie development of our business. Moreover, the
anticipated benefits of any acquisition, investmentbusiness relationship may not be realizedemay be exposed to unknown liabilities, including
litigation against the companies we may acquire.di@ or more of those transactions, we may:

* issue additional equity securities that would @ilatr stockholder:
» use cash that we may need in the future to opetatbusiness
* incur debt on terms unfavorable to us or that veewsrable to repay or that may place burdensomeatésts on our operation
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» incur large charges or substantial liabilities

* become subject to adverse tax consequences, dastiksdepreciation, deferred compensation orraglequisition-related accounting
charges

Any of these risks could harm our business andatjey results.

The loss of one or more of our key personnel, orr dailure to attract, integrate, and retain otherighly qualified personnel, could harm our
business.

We depend on the continued service and performainger key personnel, including David Friend, ove$tdent and Chief Executive Officer,
and Jeffry Flowers, our Chief Architect. We do hate long-term employment agreements with any obdficers or key employees. In addition,
many of our key technologies and systems are custade for our business by our personnel. The loksypersonnel, including key members of
management team, as well as certain of our key etiack sales, product development, or technologggel, could disrupt our operations and have
an adverse effect on our ability to grow our busién addition, several of our key personnel tavg recently been employed by us, and we are still
in the process of integrating these personnelontooperations. Our failure to successfully intégthese key employees into our business could
adversely affect our business.

To execute our growth plan, we must attract araimétighly qualified personnel. Competition for $eeemployees is intense, and we may not be
successful in attracting and retaining qualifiedspanel. We have from time to time in the past eéepeed, and we expect to continue to experience,
difficulty in hiring and retaining highly skilledneployees with appropriate qualifications. New hireguire significant training and, in most casaket
significant time before they achieve full produdtiv Our recent hires and planned hires may nobbrexas productive as we expect, and we may be
unable to hire or retain sufficient numbers of ¢iea individuals. Many of the companies with whiale compete for experienced personnel have
greater resources than we have. In addition, inimyagmployment decisions, particularly in the intetrand high-technology industries, job candidates
often consider the value of the stock options #eyto receive in connection with their employmémiaddition, employees may be more likely to
leave us if the shares they own or the shares Iyiigtheir vested options have significantly appa¢ed in value relative to the original purchase
prices of the shares or the exercise prices obfitiens, or if the exercise prices of the optidret they hold are significantly above the markétepof
our common stock. If we fail to attract new persanor fail to retain and motivate our current pensel, our business and growth prospects could be
severely harmed.

Our corporate culture has contributed to our sucegsnd if we cannot maintain this culture as we gvpwe could lose the innovation, creativity,
and teamwork fostered by our culture, and our buess may be harmed.

We believe that our corporate culture has beeryaéetributor to our success. If we do not contitmidevelop our corporate culture as we grow
and evolve, including maintaining our culture @frtsparency with our employees, it could harm otlityko foster the innovation, creativity, and
teamwork we believe that we need to support ouwvtiroAs our organization grows and we are requiceithplement more complex organizational
structures, we may find it increasingly difficutt inaintain the beneficial aspects of our corpocatiure, which could negatively impact our future
success. In addition, our recently completed ihtigblic offering could create disparities of wéatmong our employees, which could adversely
impact relations among employees and our corpardtare in general.

Our operating results may be harmed if we are reepai to collect sales or other related taxes for aubscription services in jurisdictions where we

have not historically done so.

We do not believe that we are required to collatgs use, or other similar taxes from our custsimrdowever, one or more states or countries
may seek to impose sales, use, or other tax ciolfeobligations on us,
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including for past sales by us or our resellers@thér partners. A successful assertion by a statetry, or other jurisdiction that we should have
should be collecting sales, use, or other taxesuorservices could, among other things, resultlystgantial tax liabilities for past sales, create
significant administrative burdens for us, discg&raustomers from purchasing our services, or wikerharm our business and operating results.

Our ability to use net operating losses to offseture taxable income may be subject to certain liations.

As of December 31, 2011, we had federal, statef@mign net operating loss carryforwards, or NO&fs$89.0 million, $83.9 million and $1.0
million, respectively, available to offset futusexaible income, which expire in various years thto2@32 if not utilized. A lack of future taxable
income would adversely affect our ability to utdithese NOLs before they expire. Under the pronsif the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as
amended, or the Internal Revenue Code, substahtages in our ownership may limit the amount efgrange NOLs that can be utilized annually in
the future to offset taxable income. Section 38theflnternal Revenue Code, or Section 382, implisdtations on a companyg’ability to use NOLs
a company experiences a more-than-50-percent ohipersange over a three-year testing period. Wpeed an analysis of our changes in
ownership through December 31, 2011 and have adjustr NOLs as of that date to reflect the usagé#dtions, calculated in accordance with
Section 382, resulting from such changes in owngrshadditional changes in our ownership occuthia future, our ability to use NOLs may be
further limited. For these reasons, we may notlde #® utilize a material portion of the NOLs, evewe achieve profitability. If we are limited iour
ability to use our NOLs in future years in which have taxable income, we will pay more taxes tiaveiwere able to fully utilize our NOLs. This
could adversely affect our operating results amdntiarket price of our common stock.

Any expenses or liability resulting from litigatiooould adversely affect our operating results aridgncial condition.

From time to time, we may be subject to claimstagdtion, including intellectual property litigath as described elsewhere in this Annual Re
on Form 10-K. Any such claims or litigation maytirae-consuming and costly, divert management resouregsijre us to change our services, rec
us to refund subscription fees, or have other adveffects on our business. Any of the foregoingctbave a material adverse effect on our operating
results and could require us to pay significant etary damages. In addition, we receive and mupbreson a periodic basis to subpoenas from law
enforcement agencies seeking copies of a customiatasstored on our servers in connection with ic@finvestigations. While we have in place a
procedure to respond to such subpoenas, any failuceir part to properly respond to such subpoegaests could expose us to litigation or other
proceedings and adversely affect our businessydinhcondition, and operating results.

Our success depends on our customers’ continuechksgeed access to the internet and the continudibdity of the internet infrastructure.

Our business depends on our customers’ high-speessito the internet, as well as the continuedtersance and development of the internet
infrastructure. The future delivery of our solutsonill depend on third party internet service pd®rs to expand highpeed internet access, to main
a reliable network with the necessary speed, dgiadity and security, and to develop complemergesgucts and services, including high-speed
modems, for providing reliable and timely interaetess and services. All of these factors are fomtirocontrol. To the extent that the internet
continues to experience an increased number o usequency of use, or bandwidth requirementsiriteznet may become congested and be una
support the demands placed on it, and its perfocean reliability may decline. Any internet outagegelays could adversely affect our ability to
provide services to our customers.
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Our business may be significantly impacted by a nbe in the economy, including any resulting effemh consumer spending.

Our business may be affected by changes in theoempgenerally, including any resulting effect omsomer spending. Our services are
discretionary purchases, and our customers mayeeitheir discretionary spending on our servicegnduan economic downturn. Although we have
not yet experienced a material reduction in supson renewals, we may experience such a redustitime future, especially in the event of a
prolonged recessionary period. Conversely, med@@gmay increase in a period of economic growtkickvcould significantly increase our market
and advertising expenses. As a result, our busifieasicial condition, and operating results maysimmificantly affected by changes in the economy
generally.

We face many risks associated with our plans toaxg internationally, which could harm our businesfinancial condition, and operating results.

We anticipate that our efforts to expand internaity will entail the marketing and advertisingafr services and brand and the development of
localized websites. We do not have substantial iempee in selling our solutions in internationalrkegts or in conforming to the local cultures,
standards, or policies necessary to successfuthpete in those markets, and we must invest sigmificesources in order to do so. We may not
succeed in these efforts or achieve our custonrisiion or other goals. For some internationatkats, customer preferences and buying behaviors
may be different, and we may use business or gricindels that are different from our traditionabseription model to provide online backup and
related services to customers. Our revenue fromfoezign markets may not exceed the costs of @stabd), marketing, and maintaining our
international offerings, and therefore may not befifable on a sustained basis, if at all.

In addition, conducting international operationbjeats us to new risks that we have not generatted in the U.S. These risks include:

» localization of our solutions, including translatimto foreign languages and adaptation for locattices and regulatory requiremer
» lack of experience in other geographic mark
» strong local competitor:

» cost and burden of complying with, lack of familigmith, and unexpected changes in foreign legal egulatory requirements, includi
consumer and data privacy lav

« difficulties in managing and staffing internatiorgderations
» fluctuations in currency exchange rates or resbriston foreign currency

» potentially adverse tax consequences, includingtimeplexities of transfer pricing, foreign valuedad or other tax systems, double
taxation and restrictions and/or taxes on the regten of earnings

» dependence on third parties, including channehpastwith whom we do not have extensive experie

« compliance with the Foreign Corrupt Practices &cpnomic sanction laws and regulations, exportrotsjtand other U.S. laws and
regulations regarding international business ojmarst

* increased financial accounting and reporting busdamd complexities
» political, social, and economic instability abrogetrorist attacks, and security concerns in génanal
» reduced or varied protection for intellectual pnapeights in some countrie

Operating in international markets also requirggaificant management attention and financial resestrThe investment and additional resot
required to establish operations and manage grimmdgther countries may not produce desired leveiswenue or profitability.
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Our software contains encryption technologies aierlypes of which are subject to U.S. and foreigport control regulations and, in some
foreign countries, restrictions on importation amdise. Any failure on our part to comply with grion or other applicable export control
requirements could result in financial penaltiesthrer sanctions under the U.S. export regulatimedding restrictions on future export activities
which could harm our business and operating redr#égulatory restrictions could impair our accestethnologies that we seek for improving our
solutions and may also limit or reduce the demanair solutions outside of the U.S.

We may not be able to maintain control of our busss in China.

The government of the People’s Republic of Chim&RC, restricts foreign investment in internet antine advertising businesses.
Accordingly, we operate our online backup busiriesghina through an affiliated entity in China owingy an individual designated by us who is a
PRC citizen. We have entered into contractual gearents with our affiliated entity and its indivalistockholder that are intended to protect our
technologies and business. We have loaned funithe tdesignated individual in order to enable thvidual to form the affiliated entity and obtain
any necessary licenses, including an Internet @omeovider (ICP) license, which was recently gearivy the PRC government, and we expect to
continue to loan funds to the designated individuahe future. All loans are, and will continuelte, secured by the capital stock of the affiliatatlty
and the designated individual stockholder has gthns the contractual right to exercise his rigistshe sole stockholder of the affiliated entity.

We cannot assure you, however, that we will be ttbEnforce these contracts. We have no equity cshiinterest in the affiliated entity and
we rely on contractual arrangements with the eatitgf the designated individual stockholder to aidrind operate the entity. These contractual
arrangements may not be as effective in providogrol over the affiliated entity as direct ownapshor example, the entity could fail to take ans
required for, or beneficial to, our business of tiaimaintain our websites despite its contractimigations to do so. In addition, we cannot asyore
that the individual shareholder of the affiliatedity will always act in our best interests. If timelividual stockholder of our affiliated entityifato
perform his obligations under the respective agesgmwith us, we may need to engage in litigatio€fina to enforce our rights, which may be time-
consuming and costly, divert management resouotdsve other adverse effects on our businesswanday not be successful in enforcing our
rights.

Enforcing agreements and laws in China is difficuidtnd may be impossible because China does not lzavemprehensive system of lav

In China, enforcement of contractual agreements Inesgporadic, and implementation and interpretasfdaws may be inconsistent. The PRC
judiciary is relatively inexperienced in interprediagreements and enforcing Cl's laws, leading to a higher than usual degreenctttainty as to the
outcome of any litigation. Even where adequateéaigts in China, it may not be possible to obtawftsand equitable enforcement of such law, or to
obtain enforcement of a judgment or an arbitratiemard by a court of another jurisdiction. The PR@a&nment has exercised and continues to
exercise substantial control over virtually evespect of the Chinese economy through regulationssateé ownership. Many of the current reforms
support private business in China are of recegiroor are provisional in nature. Other politicaonomic and social factors, such as political gean
changes in the rates of economic, growth, unempémor inflation, or in the disparities of per tapvealth among citizens of China and between
regions within China, could also lead to furtheadjgistment of the PRC government’s reform measiirasnot possible to predict whether the PRC
government will continue to be as supportive ofg@ig business in China, nor is it possible to mtealbw any future reforms will affect our business.

Specifically, the laws and regulations governing lousiness or the enforcement and performancergfraposed contractual arrangements with
our affiliated Chinese entity and the designatetividual stockholder are relatively new and mayshbject to change, and their official interpretatio
and enforcement may involve substantial uncertalgw laws and regulations that affect our busimeag also be applied retroactively. We
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cannot assure you that the PRC government woukkapat the operating arrangements of our affdi&tbinese entity comply with PRC licensing,
registration, or other regulatory requirementshveixisting policies, or with requirements or paiithat may be adopted in the future. For exanmple,
September 2011, the PRC Ministry of Commerce stiiaidthe relevant departments of the PRC goverharerjointly considering additional
regulation of the type of investment structure thiatuse, which is based on the approach used ley ndm-PRC companies with respect to their
conduct of businesses that require an ICP licdhtige PRC government determines that we do notptpmuith applicable law, it could revoke our
business and operating licenses and those of blimtal Chinese entity, including our affiliatedtéy’s ICP license, require us to restructure our
operations, require us to discontinue or restrictaperations, restrict our right to collect revenblock our websites, impose additional conditions
requirements with which we may not be able to cgmiphpose restrictions on our business operatiormaur customers, or take other regulatory or
enforcement actions against us that could be hatmfawr business.

In addition, because of the particular weaknesh®fChinese intellectual property regime, it ioftifficult to create and enforce intellectual
property rights in China. Accordingly, we may neté#ble to effectively protect our intellectual pedly rights in China against infringement by other
business entities, individuals, and current or feremployees.

Risks Related to Intellectual Property

Assertions by a third party that our solutions inifige its intellectual property, whether or not caet, could subject us to costly and ti-consuming
litigation or expensive licenses. We are currendlydefendant in a lawsuit alleging patent infringeme

There is frequent litigation in the software anchigology industries based on allegations of infeimgnt or other violations of intellectual
property rights. Many companies are devoting sigaift resources to obtaining patents that coulkechfihany aspects of our business. Third parties
may claim that our technologies or solutions irgeror otherwise violate their patents or otherliettual property rights. As we face increasing
competition and become increasingly visible aslaliply-traded company, or if we become more sudcsthe possibility of new third party claims
may increase.

We have licensed proprietary technologies frondtpiarties that we use in our technologies and lkgsirand we cannot be certain that the
owners’ rights in their technologies will not beatlenged, invalidated, or circumvented. If we arecéd to defend ourselves against intellectual
property infringement claims, whether they haveihwrare determined in our favor, we may face lgdgtgation, diversion of technical and
management personnel, limitations on our abilityse our current websites and technologies, andadnility to market or provide our solutions. As a
result of any such claim, we may have to develogaguuire non-infringing technologies pay damagatgrento royalty or licensing agreements, cease
providing certain services, adjust our marketind advertising activities, or take other actionsdasolve the claims. These actions, if required, by
costly or unavailable on terms acceptable to et ail.

Furthermore, we may acquire proprietary technogiem third parties and may incorporate such teldgies in our solutions. In addition to"
general risks described above associated withectehl property and other proprietary rights, we subject to the additional risk that the selfeswct
technologies may not have appropriately createdhtaiaed, or enforced such rights in such technplog

In August 2010 Oasis Research, LLC, or Oasis Rekeéiled a lawsuit against us and several of ampetitors and other online technology
companies in the U.S. District Court for the Easteistrict of Texas, alleging that our online baglsiorage services and other companies’ products ol
services infringe certain of Oasis Research’s pat€asis Research seeks an award for damagesiimspacified amount. Oasis Research does not
currently seek an injunction. We expect that d ttée will be set for late 2012 or early 2013. ¥We not able to assess with certainty the outcdme o
this litigation or the amount or range of potentiamages or future payments associated with tigation at this time. However, any litigation is
subject to inherent uncertainties, and there camob&ssurance that the expenses associated withdied this lawsuit or its resolution will not haze
material adverse impact on our business, operatim@ncial condition, or cash flows.
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Our success depends in large part on our abilitypimtect and enforce our intellectual property righ If we are not able to adequately protect our
intellectual property and proprietary technologiés prevent use or appropriation by our competitotise value of our brand and other intangible
assets may be diminished, and our business maydwesely affected.

Our future success and competitive position depetalrge part on our ability to protect our intelleal property and proprietary technologies.
We rely on a combination of trademark, patent, cigphy, and trade secret laws, as well as confidéitytiprocedures and contractual restrictions, to
establish and protect our proprietary rights, &ilivbich provide only limited protection and may maiw or in the future provide us with a competitive
advantage. CARBONITE and the Carbonite logo arestexgd trademarks in the U.S. and in over 30 atbantries, including countries in the
European Union. We have also filed trademark appbas for additional marks in the U.S. and otlmurtries, including “Back it up. Get it
Back”, “Because Your Life is On Your Computer”, tBarbonite Green Dot logo and Chinese characteeseptations for Carbonite. We cannot
assure you that any future trademark registratigtide issued for pending or future applicatiomgtmat any registered trademarks will be enforoeabl
or provide adequate protection of our proprietégits. We have one issued patent, 12 patent agiplicapending, and we are in the process of filing
additional patent applications. We cannot assutetlyat any patents will issue from any such paapplications, that patents that issue from such
applications will give us the protection that welseor that any such patents will not be challengedlidated, or circumvented. Any patents thayma
issue in the future from our pending or future pasgpplications may not provide sufficiently brgatection and may not be enforceable in actions
against alleged infringers.

There can be no assurance that the steps we tilkeewaidequate to protect our technologies andléateial property, that our trademark and
patent applications will lead to registered tradeks@r issued patents, that others will not developatent similar or superior technologies, prasiuc
or services, or that our trademarks, patents, #mer intellectual property will not be challengédsalidated, or circumvented by others. Furthermore
effective trademark, patent, copyright, and tregleret protection may not be available in every ¢guim which our services are available or where we
have employees or independent contractors. Iniaddihe legal standards relating to the validyforceability, and scope of protection of intetiied
property rights in internet-related industries aneertain and still evolving.

We may be involved in lawsuits to protect or enfermur patents, which could be expensive and timastoming and could materially harm our
business.

The steps we have taken and will take to protecirgallectual property may not prevent unauthatinse, reverse engineering, or
misappropriation of our technologies and we mayheoéble to detect any of the foregoing. Others imdgpendently develop technologies that are
competitive to ours or infringe our intellectuabperty. To counter infringement or unauthorized, uge may be required to file patent infringement
claims, which can be expensive and time-consunadigate. In addition, in an infringement procéegl a court may decide that a patent of ours is
not valid or is unenforceable, or may refuse t@ stthers from using the technology at issue orgtbends that our patent(s) do not cover such
technology. An adverse determination of any litigmtor defense proceedings could put one or momippatents at risk of being invalidated or
interpreted narrowly and could put our patent aions at risk of not being issued. If our effddgrotect our technologies and intellectual prope
are inadequate, the value of our brand and othangible assets may be diminished and competitagsbe able to mimic our solutions and methot
operations. Any of these events could have a nai@diverse effect on our business, financial caonitand operating results.

Furthermore, because of the substantial amournisobdery required in connection with intellectuabperty litigation, there is a risk that some
our confidential information could be compromiseddisclosure. In addition, during the course of angh litigation, there could be public
announcements of the results of hearings, motmmasther interim proceedings or developments. dusiéies analysts or investors perceive these 1s
to be negative, it could have a substantial adveifeet on the price of our common stock.
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Confidentiality agreements with employees and otharay not adequately prevent disclosure of our gacrets and proprietary information.
Failure to protect our proprietary information cod make it easier for third parties to compete wihbr solutions and harm our business.

We have devoted substantial resources to the dawelot of our proprietary technologies and relatet@sses. In order to protect our
proprietary technologies and processes, we rgbaition trade secret laws and confidentiality agwesgs with our employees, licensees, independent
contractors, and other advisors. These agreemeaysot effectively prevent disclosure of confidahthformation and may not provide an adequate
remedy in the event of unauthorized disclosureoofidential information. In addition, others maylependently discover our trade secrets, in which
case we would not be able to assert trade segtesrior develop similar technologies and procedaasher, laws in certain jurisdictions may afford
little or no trade secret protection, and any clearig, or unexpected interpretations of, the iattllal property laws in any country in which we raje
may compromise our ability to enforce our intelledtproperty rights. Costly and time-consumingyéition could be necessary to enforce and
determine the scope of our proprietary rights, faildre or inability to obtain or maintain tradecset protection or otherwise protect our proprigtar
rights could adversely affect our business.

Our use of “open source” software could negativelffect our ability to sell our solutions and subjeas to possible litigation.

A portion of the technologies licensed by us to austomers incorporates so-called “open sourceivené, and we may incorporate open source
software in the future. Such open source softwagenerally licensed by its authors or other thadies under open source licenses. These licenses
may subject us to certain unfavorable conditionsluiding requirements that we offer our solutidmet incorporate the open source software for no
cost, that we make publicly available source caderfodifications or derivative works we create lshspon, incorporating, or using the open source
software, and/or that we license such modificatimnderivative works under the terms of the paftéicopen source license. Additionally, if a third
party software provider has incorporated open sosoftware into software that we license from sou@vider, we could be required to disclose any of
our source code that incorporates or is a modifinatf such licensed software. If an author or othed party that distributes open source software
that we use or license were to allege that we lmsd@damplied with the conditions of the applicabtehse, we could be required to incur significant
legal expenses defending against such allegatimhsauld be subject to significant damages, engbfnem the sale of our solutions that contained the
open source software, and required to comply vhighforegoing conditions. Any of the foregoing codldrupt the distribution and sale of our soluti
and harm our business.

We rely on third party software, including serveofsware and licenses from third parties to use patied intellectual property, that is required to
develop and provide our solutions.

We rely on software licensed from third partiesléwelop and offer our solutions, including senadivsare from Microsoft and other patented
third-party technologies. In addition, we may né@dbtain future licenses from third parties to irgellectual property associated with the
development of our solutions, which might not baikable to us on acceptable terms, or at all. Asg lof the right to use any software requiredtier t
development and maintenance of our solutions caddlt in delays in the provision of our solutiamgil equivalent technology is either developed by
us, or, if available from others, is identified ta@ined, and integrated, which could harm our bissinAny errors or defects in third party softwaseld
result in errors or a failure of our solutions, wihcould harm our business.

If we are unable to protect our domain names, owputation, brand, customer base, and revenue, al asour business and operating resul
could be adversely affected.

We have registered domain names for websites, drsUUfRat we use in our business, such as www.cégoam. If we are unable to maintain
our rights in these domain names, our competitogteer third parties could capitalize on our braacbgnition by using these domain names for their
own benefit. In
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addition, although we own the Carbonite domain nanger various global top level domains such asi.and .net, as well as under various country-
specific domains, we might not be able to, or magose not to, acquire or maintain other countrycjgeversions of the Carbonite domain name or
other potentially similar URLs. Domain names simtaours have already been registered in the &h&.elsewhere, and our competitors or other third
parties could capitalize on our brand recognitigrubing domain names similar to ours. The regutatibdomain names in the U.S. and elsewhere is
generally conducted by internet regulatory bodie$ia subject to change. If we lose the abilityse a domain name in a particular country, we may
be forced to either incur significant additionaperses to market our solutions within that countgluding the development of a new brand and the
creation of new promotional materials, or electtoatell our solutions in that country. Either désould substantially harm our business and opegat
results. Regulatory bodies could establish addifitop-level domains, appoint additional domain eaegistrars, or modify the requirements for
holding domain names. As a result, we may not ke tabacquire or maintain the domain names théizetihe name Carbonite in all of the countrie
which we currently conduct or intend to conductibess. Further, the relationship between regulatgoverning domain names and laws protecting
trademarks and similar proprietary rights varieoagjurisdictions and is unclear in some jurisdici. We may be unable to prevent third parties
acquiring and using domain names that infringe sarglar to, or otherwise decrease the value of bvand or our trademarks. Protecting and enfor
our rights in our domain names and determiningitjets of others may require litigation, which couésult in substantial costs, divert management
attention, and not be decided favorably to us.

Material defects or errors in our software could ha our reputation, result in significant costs tosand impair our ability to sell our solution:

The software applications underlying our solutians inherently complex and may contain materiaddisfor errors, particularly when first
introduced or when new versions or enhancementelzased. We have from time to time found defecesrors in our solutions, and new defects or
errors in our existing solutions may be detectetthéfuture by us or our customers. The costs necun correcting such defects or errors may be
substantial and could harm our operating resuitaddition, we rely on hardware purchased or leasedsoftware licensed from third parties to offer
our solutions. Any defects in, or unavailability ofir or third party software or hardware that eaimgerruptions to the availability of our solutgon
could, among other things:

e cause areduction in revenue or delay in market@aoce of our solution

e require us to issue refunds to our customers cosxps to claims for damag:

e cause us to lose existing customers and make i whifficult to attract new customel

» divert our development resources or require usakenextensive changes to our solutions or softwehn&h would increase our expens
* increase our technical support costs;

e harm our reputation and brar

Risks Related to Ownership of our Common Stock
Our stock price may be volatile due to fluctuatioimsour operating results and other factors, eachwhich could cause our stock price to decline.

Shares of our common stock were sold in our ingigdlic offering in August 2011 at a price of $1@fer shares, and our common stock has
subsequently traded as high as $21.10 and as I®&.2%. An active, liquid, and orderly market farr@ommon stock may not be developed or
sustained, which could depress the trading priceuocommon stock. The market price for sharesuofcommon stock could be subject to
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significant fluctuations in response to variougdas, some of which are beyond our control. Somth@factors that may cause the market price for

shares of our common stock to fluctuate include:

In addition, the stock market in general, and tlaekat for internet-related companies in particutas experienced extreme price and volume
fluctuations that have often been unrelated orrdjzprtionate to the operating performance of ttamapanies. Securities class action litigation has
often been instituted against companies followiagqus of volatility in the overall market and metmarket price of a company’s securities. This
litigation, if instituted against us, could resultvery substantial costs, divert our managemaeaitention and resources, and harm our business,
operating results, and financial condition. In d&iddi, recent fluctuations in the financial and ¢abinarkets have resulted in volatility in secuessti

prices.

If we fail to maintain proper and effective interdaontrols, our ability to produce accurate and taty financial statements could be impaired, wh

fluctuations in our quarterly financial resultstbe quarterly financial results of companies peregito be similar to us
actual or anticipated fluctuations in our key opiegametrics, financial condition, and operatinguks;

loss of existing customers or inability to attraetv customers

actual or anticipated changes in our growth r

announcements of technological innovations or niéfgriags by us or our competitor

our announcement of actual results for a fiscalbgethat are lower than projected or expected orammouncement of revenue or earnings

guidance that is lower than expect

changes in estimates of our financial results comemendations by securities analy

failure of any of our solutions to achieve or maintmarket acceptanc

changes in market valuations of similar compar

success of competitive products or servis

changes in our capital structure, such as futsgaisces of securities or the incurrence of ¢
announcements by us or our competitors of sigmifipgoducts or services, contracts, acquisitionstrategic alliance:
regulatory developments in the U.S. or foreign ¢oas;

actual or threatened litigation involving us or dnatustry;

additions or departures of key personi

general perception of the future of the online lhgckarket or our solution

share price and volume fluctuations attributabletmnsistent trading volume levels of our sha
sales of our shares of common stock by us or @ekkblders; an

changes in general economic, industry, and maxkaditons.

could harm our operating results, our ability to epate our business, and investors’ views of us.

Ensuring that we have adequate internal financidlaccounting controls and procedures in placéaowe can produce accurate financial
statements on a timely basis is a costly and tiomeseming effort that needs to be evaluated fredyiehs part of our process of documenting and
testing our internal control over financial repogj we may identify areas for further attention angrovement. Implementing any appropriate chai

to
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our internal controls may distract our officers amdployees, entail substantial costs to modifyexisting processes, and take significant time to
complete. These changes may not, however, be i@anotmaintaining the adequacy of our internaltcols, and any failure to maintain that adequacy,
or consequent inability to produce accurate finalngtiatements on a timely basis, could increas®perating costs and harm our business. In addition
investors’perceptions that our internal controls are inadexjaathat we are unable to produce accurate finhstatements on a timely basis may h
our stock price and make it more difficult for asefffectively market and sell our solutions to reavd existing customers.

Our failure to raise additional capital or generatihe cash flows necessary to expand our operatiand invest in our business could reduce our
ability to compete successfully.

Although we currently anticipate that our availafads, including the net proceeds of our initiabjic offering and our available bank line of
credit, will be sufficient to meet our cash needlsdt least the next 12 months, we may requiretiaadil financing in the future. Our ability to obia
financing will depend, among other things, on ocevelopment efforts, business plans, operating pegdace and condition of the capital markets a
time we seek financing. If we need to raise addéldunds, we may not be able to obtain additiagdidt or equity financing on favorable terms, if at
all. If we raise additional equity financing, odoskholders may experience significant dilutiorttegir ownership interests, and the per share waflue
our common stock could decline. If we engage int fieancing, we may be required to accept termsristrict our ability to incur additional
indebtedness and force us to maintain specifieddity or other ratios. If we need additional cap#nd cannot raise it on acceptable terms, wenot
be able to, among other things:

» develop or enhance our solutio

e continue to expand our development, sales, andetiagkorganizations

* acquire complementary technologies, products, sinesses

» expand our operations in the U.S. or internation.

* hire, train, and retain employet

* respond to competitive pressures or unanticipatating capital requirements;
e continue our operation

A significant portion of our total outstanding shas may be sold into the public market in the neature, which could cause the market price
our common stock to drop significantly, even if obusiness is doing well.

Sales of a substantial number of shares of our camrstock in the public market, or the percepticat guch sales could occur, could adversely
affect the market price of our common stock. Inremtion with the expiration on February 26, 201%ok-up agreements entered into with the
underwriters of our initial public offering, appriaxately 17.9 million shares of our common stockéee eligible from sale by stockholders, subject to
applicable volume and other limitations under fetlsecurities laws. In August 2011, we filed a F@#8 under the Securities Act registering
5,177,658 shares of our common stock for issuandernour equity incentive plans. These shares reagolul in the public market upon issuance,
subject to the terms of contractual restrictiohghése additional shares are sold, or if it icp&ed that they will be sold, in the public markée
market price of our common stock could decline.

We also may issue shares of our common stock arrises convertible into our common stock from titeeime in connection with financing,
acquisition, investment, or otherwise. Any suclugge could result in substantial dilution to oxiseng stockholders and cause the market price of
our common stock to decline.

Our directors, executive officers, and principalostkholders have substantial control over us and twhdelay or prevent a change in corporate
control.

Our directors, executive officers, and holders ofenthan 5% of our common stock, together withrtha#iliates, hold a majority of our
outstanding shares of common stock and have thigyabicontrol the outcome of matters submittedto stockholders for approval, including the
election of directors and any merger,
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consolidation, or sale of all or substantiallyaliour assets. In addition, these stockholder&ggevgether, may have the ability to control diuance
the management and affairs of our company. Thiseamation of ownership could limit your ability itafluence corporate matters and may have the
effect of delaying or preventing a change in cdrtf@ur company.

If securities or industry analysts do not publisii oease publishing research or reports about usy business, or our market, or if they change tht
recommendations regarding our stock adversely, stock price and trading volume could decline.

The trading market for our common stock will bduehced by the research and reports that industsgaurities analysts may publish about us,
our business, our market, or our competitors. ¥f @inthe analysts who cover us change their reconaiaiion regarding our stock adversely, or pro
more favorable relative recommendations about oorpetitors, our stock price would likely declineahy analyst who covers us were to cease
coverage of our company or fail to regularly publieports on us, we could lose visibility in thedincial markets, which in turn could cause ourkstoc
price or trading volume to decline.

Our management will continue to have broad discoetiover the use of the proceeds we received ininitial public offering and might not apply
the proceeds in ways that increase the value ofnjiouestment.

Our management will continue to have broad disonetib use our net proceeds from our initial pubffering, and you will be relying on the
judgment of our management regarding the applinaifdhese proceeds. Our management might not apebe proceeds in ways that increase
value of your investment. We intend to use thepneteeds to us from the initial public offeringmeérily for general corporate purposes, including
working capital, sales and marketing activitiesgyal and administrative matters, and capital edjperes. We may also use a portion of the net
proceeds to acquire, invest in, or obtain rightsdmplementary technologies, solutions, or busg®ddntil we use the net proceeds to us from the
initial public offering, we plan to invest them,dathese investments may not yield a favorableahteturn. If we do not invest or apply the net
proceeds from the initial public offering in wayst enhance stockholder value, we may fail to aghéxpected financial results, which could cause
our stock price to decline.

We do not currently intend to pay dividends on aaommon stock and, consequently, your ability to asre a return on your investment will depel
on appreciation in the price of our common stock.

We have never declared or paid any cash dividendsiocommon stock and do not intend to do soHferforeseeable future. We currently
intend to invest our future earnings, if any, tadwur growth and continuing operations. In additithe provisions of our revolving credit facility
prohibit us from paying cash dividends. Therefgm) are not likely to receive any dividends on yshkiares of common stock for the foreseeable f
and the success of an investment in shares ofasomon stock will depend upon any future appreamatiotheir value. Our common stock may not
appreciate in value or even maintain the priceldtwour stockholders have purchased their shares.

Anti-takeover provisions contained in our certificaté imcorporation and bylaws, as well as provisions@elaware law, could impair a takeover
attempt.

Our certificate of incorporation and bylaws contaiovisions that could have the effect of delayangreventing changes in control or changt
our management without the consent of our boadirettors. These provisions include:

» aclassified board of directors with th-year staggered terms, which may delay the abifistackholders to change the membership
majority of our board of director
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* no cumulative voting in the election of directosdich limits the ability of minority stockholders elect director candidate

» the exclusive right of our board of directors teatla director to fill a vacancy created by theazmgion of the board of directors or the
resignation, death, or removal of a director, wipcévents stockholders from being able to fill wezias on our board of directol

» the ability of our board of directors to determinassue shares of preferred stock and to deterthaerice and other terms of those shi
including preferences and voting rights, withowatckholder approval, which could be used to sigaiiity dilute the ownership of a hostile
acquirer;

« aprohibition on stockholder action by written cent which forces stockholder action to be takeanagannual or special meeting of our
stockholders

» the requirement that a special meeting of stocldrsldhay be called only by the chairman of the boéuirectors, the chief executive
officer, or the board of directors, which may deflag ability of our stockholders to force considiena of a proposal or to take action,
including the removal of director

« limiting the liability of, and providing indemnifation to, our directors and officel
» controlling the procedures for the conduct and dolieg of stockholder meeting

» providing the board of directors with the expreswer to postpone previously scheduled annual mgetf stockholders and to cancel
previously scheduled special meetings of stockhs|

« providing that directors may be removed prior t® é&xpiration of their terms by stockholders onlydause; an

» advance notice procedures that stockholders muagplgowith in order to nominate candidates to ouarloof directors or to propose
matters to be acted upon at a stockholders’ meetihith may discourage or deter a potential acqdimn conducting a solicitation of
proxies to elect the acqui’'s own slate of directors or otherwise attemptinglitain control of us

These provisions, alone or together, could delafileatakeovers and changes in control of our camma changes in our management.

As a Delaware corporation, we are also subjectdwigions of Delaware law, including Section 203fw# Delaware General Corporation Law,
which prevents some stockholders holding more & of our outstanding common stock from engagincgirtain business combinations without
approval of the holders of substantially all of outstanding common stock. Any provision of our aded and restated certificate of incorporation or
bylaws or Delaware law that has the effect of delgypr deterring a change in control could limi¢ thpportunity for our stockholders to receive a
premium for their shares of our common stock, anddalso affect the price that some investorsaallng to pay for our common stock.

ITEM 1B. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS
None.

ITEM 2. PROPERTIES

Our principal executive offices are located in BostMassachusetts, in a 39,775 square-foot facilitgler a lease expiring on December 31,
2016. We also have a 22,592 square foot custonpgosufacility in Lewiston, Maine under a lease ieig on June 1, 2016 as well as a small offic
Princeton, New Jersey and a small developmenteoifieijing, China.

Our data centers are located at three facilitiddassachusetts and one facility in Arizona. Ourndznter leases expire at various times between
August 2013 and January 2016, and a separate dstiadiarrangement is cancellable by us upon 126 datice.

30



Table of Contents

ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

In August 2010, Oasis Research, LLC, or Oasis Relgefiled a lawsuit against us and several ofemmpetitors and other online technology
companies in the U.S. District Court for the Easteistrict of Texas, alleging that our online baplatorage services, and the other companies’
products or services, infringe certain of OasisdResh’s patents. Oasis Research seeks an awatdrf@ges in an unspecified amount. Oasis Researc
does not currently seek an injunction. We expegt #htrial date will be set for late 2012 or e&043. We are not able to assess with certainty the
outcome of this litigation or the amount or rang@atential damages or future payments associatdtis litigation at this time. However, any
litigation is subject to inherent uncertaintiesd dnere can be no assurance that the expensesadsdatith defending this lawsuit or its resolutieil
not have a material adverse impact on our busigssations, financial condition, or cash flows.

In addition to the Oasis lawsuit, from time to timee have been and may become involved in legalgadings arising in the ordinary course of
our business. Although the results of litigation @haims cannot be predicted with certainty, werarepresently involved in any other legal proceg
in which the outcome, if determined adversely towsuld be expected to have a material adverseteffeour business, operating results, or financial
condition. Regardless of the outcome, litigation bave an adverse impact on us because of defadsetilement costs, diversion of management
resources, and other factors.

ITEM 4. Mine Safety Disclosures
Not Applicable.
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PART Il

ITEM 5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT 'S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS AND IS SUER PURCHASES
OF EQUITY SECURITIES

Our common stock has been traded on The NASDAQ & Mglarket under the symbol “CARB” since our initfalblic offering on August 11,
2011. Prior to this time, there was no public mafle our common stock. The following table shoWws high and low sale prices per share of our
common stock as reported on The NASDAQ Global Mafiixethe periods indicated:

High Low
Third Quarter 2011 (beginning August 11, 2011) $21.1( $10.8(
Fourth Quarter 201 $14.6¢ $10.62

On March 1, 2012, the closing price as reportedtomn NASDAQ Global Market, of our common stock w&s5® per share. As of March 1,
2012, we had approximately 101 holders of recordusfcommon stock. This does not include the nurobeersons whose stock is held in nomine
“street” name accounts through brokers.

We have never declared or paid, and do not anteigeclaring or paying, any cash dividends on oanrmon stock. Any future determination as
to the declaration and payment of dividends, if,amyl be at the discretion of our board of dirastand will depend on then existing conditions,
including our financial condition, operating resyktontractual restrictions, capital requiremebisiness prospects and other factors our board of
directors may deem relevant.

Our equity plan information required by this itesnincorporated by reference to the informationamt I, Item 12 of this Annual Report on
Form 10-K.

Performance Graph

The following performance graph compares the cutiugldotal return to holders of our common stocktfee period from August 11, 2011, the
date our common stock commenced trading on The N@Blobal Market, through December 31, 2011, agdhmes cumulative total return of The
NASDAQ Composite Index and The NASD:-100 Technology Sector Index.

The comparison assumes that $100.00 was investadr icommon stock, The NASDAQ Composite Index ahd RASDAQ-100 Technology
Sector Index, and assumes reinvestment of divigehadsy. The graph assumes the initial value afaammon stock on August 11, 2011 was the
closing sale price on that day of $12.35 per shatenot the initial offering price to the public$£0.00 per share. The performance shown on the
graph below is based on historical results andisniended to suggest future performance.
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COMPARISON OF FIVE MONTH CUMULATIVE TOTAL RETURN
AMONG CARBONITE, INC., THE NASDAQ COMPOSITE INDEX
AND THE NASDAQ-100 TECHNOLOGY SECTOR INDEX

8/11/2011  8/31/2017  9/30/201:  10/31/201  11/30/201:  12/31/201
Carbonite $100.0C $119.9: $97.4¢ $102.1¢ $ 98.1¢ $ 89.8¢
NASDAQ Composite $100.0C $103.4¢ $96.9C $107.6¢ $105.12 $104.5:
NASDAQ-100 Technology Sector Inde; $100.0C  $102.17 $96.4¢ $111.7. $109.6( $107.1f

Stockholder Return Graph
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This performance graph shall not be deemed “satigitnaterial” or to be “filed” with the Securitieand Exchange Commission for purposes of
Section 18 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1884mended, or otherwise subject to the liabilitinder that Section, and shall not be deemed to be

incorporated by reference into any filing of Carliteninc. under the Securities Act of 1933, as atedn

Recent Sales of Unregistered Securities

During the period between January 1, 2011 and Aubls2011 (the date of the filing of our regiswatstatement on Form S-8, File No. 333-
176373), we issued options to purchase 399,85@skdrour common stock at a weighted average eseeprice of $10.90 per share. During this same

period, we issued an aggregate of 691,759 shamsnwion stock that were not registered under ticer8es Act to our directors, officers,
employees, and consultants pursuant to exerciseok options for cash consideration with aggregaggcise proceeds of $0.8 million. These
issuances were undertaken in reliance upon the gi@mfrom registration requirements of Rule 701h& Securities Act. The recipients of these

shares of commons stock represented their intentmacquire the shares for investment only andwitbta view to or for sale in connection with any

distribution, and appropriate legends were affitethe share book entry records issued in thessdrions. All recipients had adequate access,

through their relationship with us, to informatiabout us.
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Use of Proceeds

On August 10, 2011, our registration statement@m¥FS-1 (File No. 333-174139) was declared effector our initial public offering. On
August 16, 2011, we closed our initial public offfigr of 7,187,500 shares of common stock at an ioffgorice of $10.00 per share, of which 6,303,973
shares were sold by us, including 937,500 sharesuput to the underwriters’ option to purchase talthl shares, and 883,527 shares were sold by
selling stockholders. The underwriters of the affgrwere Merrill Lynch, Pierce, Fenner & Smith Imporated, J.P. Morgan Securities LLC, William
Blair & Company, L.L.C., Canaccord Genuity Inc.,f@pheimer & Co. Inc., and Pacific Crest Securities Following the sale of the shares in
connection with the closing of our initial publi€fering, the offering terminated.

As a result of the offering, including the undeters’ option to purchase additional shares, weivedenet proceeds of $55.6 million, after
deducting total expenses of $7.4 million, consgstih underwriting discounts and commissions of $dilion and offering-related expenses of $3.0
million. None of such payments were direct or irdirpayments to any of the Compasgirectors or officers or their associates, teperowning 109
or more of our common stock, or to any of our &ffés.

The net proceeds to us from our initial public dffig have been invested in money market accourtgamernment and government agency
securities.

There has been no material change in the planreedfyzroceeds from our initial public offering assdribed in our prospectus filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission pursuant to £4¢b) under the Securities Act.

ITEM 6. SELECTED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL AND OTHER DATA

You should read the following selected consoliddieaincial and other data below in conjunction withanagement'’s Discussion and Analysis
of Financial Condition and Results of Operationsd éhe consolidated financial statements, relatgédsy and other financial information included in
this Annual Report on Form 1K- The selected consolidated financial and othéa dathis section are not intended to replacectitesolidated financi
statements and are qualified in their entiretyH®/¢onsolidated financial statements and relatéesrincluded elsewhere in this Annual Report on
Form 10-K.

The consolidated statements of operations daténéoyears ended December 31, 2011, 2010 and 2@®arconsolidated balance sheets da
of December 31, 2011 and 2010 are derived fromaadited consolidated financial statements incluglsdwhere in this report. The consolidated
statements of operations data for the years enéedrbber 31, 2008 and 2007 and the consolidateddstneets data as of December 31, 2009, 2008
and 2007 are derived from our audited consolidétethcial statements not included in this Annuap®&e on Form 10-K. Historical results are not
necessarily indicative of the results to be expkaoighe future.
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Years Ended December 31

2011 2010 2009 2008 2007
(in thousands, except share and per share dat
Consolidated statements of operations date
Revenue $ 60,51 $ 38,56:¢ $ 19,11« $ 8,20z $ 2,15¢
Cost of revenue (1 23,20: 16,28¢ 8,954 4,27: 1,717
Gross profit 37,31( 22,27¢ 10,16( 3,92¢ 437
Operating expenses (.
Research and developmt 16,51: 10,86¢ 6,21( 4,66: 3,04z
General and administratiy 6,631 4,20¢ 2,48t 2,38¢ 1,41¢
Sales and marketir 37,72 33,09¢ 21,06% 14,72¢ 7,36¢
Total operating expens 60,86 48,17¢ 29,76 21,78: 11,82¢
Loss from operation (23,559 (25,896 (19,607) (17,857 (12,389
Interest and other income, r 41 138 377 412 48€
Loss before income tax: (23,517 (25,767) (19,225 (17,439 (20,907
Provision for income taxe (23) — — — —
Net Loss (23,53¢) (25,767) (19,229 (17,439 (10,907
Accretion of redeemable convertible preferred si (12¢) (210) (210) (210) (210)
Net loss attributable to common stockholc $ (23,669 $ (25,979 $ (19,43YH $ (17,649 $ (11,119
Basic and diluted net loss per share attributable t
common stockholdel $ (1.89) $ (590 $ (479 $ (4.6) $ (299
Weightec-average number of shares of common s
used in computing basic and diluted net loss per
share 12,841,23 4,399,13 4,065,23! 3,828,07 3,743,241
(1) Stock-based compensation included in the consolidatédrstnts of operations data above was as foll
Years Ended December 31
2011 2010 2009 200¢ 2007
(in thousands)
Cost of revenu $207 $ 45 $ 35 $16 $15
Research and developme 511 171 88 38 27
General and administratiy 34¢€ 227 18¢ 89 78
Sales and Marketin 381 99 79 60 62
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As of December 31
2011 2010 2009 2008 2007
(in thousands)

Consolidated balance sheet datz

Cash $59,84: $ 13,85t $ 28,27¢ $ 2,54: $14,77:
Working capital (deficit 18,83¢ (22,38:) 12,59¢ 12,26¢ 10,34:
Total asset 99,60¢ 40,94: 46,43: 30,70: 18,50:
Deferred revenue, including current port 59,69¢ 38,72: 23,14« 9,401 3,53¢
Total liabilities 72,00« 47,83¢ 29,14¢ 14,00¢ 5,84(
Preferred stock warrant liabilit — 82 18 18 18
Redeemable and convertible stc — 68,73( 67,77( 48,387 26,98:
Total stockholder’ equity (deficit) 27,60: (75,629) (50,48¢) (31,69¢) (14,329

Years Ended December 31
2011 2010 2009 2008 2007 (1)
(in thousands, except percentage dati

Key metrics:

Total customers (2 1,22¢ 951 59C 281 95

Annual retention rate (? 82% 83% 7% 81% N/A

Renewal rate (4 82% 81% 78% 78% N/A

Bookings (5) $80,90( $ 54,141 $32,857 $ 14,06¢ $5,17(

Free cash flow (6 $(5,979) $(12,209 $(8,045) $(12,409 $(8,63¢)

(1) We did not document annual retention rate or reheate in 2007

(2) We define total customers as the number of paidaigiions from consumers and SMBs at the endefefevant perioc

(3) We define annual retention rate as the pergentd customers on the last day of the prior yedaw vemain customers on the last day of the
current year, or for quarterly presentations, taeentage of customers on the last day of the caabfgaquarter in the prior year who remain
customers on the last day of the current que

(4) We define renewal rate for a period as the graeage of customers who renew annual or multi-gebscriptions that expire during the period
presented. Renewal rate excludes customers unddismontinued third-party distribution agreemeansl prior SMB offering with subscriptions
that remain active until cancelle

(5) We define bookings as revenue recognized duringéhi@d plus the change in total deferred reveeuel(ding deferred revenue recordec
connection with acquisitions) during the same gkl

(6) We define free cash flow as net cash provided bgdun) operating activities, less capital expamdi, and adjusted for any extraordinary ite

Bookings and free cash flow are financial data #ératnot calculated in accordance with GAAP. Tiwesbelow provide reconciliation of

bookings and free cash flow to revenue and cashiged by (used in) operating activities, respedjivthe most directly comparable financial
measures calculated and presented in accordant&wiaP.

Our management uses annual retention rate to deesthre stability of our customer base and to eatalthe lifetime value of our customer

relationships. As customers’ annual and multi-ysedyscriptions come up for renewal throughout thenziar year based on the dates of their original
subscriptions, measuring retention on a trailingls® month basis at the end of each quarter prevade management with useful and timely
information about the stability of our customerddglanagement uses renewal rate to monitor trendgstomer renewal activity.
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Our management uses bookings as a proxy for casipts. Bookings represents the aggregate dollaewa customer subscriptions receivec
us during a period. We initially record a subsdoptfee as deferred revenue and then recogniagaibly, on a daily basis, over the life of the
subscription period. Management uses free cashdkw measure of our operating performance; fomatg purposes, including the preparation of
annual operating budget; to allocate resourcestiarce the financial performance of our businessyaluate the effectiveness of our business
strategies; to provide consistency and companghilith past financial performance; to determineitzdpequirements; to facilitate a comparison of ou
results with those of other companies; and in cominations with our board of directors concerning fimancial performance. We also use free cash
flow as a factor when determining management’sritice compensation. Management believes that taefitee cash flow provides consistency and
comparability with our past financial performantagilitates period to period comparisons of operaj and also facilitates comparisons with other
peer companies, many of which use similar non-GAiABncial measures to supplement their GAAP results

Although bookings and free cash flow are frequensigd by investors and securities analysts in thaituations of companies, bookings and
cash flow have limitations as analytical tools, god should not consider them in isolation or dss$itutes for analysis of our results of operatiass
reported under GAAP. Some of these limitations are:

» bookings does not reflect our receipt of paymemtnfisubscribers
» free cash flow does not reflect our future requieats for contractual commitments to vend:

» free cash flow does not reflect the non-cash corapbaf employee compensation or depreciation anatt@ration of property and
equipment; an

« other companies in our industry may calculate bogdkior free cash flow or similarly titled measudégerently than we do, limiting their
usefulness as comparative meast

The following tables present reconciliations of bookings and free cash flow to revenue and casviged by (used in) operating activities,
respectively, the most directly comparable finaheiaasures calculated and presented in accordatit&wAP.

Years Ended December 31

2011 2010 2009 2008 2007
(in thousands)
Revenue $60,51- $38,56: $19,11¢ $ 8,20c $2,15¢
Plus change in deferred revenue (excluding aceprigi 20,38¢ 15,57¢ 13,74 5,867 3,01¢
Bookings $80,90( $54,14: $32,857 $14,06¢ $5,17(
Years Ended December 31
2011 2010 2009 2008 2007
(in thousands)
Cash provided by (used in) operating activi $ 7,57- $ (1,559 $ (94€) $ (7,709 $(6,094)
Less capital expenditur (13,54 (10,65%) (7,099 (4,709 (2,549
Free cash flov $ (5,979 $(12,204) $(8,045) $(12,409) $(8,63¢)
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ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FIN ANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

The following discussion and analysis of our firiahcondition and results of operations should kad in conjunction with the financial
statements and related notes appearing elsewharésmAnnual Report on Form 10-K. The followingadission contains forward-looking statements
that reflect our plans, estimates, and beliefs. @etual results could differ materially from thadiscussed in the forward-looking statements. Factor
that could cause or contribute to these differerinekide those discussed below and elsewheresnAthinual Report on Form 10-K, particularly in
“Risk Factors.”

Overview

We are a leading provider of online backup solifor consumers and SMBs. We provide easy-to-d&edable, unlimited, and secure online
backup solutions with anytime, anywhere accesids $tored on our servers, which we call the CaitedPersonal Cloud. We believe that we are the
best known brand in the online backup market.

In 2005, we began development of our online badalption and raised our first capital from investde sold the first Carbonite subscription
in 2006. In 2010, we introduced our SMB solutiopeped our office in Beijing, China, and expandedroanagement team to better focus on our
consumer and SMB markets. We surpassed 100,000r¢dys in 2008, 500,000 subscribers in 2009, gd@000 subscribers in early 2011. As of
December 31, 2011, we had subscribers in morelfi@rcountries, with subscribers based in the Up&esenting 94% of our total revenue for 2011.

We derive our revenue from subscription fees framsamers and SMBs. We charge consumers a $5@#8dof one year of unlimited online
backup with our Carbonite Home solution. Our CaiteoHomePlus and Carbonite HomePremier solutiongige consumers with additional features
at annual prices of $99 and $149, respectively.frfeng of all of our consumer solutions is disnted for multi-year subscriptions. Our SMB
solutions, Carbonite Business and Carbonite BusPresnier, allows for an unlimited number of useiith tiered pricing based on the total amount of
data backed up. As of December 31, 2011, approrign@0% of subscribers to our consumer servicedmedyear subscriptions, although the
percentage of customers with multi-year subscnigtioas increased over time. We charge customefaltiseibscription amount at the beginning of
each subscription period. We initially record asuription fee as deferred revenue and then recegniatably over the subscription period. The al
or multi-year commitments of our customers enhanaaagement’s visibility of our revenue and chargingtomers at the beginning of the
subscription period provides working capital.

We are investing aggressively in customer acquisitiecause we believe that the market for onlin&igais in the early stages of development.
Our largest expense is advertising for customeuiaitpn, which is recorded as sales and markegkuense. This is comprised of television and radio
advertising, online display advertising, print adigng, paid search, direct marketing, and othgreases. In 2011, 2010, and 2009, our total
advertising expense was $25.1 million, $23.6 milliand $10.8 million, respectively. We generallgrsgh more on advertising in the first and third
quarters of each year based on the seasonalitystdmer purchasing patterns and fluctuations iredibing rates.

As we grow our business we continue to invest ditawhal storage and infrastructure. Our capitgdenditures in 2011, 2010, and 2009 were
$13.5 million, $10.7 million, and $7.1 million, sctively.

Our revenue has grown from $19.1 million in 200$88.6 million in 2010 and $60.5 million in 2011t the same time, our total operating costs
have grown from $29.8 million in 2009 to $48.2 moifl in 2010 and $60.9 million in 2011, principadlg a result of our investment in customer
acquisition. We expect to continue to devote suttisthresources to customer acquisition, improwng technologies, and expanding our solutions. In
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addition, we expect to invest heavily in our opiera to support anticipated growth and public conyp@porting and compliance obligations. We
defer revenue over our customers’ subscriptiongderibut expense marketing costs as incurred.r@sudt of these factors, we expect to continue to
incur GAAP operating losses on an annual basithiforeseeable future.

In August 2011, we closed our initial public offegiof 7,187,500 shares of common stock at an offgurice of $10.00 per share, of which
6,303,973 shares were sold by us, including 937sb@des pursuant to the underwriters’ option telpase additional shares, and 883,527 shares were
sold by selling stockholders, resulting in net prds to us of approximately $55.6 million, aftedwaigting underwriting discounts and offering
expenses.

Our Business Model

We evaluate the profitability of a customer relasibip over its lifecycle because of the naturewflusiness model. As we generally incur
customer acquisition costs in advance of subsorigtivhile recognizing revenue ratably over the geofithe subscriptions, a customer relationship
may not be profitable at the beginning of the stpson period, even though it may be profitableeothe life of the customer relationship. As wenals
generally incur capital equipment costs in advasfcaibscriptions, a customer relationship may aestlt in positive cash flow at the beginning of the
subscription period, even though it may resultdsifive cash flow over the life of the customeamtinship. While we offer both annual and mykiar
subscriptions to our customers, a significant nigjaf them are currently on one-year subscriptitans. We typically generate positive cash flow
during the first year of a multi-year subscript@smwe charge the subscription fee for the entirmget the beginning of the subscription.

Key Business Metrics
Our management regularly reviews a number of firr@nd operating metrics, including the followikey metrics, to evaluate our business:

» Total customersWe calculate total customers as the number of @aidcriptions from consumers and SMBs at the ettldeofelevant period. ,
consumer who has more than one computer may halipasubscriptions, each of which is treated agjparate subscription. An SMB
subscription may cover multiple computers and ubatss treated as a single subscripti

» Annual retention rateWe calculate annual retention rate as the percerdbgustomers on the last day of the prior yeas rémain customers ¢
the last day of the current year, or for quarterigsentations, the percentage of customers omshedy of the comparable quarter in the prior
year who remain customers on the last day of theeotiquarter. Our management uses these measutetetmine the stability of our customer
base and to evaluate the lifetime value of ouraast relationships

* Renewal rateWe define renewal rate for a period as the pergenté customers who renew annual or multi-year cujitsons that expire during
the period presented. Renewal rate excludes cussameer our discontinued third-party distributeigreements and prior SMB offering with
subscriptions that remain active until cancelledr @anagement uses this measure to monitor trenclssiomer renewal activit

* BookingsWe calculate bookings as revenue recognized daripgrticular period plus the change in total defémevenue (excluding deferred
revenue recorded in connection with acquisitions)rdy the same period. Our management uses thisureeas a proxy for cash receipts.
Bookings represents the aggregate dollar valueistbener subscriptions received by us during a geliée initially record a subscription fee as
deferred revenue and then recognize it ratably daily basis, over the life of the subscriptiomniqe:

* Free cash flowWe calculate free cash flow as net cash provide@lbgd in) operating activities, less purchasgwaberty and equipment, and
adjusted for any extraordinary items. Our managemses this measure to evaluate our operatingtse
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Subscription renewals may vary during the year dasethe date of our customers’ original subsaipgi As we recognize subscription revenue
ratably over the subscription period, this gengradls not resulted in a material seasonal impaciuomevenue, but may result in material monthlgt an
quarterly variances in one or more of the key bessrmetrics described above.

Performance Highlights
The following table presents our performance higfts for the periods presented:
Years Ended December 31

2011 2010 2009
(in thousands, except percentage dati

Key metrics:

Total customer 1,22t 951 59C
Annual retention rat 82% 83% 7%
Renewal rat¢ 82% 81% 78%
Bookings $80,90( $ 54,14: $32,85"
Free cash flov $(5,972) $(12,20¢) $(8,045)

Our total customers and bookings increased ovepéhieds presented and we are continuing to irsgsstantially in customer acquisition in an
effort to drive future growth in total customersiaiookings. While we expect our total customersotinue to increase on an absolute basis, we
expect that our annual percentage increase indostbmers will decline as our customer base grows.

In June 2010, we decided to cease distributioruotonsumer solutions through third-party distribotchannels, and we terminated most of our
distribution agreements at that time. During 2GLMscriptions purchased through third-party distabs accounted for 8% of our revenue.
Historically, renewal rates for subscriptions paséd through third-party distributors were lowertlfior direct sales. Excluding renewal activity
related to third-party distributor sales, our arimatention rates for the years ended Decembe2@®11, December 31, 2010, and December 31, 2009
were 86%, 85%, and 83% respectively.

Our free cash flow over the periods presentedingsdved due to economies of scale and the impdugbkr per customer profitability
associated with customers who continue beyondgesirear. Free cash flow for the year ended Dece®ibe2011 improved by $6.2 million and $2.1
million compared to the years ended December 310 201d December 31, 2009, respectively.

Key Components of our Consolidated Statements of @pations
Revenu¢

We derive our revenue from subscription fees framsumers and SMBs. We typically charge a custonueedit card the full price of the
subscription at the commencement of the subscrigt@iod and at each renewal date, unless theroestdecides not to renew the subscription. We
initially record a customer subscription fee asdefd revenue and then recognize it ratably, oailst Hasis, over the life of the subscription pdrio

Cost of revenue

Cost of revenue consists primarily of costs assediaith our data center operations and customgvat centers, including wages and benefits
for personnel, depreciation of equipment, rentities and broadband, equipment maintenance, softligense fees, and allocated overhead. The
expenses related to hosting our services and stippaur customers are related to the number dbowsrs and the complexity of our services and
hosting infrastructure. We expect these expenseggitease in absolute dollars as we continue teease our number of customers. On a per subscribe
basis, our costs have been decreasing as we aduexemies of
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scale and purchase equipment and services in lqugettities. There has also been a long term dowhtw@nd in the cost of storage equipment and
broadband service, which we expect will continuéhim future.

Gross profit and gross margin

Gross profit is our revenue less our cost of reee@ur gross margins have historically expandedtadyice increases for our consumer
solutions and from economies of scale. We expecgmss margins to remain flat in the near terrvasdd new data centers and expand modestly
thereafter.

Operating expenses

Research and developmeResearch and development expenses consist prinoasibgges and benefits for development personoekuting
fees, rent, and depreciation. We have focusedemgrarch and development efforts on both improvasg @f use and functionality of our existing
services and developing new offerings. The majaritgur research and development employees aréelbed our corporate headquarters in the U.S.,
with another group at our offices in China. We etgbat research and development expenses wikaser in absolute dollars on an annual basis and
decrease modestly as a percentage of revenue, @antieue to enhance and expand our services.

General and administrativeGeneral and administrative expenses consist pitinted wages and benefits for management, finaacepunting,
human resources, legal and other administrativeoperel, legal and accounting fees, insurance, #ret gorporate expenses. We expect to continue to
add personnel and enhance our internal informatystems in connection with the growth of our busin&Ve expect our general and administrative
expenses to increase, given that we have becombklia pompany. We expect our accounting, legal, gerdonnel-related expenses and directors and
officers insurance costs to increase as we haviuitesl and continue to monitor a more comprehensompliance and board governance function,
maintain and review internal controls over finaheggporting in accordance with Section 404 of tlaeb@nes-Oxley Act, and prepare and distribute
periodic reports, as required by the rules andlatigms of the Securities and Exchange Commisglsra result, we expect that our general and
administrative expenses will continue to increaselisolute dollars on an annual basis, but deceesaagyercentage of revenue.

Sales and marketingSales and marketing expenses consist primariadeértising costs, wages and benefits for saldsraarketing personnel,
creative expenses for advertising programs, coadi fees, commissions paid to third-party partae affiliates, and the cost of providing frealBi
The largest component of sales and marketing expsredvertising for customer acquisition, printdiptelevision, radio and print advertisements.
Online search costs consist primarily of pay-p@&kgbayments to search engine operators. Advegtisosts are expensed as incurred. To date,
marketing and advertising costs have been incymedipally in the U.S., but we expect to increase marketing and advertising expenditures in ¢
countries. We expect that we will continue to cotmsignificant resources to our sales and markedffats to grow our business and awareness of our
brand and services. We expect that sales and nraglestpenses will continue to increase in absaloléars on an annual basis, but decrease as a
percentage of revenue.

Critical Accounting Policies

Our financial statements are prepared in accordaitbeaccounting principles generally acceptechia t).S., or GAAP. The preparation of our
financial statements and related disclosures reguis to make estimates, assumptions, and judgthexisffect the reported amount of assets,
liabilities, revenue, costs and expenses, andeidisclosures. We base our estimates and assurmptiohistorical experience and other factors that
we believe to be reasonable under the circumstaboesil such estimates and assumptions are intigrencertain and unpredictable. We evaluate
estimates and assumptions on an ongoing basisaletsults may differ from those estimates andragsions, and it is possible that other
professionals, applying their own judgment to tams facts and circumstances, could develop andsuglternative estimates and assumptions that
would result in material changes to our operatagutts and financial condition. Our most criticat@unting policies
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are summarized below. See Note 2 to our finantééments included elsewhere in this Annual Repoform 10-K for additional information about
these critical accounting policies, as well as scdption of our other significant accounting pa@ix

Revenue recognitic

We derive revenue from online backup subscriptenises. These services are stand-alone indepesdaiite solutions, which are generally
contracted for a one- to three-year term. Subserigigreements include access to use our solwiarthe internet. We recognize revenue in
accordance with the Financial Accounting Stand&uadification (ASC) 605-10Qverall Revenue RecogniticBubscription revenue is recognized
ratably on a daily basis upon activation over thigssription period, when persuasive evidence afraangement with a customer exists, the
subscription period has been activated, the psi¢xéd or determinable, and collection is reastynabsured. Deferred revenue represents payments
received from customers for subscription serviges po recognizing the revenue related to thosergnts.

Goodwill and acquired intangible assets

We record goodwill when consideration paid in aihess acquisition exceeds the fair value of thetargible assets and the identified intangible
assets acquired. Goodwill is not amortized, butaais tested for impairment annually or more fesgjly if facts and circumstances warrant a review.
We perform our assessment for impairment of goddwilan annual basis and we have determined theg th a single reporting unit for the purpos
conducting this annual goodwill impairment assesgfeor purposes of assessing potential impairnvemtannually estimate the fair value of the
reporting unit (based on our market capitalizatiam)) compare this amount to the carrying valudefreporting unit (as reflected by our total
stockholders’ equity). If we determine that therging value of the reporting unit exceeds its faitue, an impairment charge would be required. Our
annual goodwill impairment test is at November 8@ach year.

Income taxe

We provide for income taxes under the liability het. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are datexdhbased on differences between financial
reporting and tax bases of assets and liabilitigsase measured using the enacted tax rates ict @ffeen the differences are expected to reverse.
Deferred tax assets are reduced by a valuatiowatoe to reflect the uncertainty associated widir thitimate realization. We account for uncertain
tax positions recognized in our consolidated finalngtatements by prescribing a more-likely-tham-thoeshold for financial statement recognition and
measurement of a tax position taken or expectée taken in a tax return.

Due to a history of losses, we have provided aviallliation allowance against our deferred tax asseimore fully described in Note 10 of our
consolidated financial statements. The abilitytibze these losses, any future losses, and argr ¢éx credits or attributes may be restricted or
eliminated by changes in our ownership, changésgislation and other rules affecting the abiliyoffset future taxable income with losses fronopri
periods. Future determinations on the need fol@atian allowance on our net deferred tax assdtdowimade on a quarterly basis, and our asses:
at December 31, 2011 reflects a continued need foll valuation allowance.

Stock-based compensation

Accounting guidance requires employee stock-basgthpnts to be accounted for under the fair valunate Under this method, we are
required to record compensation cost based onstiraated fair value for stock-based awards graatedrtized over the requisite service periods for
the individual awards, which generally equals thsting periods. We use the straight-line amortirathethod for recognizing stock-based
compensation expenses.
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Determining the appropriate fair value model andwdating the fair value of stock-based paymentraaaequires the use of highly subjective
estimates and assumptions, including the estinfatedalue of our common stock. Following our ialtpublic offering, we used the quoted market
price of our common stock to establish the faiueadf the common stock underlying our stock opti®ecause there was no public market for our
common stock prior to our initial public offeringur board of directors determined the fair valuewf common stock with input from management,
based on reports of an unrelated third-party vadoapecialist.

We estimate the fair value of stock options ondate of grant using the Black-Scholes option-pgaimodel, which further requires the use of
highly subjective estimates and assumptions, inetuexpected stock price volatility, expected texhan award, risk-free interest rate, and expected
dividend yield. As a public company with limitecding history, we consider both the volatility efrstock price and that of our publicly traded peer
companies. The expected life assumption is basebeogsimplified method for estimating expected tasrwe do not have sufficient stock option
exercise experience to support a reasonable estfi#tte expected term. The risk-free interestisbmsed on the implied yield currently availatfe
U.S. Treasury zero-coupon issues with terms appratdly equal to the expected life of the stockaptWe use an expected dividend rate of zero as
we currently have no history or expectation of pgytash dividends on our capital stock.

Results of Operations

The following table sets forth, for the periodsgmeted, data from our consolidated statementsexatipns as well as the percentage of revenue
that each line item represents. The period-to-pgez@mparison of financial results is not necesganilicative of future results. The information
contained in the tables below should be read ijuomtion with financial statements and related sadteluded elsewhere in this Annual Report on
Form 10-K.

Years Ended December 31
2011 2010 2009
(in thousands)

Consolidated statements of operations date

Revenue $ 60,51: $ 38,56¢ $ 19,11
Cost of revenu 23,20 16,28¢ 8,954
Gross profit 37,31( 22,27¢ 10,16(
Operating expense
Research and developmt 16,51: 10,86¢ 6,21(
General and administrati\ 6,631 4,20¢ 2,48
Sales and marketir 37,72 33,09¢ 21,067
Total operating expens: 60,86+ 48,17t 29,76
Loss from operation (23,559 (25,896 (19,607)
Interest and other income, r 41 13¢ 377
Loss before income tax: (23,513 (25,767 (19,225
Provision for income taxe (23) — —
Net Loss (23,53¢) (25,769 (19,224
Accretion of redeemable convertible preferred si (12¢) (210) (210
Net loss attributable to common stockholc $(23,664) $(25,979 $(19,43)
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Comparison of Years Ended December 31, 2011, 20Hhd 2009

Revenue¢

Revenue

Consolidated statements of operations dat
Revenue
Cost of revenu
Gross profit
Operating expense
Research and developmt
General and administrati
Sales and marketir
Total operating expens:
Loss from operation
Interest and other income, r
Loss before income tax:
Provision for income taxe
Net Loss

Years Ended December 31
2011 2010 2009
(% of revenue)

10C% 10% 10C%
38.5 42.2 46.€
61.7 57.¢ 53.2
27.5 28.2 32.8
11.C 10.€ 13.C
62.5 85.¢ 110.2
100.¢ 124.€ 155.
(38.9) (67.2) (102.6)
— 0.4 2.C
(38.9) (66.€) (100.6)
(38.9% (66.6)% (100.6%
Years Ended December 31 2010 to 201 2009 to 201
2010 2009 % Change % Change
(in thousands, except percentage dati
$60,51: $38,56: $19,11¢ 56.% 101.8%

Revenue increased by $21.9 million from 2010 to128dd by $19.4 million from 2009 to 2010, primaiilye to 28.5% and 61.3% increases in
the number of total customers in 2011 and 201@ews/ely. The increase in revenue during thesog@emwas driven in part by increased advertising
expenditures in prior periods, as well as increasgsicing of our consumer services in April 2088d April 2011. In addition, we released our first
SMB offering in February 2010 and revenue from SMBtomers was approximately $5.8 million in 201fnpared to $1.1 million in 2010. During
2009 and 2010, we terminated channel distributgneements, which had historically resulted in lowexenue per subscription than direct sales. Each
of these factors impacted revenue during thesegeri
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Cost of revenue, gross profit, and gross margin

Years Ended December 31 2010 to 201 2009 to 201
2011 2010 2009 % Change % Change
(in thousands, except percentage dati
Cost of revenu $23,20: $16,28¢ $ 8,95¢ 42 .5% 81.€%
Gross profit 37,31( 22,27¢ 10,16( 67.5% 119.2%
Gross margit 61.7% 57.€% 53.2%

Cost of revenue increased by $6.9 million from 261@011 and by $7.3 million from 2009 to 2010 nparrily due to an increase in the total
number of customers. The increase in cost of rexémum 2010 to 2011 was comprised primarily of lgstosts of $5.5 million, including
depreciation of equipment, personnel related cafsteir operations employees, and increases in atiar storage capacity, and customer support cc
$1.4 million, primarily associated with the costngfiw employees to replace outsourced support i.lfithe increase in cost of revenue from 2009 to
2010 was comprised primarily of hosting costs aR$illion, including establishing a new data cenésd customer support costs of $3.1 million,
primarily associated with the cost of new employaed providing outsourced support in India. Grasdipincreased primarily as a result of operating
efficiencies primarily due to economies of scale.

Operating expenses

Years Ended December 31 2010 to 201 2009 to 201
2011 2010 2009 % Change % Change
(in thousands, except percentage dati
Research and developm: $16,51: $10,86¢ $ 6,21 51.% 75.(%
General and administrati\ 6,631 4,20¢ 2,48¢ 57.5% 69.4%
Sales and marketir 37,72. 33,09¢ 21,067 14.(% 57.1%

Research and developmeriesearch and development expenses increasedéniion from 2010 to 2011 and by $4.7 milliomfn 2009 to
2010, primarily due to personnel related costs@ased with additional hiring to enhance the fuoitility of our solutions and to develop new
offerings.

General and administrativeGeneral and administrative expenses increas&2 dymillion from 2010 to 2011 and by $1.7 milliiom 2009 to
2010. In both years, we increased the number aérg¢éand administrative employees to support oeral/growth. The overall increases consisted
primarily of increases of $1.5 million and $1.1 lioih in professional fees, including legal and agting fees, from 2010 to 2011 and 2009 to 2010,
respectively, and $0.4 million and $0.5 milliongarsonnel related and recruiting costs from 20120thl and 2009 to 2010, respectively.

Sales and marketingSales and marketing expenses increased by $#liémfiiom 2010 to 2011 and by $12.0 million frorAG to 2010. The
increase from 2010 to 2011 was attributable tanarease in advertising campaigns of $1.5 milliod an increase in personnel related costs of $1.1
million as a result of hiring new employees. Iniéidd, credit card processing fees increased $0lli&mand costs related to free trials increasé®$
million. The increase from 2009 to 2010 was congariprimarily of increases of $12.8 million in advging expenses, $0.6 million in other marketing
expenses, and $0.6 million in credit card feesaifin part by decreases of $1.9 million in outsidemissions due to the termination of channel
distribution agreements in 2009 and $0.3 milliorcasts related to free trials.
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Liquidity and Capital Resources

As of December 31, 2011, we had cash and cashalgnts of $59.8 million, which primarily consisteficash and money market funds. In
connection with our initial public offering in Augti2011, we received net proceeds of $55.6 millRyor to our initial public offering, we had fundle
our operations primarily through prepayment of suilpsions and the sale of $68.8 million of preferstock, all of which was converted into shares of
our common stock in connection with our initial fiatoffering. Our principal uses of cash are furgdour operations and capital expenditures. In June
2011, we used $1.9 million of cash to acquire sariglly all of the assets of Phanfare, Inc., whigkerates a service that enables users to create,
maintain, and share online photo and video albums.

Sources of funds

We believe, based on our current operating plat,dbr existing cash and cash equivalents and Worgs available under our revolving credit
facility will be sufficient to meet our anticipatedsh needs for at least the next 12 months.

From time to time, we may explore additional fingugcsources to develop or enhance our servicdantbexpansion, to respond to competitive
pressures, to acquire or to invest in complemergesgucts, businesses or technologies, or to lmwecost of capital, which could include equity,
equity-linked, and debt financing. There can bessurance that any additional financing will beilatée to us on acceptable terms, if at all. If we
raise additional funds through the issuance oftgapriconvertible debt or other equity-linked sétieis, our existing stockholders could suffer
significant dilution, and any new equity securitves issue could have rights, preferences and pges superior to those of holders of our common
stock.

In May 2011, we entered into a revolving bank dréatiility pursuant to which we may incur indebteds up to $15 million. Advances under the
credit facility bear interest on the outstandingydbalance, at an annual rate equal to the lesdmime reference rate plus 1%. We have pledged our
accounts receivable, equipment, and shares ofulisidiaries to the lender to secure our obligatiomder the credit facility. We have also agreedta
grant a security interest in or pledge our intellatproperty to any third party. The credit fagilcontains customary events of default, conditians
borrowings and restrictive covenants, includingrietsons on our ability to dispose of assets, mageuisitions, incur additional debt, incur lienske
distributions to our stockholders, make investmemt&nter into certain types of related party $etions. The credit facility also includes finata@nc
other covenants including covenants to maintairiramum adjusted net worth, a minimum number ofltetébscribers, and a minimum cash deposit.
To date, we have not drawn down on our revolvirgglitrfacility. Any inability to meet our debt sece obligations could adversely affect our financial
position and liquidity.

Uses of funds

We have increased our operating and capital expeediin connection with the growth in our openasiand the increase in our personnel, and
we anticipate that we will continue to increasehsependitures in the future. Our future capitgluieements may vary materially from those now
planned and will depend on many factors, including:

» the levels of advertising and promotion required¢quire and retain custome

« expansion of our data center infrastructure necgs$eaupport our growtt

» growth of our operations in the U.S. and worldwi

* our development and introduction of new soluticarg]

» the expansion of our sales, customer support, reisemd development, and marketing organizati
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Consistent with previous periods, future capitglenditures will focus on acquiring additional daterage and hosting capacity and general
corporate infrastructure. We are not currentlyy#otany purchase contracts related to future aheipenditures, other than short term purchase
orders.

Cash flows
The following table summarizes our cash flow data2011, 2010, and 2009.

Years Ended December 31

2011 2010 2009
(in thousands)

Net cash provided by (used in) operating activi $ 7,57- $ (1,559 $ (946

Net cash provided by (used in) investing activi (18,187 (13,919 7,251

Net cash provided by financing activiti 56,60( 1,041 19,42¢

Operating activities

Our cash flows from operating activities are sigaifntly influenced by the amount of our net logevgh in subscription sales and customer
growth, changes in working capital accounts, thertg of prepayments and payments to vendors, adkshaf non-cash expense items such as
depreciation, and the expense associated with-$taskd compensation.

In 2011, cash provided by operating activities %a$ million, which was primarily driven by a $20wlllion increase in deferred revenue
associated with the increase in subscription saiescustomer growth. Net cash inflows from opeasintivities included non-cash charges of $9.3
million, including $7.9 of depreciation and amoation and $1.4 million of stock based compensationincrease in accounts payable and accrued
expenses provided an additional $2.8 million. Thessh inflows were partially offset by our net le$$23.5 million and a $1.2 million increase in
prepaid expenses and other current assets.

In 2010, we used $1.6 million in operating actsti which was primarily driven by our net loss 268 million, offset by a $15.6 million
increase in deferred revenue associated with trease in subscription sales and customer growtitcash charges of $5.6 million, including $5.1
million of depreciation and $0.5 million of stockded compensation, and a $3.0 million increasarirent liabilities.

In 2009, we used $0.9 million in operating actisti which was primarily driven by our net loss 29$® million and a $0.4 million increase in
accounts receivable. These cash outflows weregligrtiffset by a $13.7 million increase in deferredenue associated with the increase in
subscription sales and customer growth. Cash isfloiuded noreash charges of $3.4 million, including $3.0 mitliof depreciation and $0.4 millic
of stock based compensation, a $1.3 million in@eéa<urrent liabilities, and a $0.1 million decsean prepaid expenses.

Investing activitie:

In 2011, cash used in investing activities was $18illion, consisting primarily of capital expendlies of $13.5 million primarily for server
equipment and other data center infrastructuretmdise of $1.9 million of net cash in connectidthwhe acquisition of substantially all of the etss
of Phanfare, Inc. In addition, purchases and niatarof short-term investments netted to a $2.Tigniluse of cash.

In 2010, we used $13.9 million in investing actlst consisting primarily of $10.7 million for tipeirchase of equipment, in addition to a net
investment of $3.3 million in short-term investrrent
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In 2009, cash provided by investing activities B&s3 million, consisting primarily of net proceddsm shortterm investments of $14.4 millio
offset by capital expenditures of $7.1 million.

Financing activities
Cash provided by financing activities in 2011 wa$.$ million, consisting of $55.6 million of netqaeeds from our initial public offering and
$1.0 million from the exercise of stock options.

Cash provided by financing activities in 2010 was0$million, consisting primarily of net proceeds$0.8 million from the issuance of shares of
Series D convertible preferred stock and $0.3 arilfrom the exercise of stock options.

Cash provided by financing activities in 2009 wa8.8 million, consisting primarily of net proceenfs$19.2 million from the issuance of shares
of Series D convertible preferred stock and $0.Honifrom the exercise of stock options.

Off-balance sheet arrangements
As of December 31, 2011, we did not have any offize sheet arrangements.

Contractual obligations
The following table summarizes our contractual gdtions at December 31, 2011 and the effect sulipadions are expected to have on our
liquidity and cash flow in future periods.

Payment Due by Perioc
Less

Than 1 1- 3-
Total Year 3 Years 5 Years
(in thousands)
Office lease obligation $ 6,82( $1,23¢ $2,81( $2,77¢
Hosting facility lease obligatior 6,35¢ 1,932 3,14: 1,28¢
Other purchase commitmer 6,127 5,07¢ 722 321
Total $19,30( $8,24¢ $6,67¢ $4,381

The commitments under our office lease obligat&imswn above consist primarily of lease payment®fwrBoston, Massachusetts corporate
headquarters, our Lewiston, Maine customer sugpoiity.

We also lease small amounts of general office sppaPeinceton, New Jersey and Beijing, China uédase agreements that expire at various
dates through August 2012.

Our Lewiston, Maine support facility lease expiogsJune 1, 2016. We may terminate this lease atiengyafter May 31, 2013. The lease
contains a renewal option for an additional tworgeand requires us to pay a proportion of incre@seperating expenses and real estate taxes after
January 1, 2013.

The commitment under our hosting facility obligaosshown above consist of Boston, Massachusettkefig#ll, Massachusetts, and Phoenix,
Arizona data centers.

We intend to relocate our equipment and operatfiimms our Boston, Massachusetts data center to boeramther data centers and to discont
the use of our Boston, Massachusetts data centielgdhe first half of 2012. The term of our Bostdfassachusetts data center lease is currenttyp set
expire in August 2013. We are likely to incur a srecurring moving and transition expense relatetthéorelocation of these hosting operations.

Other purchase commitments shown above consigirgfactual commitments to various vendors primdolyadvertising, marketing, and
broadband services.
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Recent Accounting Pronouncements

In June 2011, the FASB issued new accounting gaian the presentation of comprehensive incomeadige companies with two options for
presenting comprehensive income. Companies capmirédee total of comprehensive income, the compsnaimet income, and the components of
other comprehensive income either in a single oootis statement of comprehensive income or in gpamte but consecutive statements. This
guidance eliminates the option to present the corapis of other comprehensive income as part oftdtement of changes in stockholders’ equity.
This guidance was effective for the us on JanuaB012. As the new guidance relates only to howpreimensive income is disclosed and does not
change the items that must be reported as com@®eencome, we do not believe the adoption of skémdard will have a material impact on our
financial position or results of operations.

In September 2011, the FASB issued ASU No. 2011F88ting Goodwill for Impairment (the revised stamtja The revised standard is
intended to reduce the cost and complexity of threual goodwill impairment test by providing entitian option to perform a “qualitative” assessment
to determine whether further impairment testingasessary. The revised standard was effectivesfonwanuary 1, 2012. We do not believe the
adoption of this amendment will have a materialactpn our financial position or results of operas.

| TEM 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARK  ET RISK

We are exposed to market risks in the ordinary s®of our business. These risks include primanilgrest rate fluctuation risks and foreign
exchange risks.

Interest Rate Fluctuation Ri

Our cash consists of interest bearing bank accowesdid not have long-term borrowings as of Decein8d, 2011. Interest income is sensitive
to changes in the general level of U.S. interesistal he primary objective of our investment atiggiis to preserve principal while maximizing inoe
without significantly increasing risk. Our cash asfubrt-term investments are relatively insensitovénterest rate changes. In future periods, we wil
continue to evaluate our investment policy in oreensure that we continue to meet our overakabjes. In the event that we borrow under our
revolving credit facility, which bears interestthe lender’s prime rate plus 1%, we would be exgdeenterest rate fluctuations.

Foreign Currency Exchange Ri

We have foreign currency risks related to our djiregeexpenses and potential revenue denominatedriencies other than the U.S. dollar,
principally the Chinese Yuan. We do not believe eroents in the foreign currencies in which we tranhsall significantly affect future net earnings.
Foreign currency risk can be quantified by estinathe change in cash flows resulting from a hyptital 10% adverse change in foreign exchange
rates. We believe such a change would not haveterimampact on our results of operations.
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accountingrirm

The Board of Directors and Shareholders of Carlegihitc.

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balgineets of Carbonite, Inc. (the “Company”) aBefember 31, 2011 and 2010, and the
related consolidated statements of operationseraeble and convertible preferred stock, stockheldeuity (deficit), and other comprehensive loss
and cash flows for each of the three years in #1®@gd ended December 31, 2011. These financiamstits are the responsibility of the Company’s
management. Our responsibility is to express aniopion these financial statements based on outsaud

We conducted our audits in accordance with thedstats of the Public Company Accounting OversighaBlgUnited States). Those standards
require that we plan and perform the audit to abtaasonable assurance about whether the finastateinents are free of material misstatement. We
were not engaged to perform an audit of the Comiganternal control over financial reporting. Ouwrdits included consideration of internal control
over financial reporting as a basis for designinditaprocedures that are appropriate in the circantes, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the Comparinternal control over financial reporting. Accomgly, we express no such opinion. An audit alsdudes
examining, on a test basis, evidence supportingutheunts and disclosures in the financial statespessessing the accounting principles used and
significant estimates made by management, and awaduthe overall financial statement presentative. believe that our audits provide a reasonable
basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements referrealbove present fairly, in all material respedts, ¢consolidated financial position of Carbonite,
Inc. as of December 31, 2011 and 2010, and theotidated results of its operations and its caswdldor each of the three years in the period ended
December 31, 2011, in conformity with U.S. gengralicepted accounting principles.

/sl Ernst & Young LLI

Boston, Massachusetts
March 7, 2012
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Carbonite, Inc.
Consolidated Balance Sheets

December 31
2011 2010
(In thousands, except she
and per share dat

ASSETS
Current asset:
Cash and cash equivalel $ 59,84: $ 13,85¢
Shor-term investment 12,68« 10,00¢(
Accounts receivable, net of allowar 944 644
Prepaid expenses and other current a: 1,73(C 551
Total current asse 75,20( 25,05(
Property and equipment, r 21,64¢ 15,81¢
Goodwill 1,51« —
Acquired intangible assets, r 1,05¢ —
Other asset 18¢ 73
Total asset $ 99,60¢ $ 40,94

LIABILITIES, REDEEMABLE AND CONVERTIBLE
PREFERRED STOCK AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY (DEFICIT)

Current liabilities:

Accounts payabl $ 6,85¢ $ 4,86¢
Accrued expense 4,99¢ 3,947
Current portion of deferred reven 44 .50¢ 28,61¢
Total current liabilities 56,36: 37,43

Deferred revenue, net of current port 15,19: 10,10¢
Other lon¢-term liabilities 451 297

Commitments and contingencieNote 11)
Redeemable and convertible preferred st
Redeemable convertible preferred stock; Series $02)1 par value; 506,646 share authorized and

502,874 shares issued and outstanding at Decerip2080, at redemption vali — 4,40¢
Convertible preferred stock; $0.01 par value; 4,88Q shares authorized and 3,991,617 shares issued
outstanding at December 31, 2010 (liquidation vaii$73,931 at December 31, 20: — 64,32¢

Stockholder’ equity (deficit):
Preferred stock, $0.01 par value; 6,000,000 sreurtsrized at December 31, 2011; no shares is — —
Common stock, $0.01 par value; 45,000,000 and 21358 shares authorized at December 31, 2011 anc
2010, respectively; 25,137,342 and 4,526,603 slarestanding at December 31, 2011 and 2010,

respectively 251 45
Additional paic-in capital 127,80° 2,13¢
Accumulated defici (100,43) (77,805
Treasury stock, at cost (2,009 shares at Decenihex03.1) (22 —
Accumulated other comprehensive incc 3 3

Total stockholder’ equity (deficit) 27,60 (75,629
Total liabilities, redeemable and convertible prefd stock, and stockhold’ equity (deficit) $ 99,60¢ $ 40,94:

The accompanying notes are an integral part ofermmnsolidated financial statements.
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Carbonite, Inc.

Consolidated Statements of Operations

Revenue
Cost of revenu
Gross profit
Operating expense

Research and developme

General and administratiy

Sales and marketir

Total operating expens:

Loss from operation
Interest incomt
Interest expens
Other expenses, n
Loss before income tax:
Provision for income taxe
Net loss
Accretion of redeemable convertible preferred si
Net loss attributable to common stockholc

Net loss attributable to common stockholders pare—basic and dilute:

Weighted-average number of common shares usednputing net loss per share—bas

and dilutec

53

Years Ended December 31

2011 2010 2009
(In thousands, except share and per share
$ 60,51: $ 38,56 $ 19,11«
23,20: 16,28« 8,95/
37,31( 22,27¢ 10,16(
16,51: 10,86¢ 6,21(
6,631 4,20¢ 2,48¢
37,72 33,09¢ 21,06
60,86¢ 48,17 29,76
(23,554 (25,896 (19,602
78 207 391
(25) (64) —
(12 (10 (14)
(23,519 (25,769 (19,229
23 — —
(23,53¢) (25,769 (19,225
(12¢) (210 (210
$ (23,669 $ (25,979 $ (19,43Y
$ (1.89) $  (5.90 $ (479
12,841,23 4,399,13 4,065,23
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Carbonite, Inc.

Consolidated Statements of Redeemable and Conver@Preferred Stock and Stockholders’ Equity (Defid) and Comprehensive Loss

Series £-2
Redeemable
Convertible

Preferred Stock

Convertible
Preferred
Stock

Accumulated

Common Stock  Additional

Number of Number of

Shares  Amount _ Shares  Amount

Other
Accumulated Treasury Comprehensive Total
Stockholders’

Equity (Deficit)

Number of Comprehensive

Paid-in
Shares  Amount _ Capital Deficit Stock

Income Loss

502,87

3,98¢

3,405,82

44,40:

Balance at December 31, 2C
Issuance of common sto
Issuance of Series D
convertible preferred
stock, net of issuance co
of $76
Issuance of common stock in
connection with stock
option exercise
Accretion of redeemab
convertible preferred stor
to redemption valu
Share-based compensation
expenst
Comprehensive los
Net loss
Total
comprehel
loss

563,82; 19,17:

21C

(In thousands, except share and per share dat
3,978,20. 40 661 (32,39)
55,50( 1 70 —

— (31,699
71

232,37: 2 182 184

(219
39C

(19,229 $ (19,22

(219
39¢

(19,229

$ (19,22

Balance at December 31, 2C 502,87 4,19¢ 3,969,64' 63,57¢
Issuance of Series D
convertible preferred stor
Issuance of common stock in
connection with stock
option exercise
Accretion of redeemab
convertible preferred stor
to redemption valu
Share-based compensation
expens¢
Comprehensive los
Foreign currenc
translation
adjustmen
Net loss
Total
comprehensiv
loss

21,96¢ 75C

21C

4,266,07: (51,83) (50,48¢)

260,52t 2 291

(219
542

3% 3
(25,769 (25,769

$ (25,760)

Balance at December 31, 2C 4,40¢ 3,991,611 64,32¢
Issuance of common stock in
connection with stock

option exercise
Accretion of redeemable
convertible preferred stor
to redemption valu
Repurchase of common st
Share-based compensation
expense¢
Issuance of common stock in
connection with initial
public offering, net of
issuance costs of $2,9
Conversion of redeemable a
convertible preferred stor
into common stocl
Reclassification of a warra
to purchase shares of
redeemable and
convertible preferred stor
into a warrant to purchase
common stocl
Comprehensive los
Unrealized loss on
available-for-sale
marketable
securities
Foreign currency
translation
adjustmen
Net loss

502,87

12¢

(502,87) (4,537 (3,991,61) (64,32

4,526,60: (75,629

825,30: 99C

(128

(2,009 (22

1,357

6,303,97: 63 55,56¢ 55,63:

13,483,47 13¢ 67,69: 1,032 68,85¢

74 74

@ @ s @)

2
(23,530

2
(23,530

(23,530

Total
comprehe|
loss

$ (23,53)

Balance at December 31, 2C

| 25,137,34 251 $ 127,800 $ (10043)$ (22 $ 3 27,60:



The accompanying notes are an integral part ofer@msolidated financial statements.
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Carbonite, Inc.

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

Operating activities
Net loss
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash piexviby (used in) operating activitie
Depreciation and amortizatic
Amortization of premium on investmer
Sharebased compensation expel
Warrant remeasureme
Changes in assets and liabilities, net of acqaisi
Accounts receivabl
Prepaid expenses and other current a:
Other asset
Accounts payabl
Accrued expense
Other lon¢-term liabilities
Deferred revenu
Net cash provided by (used in) operating activi
Investing activities
Purchases of property and equipm
Proceeds from she-term investment
Purchases of sh«-term investment
Payment for acquisition, net of cash acqu
Net cash provided by (used in) investing activi
Financing activities
Proceeds from issuance of preferred stock, netsofaince cos
Proceeds from issuance of common stock pursuaxerxise of stock optior
Net proceeds from issuance of common s
Repurchase of common sto
Net cash provided by financing activiti
Effect of currency exchange rate changes on
Net increase (decrease) in ci
Cash, beginning of peric
Cash, end of perio

Non cash investing and financing activitie:

Accretion of redeemable convertible preferred si

Acquisition of property and equipment included ataunts payabl
Conversion of redeemable and convertible prefesteck to common stoc

Conversion of a warrant to purchase convertibléepred stock to a warrant to purchase common ¢

The accompanying notes are an integral part ofer@msolidated financial statements.
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Years Ended December 31

2011 2010 2009
(in thousands)
$(23,530  $(25,76)  $(19,229
7,87(C 5,06( 2,971
4C — —
1,44¢ 54z 39C
(8) 64 —
(300) (43) (352)
(1,186) (35) 12¢
(112) — )
1,93¢ 2,38¢ 354
83¢ 531 952
20z 131 91
20,38¢ 15,57¢ 13,74
7,57: (1,557) (94€)
(13,544) (10,652 (7,099
10,00( 6,80¢ 22,73
(12,694 (10,069 (8,387
(1,949 — —
(18,187 (13,919 7,251
— 75C 19,17:
99C 291 184
55,63: — 71
(229 — —
56,60( 1,041 19,42¢
2 3 —
45,98 (14,427 25,73
13,85¢ 28,27¢ 2,54:
$ 59,84: $ 13,85¢ $ 28,27¢
$ 12¢ $ 21C $ 21C
$ 2,65¢ $ 85E $ 73C
$ 68,85¢ — —
$ 74 — —
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Carbonite, Inc.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
1. Nature of Business

Carbonite, Inc. (the “Company”) was incorporatedha State of Delaware on February 10, 2005, aodsks on the development and marketing
of personal computer backup service that enablkes tis backup, access, and restore data fileseonlin

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
Principles of Consolidation
The accompanying consolidated financial statemiaestade the accounts of the Company and its wholyed subsidiaries.

In addition, through its wholly owned subsidiaryr@enite (China) Co., Ltd. (“Carbonite China”), tB®@mpany effectively controls a variable
interest entity (“VIE”), Pan Sheng An Xin InternBtchnology Co., Ltd., which is incorporated under kaws of the People’s Republic of China. The
People’s Republic of China restricts foreign owhgrof internet-related service companies. To cgmyith these foreign ownership restrictions, the
Company operates its business in China throughviis The Company has entered into certain exctisigreements with the VIE and its sharehol
through Carbonite China, which provides the abiiitdirect the VIE’'s most significant economic aities and to receive a majority of VIEeconomi
benefits.

Based on these contractual arrangements, the Cgnepasolidates the VIE as required by Financiald\ctting Standards Codification (“ASE”
810-10,Consolidation, because the Company is the primary beneficiath@VIE through Carbonite China. Despite the latknajority ownership,
there exists a parent-subsidiary relationship betwbe Company and the VIE through the aforemeatiagreements, whereby the equity holders of
the VIE effectively assigned all of their votinglhits underlying their equity interest in the VIEGarbonite China. In addition, the Company has the
ability and intention to continue to exercise ithts to obtain substantially all of the profitsdaio absorb all of the expected losses of the VIE.

All intercompany accounts and transactions betwieerCompany, its subsidiaries, and the VIE have ledieninated in consolidation. These
consolidated financial statements have been prdparg@ccordance with accounting principles gengraticepted in the United States.

Use of Estimates in the Preparation of Financial $tements

The preparation of consolidated financial statesi@ntonformity with accounting principles geneyalccepted in the United States requires
management to make estimates and assumptiondfinetttae reported amounts of assets and lialslitiee disclosure of contingent assets and
liabilities at the date of the financial statemeitsd the reported amounts of revenues and expduoseg the reporting period. Although the Company
regularly assesses these estimates, actual results differ materially from these estimates. Cresgy estimates are recorded in the period in which
they become known. The Company bases its estimatbgstorical experience and various other assumgtihat it believes to be reasonable under the
circumstances. Actual results may differ from mamagnt’s estimates if past experience or other gsgans do not turn out to be substantially
accurate, even if such assumptions are reasondige made.

Translation of Foreign Currencies

The functional currency of the Company’s foreigbsidiary and VIE are their local currency. The fioml statements of the Company’s foreign
subsidiary and VIE in China are translated into.d@&lars. The Company translates the assets abiities of at the exchange rates in effect atquer
end. Revenues and expenses are translated usirageexchange rates in effect during the year. Gamd losses from foreign currency translation are
recorded to accumulated other comprehensive ingtoes) included in stockholders’ deficit.
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Carbonite, Inc.

Concentration of Credit Risk

Financial instruments that potentially subject@wmpany to credit risk primarily consist of cashl @ash equivalents, short-term investments,
and accounts receivable. The Company maintaircags and cash equivalent and short-term investb@ances with high-quality financial
institutions and, consequently, the Company befigliat such funds are subject to minimal credit iGash equivalents and short-term investments
consist of investment grade debt securities or momarket funds investing in such securities.

The Company sells its services primarily to consuamel small business customers. Payment for therityapf the Company’s sales occurs via
credit card. Due to these factors, no additionadlitirisk beyond amounts provided for collectiosdes is believed by management to be probable
Company'’s accounts receivable. For the periodsepted, no customer represented 10% or more of atzoeceivable or revenue.

Revenue Recognition

The Company derives revenue from online backupaigi®n services. These services are standalaependent service solutions, which are
generally contracted for a one- to three-year t&ufhscription arrangements include access to @s€tdmpany’s software via the internet. The
Company recognizes revenue in accordance with ABSC16,0verall Revenue RecognitioBubscription revenue is recognized ratably on by daisis
upon activation over the subscription period, whersuasive evidence of an arrangement with a cesterists, the subscription period has been
activated, the price is fixed or determinable, aaliection is reasonably assured. Deferred reveremgsent payments received from customers for
subscription services prior to recognizing the rexerelated to those payments.

Cash Equivalents and Short-Term Investments

The Company considers all highly liquid investmemischased with an original maturity of three mandhn less to be the equivalent of cash for
the purpose of balance sheet and statement offlcashpresentation.

Short-term investments in marketable securitieskssified as available-for-sale and are recoedddir value. Realized gains and losses are
included in income. Unrealized gains and lossesleing other-than-temporary impairments) are reggbas a component of accumulated other
comprehensive income (loss).

The Company reviews its investments for other-tteanporary impairment whenever evidence indicatasah investment’s carrying amount is
not recoverable within a reasonable period of tifrfeere were no other-than-temporary impairmentsnduhe year ended December 31, 2011.

Property and Equipment

Property and equipment are stated at cost. Experdifor repairs and maintenance are charged &negpas incurred. Upon retirement or sale,
the cost of the assets disposed of and the redamdnulated depreciation are eliminated from tlwasts and any resulting gain or loss is refleated
the consolidated statement of operations. Depieniaind amortization is provided using the straigieé method over the estimated useful lives of the
assets, which are as follows:

Estimated Useful

Asset Classificatior Life

Computer equipmer 2—4 years

Software 3 years

Furniture and fixture 5 years

Leasehold improvemen Shorter of useful life or remaining life of lea
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Carbonite, Inc.

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets

The Company reviews property aeduipment and intangible assets for impairment wiienevents or changes in circumstances indicatetik
carrying amount of an asset may not be recover#tilee recoverability of these assets is considiéoebe impaired, the impairment to be recognized
equals the amount by which the carrying value efabsets exceeds its estimated fair value. The @woyripas not identified any impairment of its long-
lived assets as of December 31, 2011, 2010 and 2009

Goodwill and Acquired Intangible Assets

The Company records goodwill when consideratiod paa business acquisition exceeds the fair vafube net tangible assets and the
identified intangible assets acquired. Goodwith@éd amortized, but rather is tested for impairmemually or more frequently if facts and
circumstances warrant a review. The Company pedatsrannual assessment for impairment of goodwilNovember 30 and considers its busine
be one reporting unit for the purpose of conducting assessment. The assessment consists of &sgriree fair value of the reporting unit (based on
the Company’s market capitalization) and compatiig amount to the carrying value of the reportimg (as reflected by the Company’s total
stockholders’ equity). Based on the recent evatnathe Company determined that its goodwill waisimgaired.

Intangible assets acquired in a business combmati® recorded under the acquisition method of auirng at their estimated fair values at the
date of acquisition. As the pattern of consumptibthe economic benefits of the intangible assatsot be reliably determined, the Company
amortizes acquired intangible assets over theimastd useful lives on a straight-line basis.

Software and Website Development Costs

The Company follows the guidance of ASC 3504ernal Use Softwarand ASC 350-50/Vebsite Development Cost® accounting for its
software and website development costs. The costsried in the preliminary stages of developmeetextpensed as incurred. Once an application has
reached the development stage, internal and exteosts, if direct and incremental, are capitalinetil the application is substantially completelan
ready for its intended use. Because the Compairigmvesl the majority of its development efforts aategorized in operation stage (post-
implementation), no costs have been capitalizethte. These costs are included in the accompaisyatgments of operations as research and
development expense.

Advertising Expenses

The Company expenses advertising costs as incubrgihg the years ended December 31, 2011, 201D2@69, the Company incurred
approximately $25.1 million, $23.6 million, and $&0nillion of advertising expense, respectivelyjethis included in sales and marketing expense in
the accompanying statements of operations.

Accounts Receivable

Accounts receivable are recorded at the invoiceduarin The allowance for doubtful accounts is thenBany’s best estimate of the amount of
probable credit losses in the Company’s existirgpants receivable. The Company specifically anayustorical bad debts, the aging of the accounts
receivable, creditworthiness, and current econdreinds, to evaluate the allowance for doubtful aot®. Past due balances are reviewed individually
for collectability. Account balances are chargeidagfinst the allowance after all means of coltectiave been exhausted, and the potential for
recovery is considered remote.
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Carbonite, Inc.

Income Taxes

The Company provides for income taxes under thmlitla method. Deferred tax assets and liabilies determined based on differences
between financial reporting and tax bases of agsetdiabilities and are measured using the endatetates in effect when the differences are
expected to reverse. Deferred tax assets are reédhyca valuation allowance to reflect the uncetia@ssociated with their ultimate realization.

The Company accounts for uncertain tax positionsgeized in the consolidated financial statemeptpriescribing a more-likely-than-not
threshold for financial statement recognition arehsurement of a tax position taken or expectee taken in a tax return.

Comprehensive Income (Loss)

All components of comprehensive income (loss) agelired to be disclosed in the consolidated firelrstatements. Comprehensive income
(loss) is defined as the change in equity of armssi enterprise during a period from transactiand,other events and circumstances from nonowner
sources. Accumulated other comprehensive incomsistsrof foreign currency translation adjustmemis anrealized gains or losses on available-for-
sale investments for all periods.

Segment Information

Operating segments are defined as componentseritarprise engaging in business activities for Widiscrete financial information is availa
and regularly reviewed by the chief operating deoisnaker in deciding how to allocate resourcesiarassessing performance. The Company views
its operations and manages its business in onatipgisegment. The Company does not disclose geoigranformation for revenue and long-lived
assets as revenue and long-lived assets locatedietite United States do not exceed 10% of tetednue and total assets.

Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation

Stock-based compensation is recognized as an expetise financial statements based on the graetfda value of the stock awards granted.
For awards that vest based on service conditibesCbmpany uses the straight-line method to akocaipensation expense to reporting periods over
the requisite service period. The grant date falue of options granted is calculated using theBl&choles option-pricing model, which requires the
use of subjective assumptions including volatiléypected term and the fair value of the underlgiognmon stock, among others.

Recently Issued and Adopted Accounting Standards

In June 2011, the FASB issued new accounting gaian the presentation of comprehensive incomeadige companies with two options for
presenting comprehensive income. Companies capmirdee total of comprehensive income, the compizngfmet income, and the components of
other comprehensive income either in a single oootis statement of comprehensive income or in gparmte but consecutive statements. This
guidance eliminates the option to present the corapis of other comprehensive income as part oftdtement of changes in stockholders’ equity.
This guidance was effective for the Company on danll, 2012. As the new guidance relates only te bomprehensive income is disclosed and does
not change the items that must be reported as @rapsive income, the Company does not believahbatdoption of this standard will have a
material impact on its financial position or resulf operations.

In September 2011, the FASB issued ASU No. 2011F88ting Goodwill for Impairment (the revised startja The revised standard is
intended to reduce the cost and complexity of threual goodwill impairment test by providing entitian option to perform a “qualitative” assessment
to determine whether further impairment testingasessary. The revised standard was effectivdhé@€Company on January 1, 2012. The
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Company does not believe that the adoption ofahiendment will have a material impact on the Comisdimancial position or results of operations.

3. Net Loss per Share

The Company calculates basic and diluted net lessipare of common stock by dividing the net lajssted for the dividend on the redeem:
convertible preferred stock by the weighted averagaber of shares of common stock outstanding duhia period. The Company has excluded
(a) all unvested restricted shares of common steakare subject to repurchase and (b) the Compantlger potentially dilutive shares, which include
redeemable and convertible preferred stock, a wafoa redeemable convertible preferred stock, @mstanding options to purchase common stock,
from the weighted average number of shares of camstuck outstanding as their inclusion in the cotapon for all periods would be anti-dilutive
due to net losses. The Company’s redeemable aneitidrle preferred stock are participating secesiis defined by ASC 260-1Barnings Per
Share, but are excluded from the earnings per shareiledion as they do not have an obligation to sivatee Company’s net losses.

The Company’s net loss per share is calculatedlmsvs (in thousands, except per share data):

2011 2010 2009
Net loss $(23,53¢) $(25,767) $(19,22%)
Accretion of redeemable convertible preferred s! (12€) (210) (210
Net loss attributable to common stockholc $(23,66¢) $(25,977) $(19,43H
Weightec-average number of shares of common stock, basidianed 12,84: 4,39¢ 4,06t
Net loss per share attributable to common stocldre|dasic and dilute $ (1.89) $ (5.90 $ (479

The following potentially dilutive shares of commstock have been excluded from the computatiorilofedi weighted-average shares
outstanding as of December 31, 2011, 2010, and @88@9ey would be anti-dilutive (in thousands):

Years Ended December 31

2011 2010 2009
Redeemable and convertible preferred stock — 13,48: 13,41¢
Options to purchase common stc 2,867 2,47  2,59¢
Restricted shares of common st¢ 9 27 47
Warrant 11 11 11
Total 2,887 15,99: 16,07«

4, Short-term Investments and Fair Value of Finanal Instruments

At December 31, 2011, the Company'’s short-termstments consisted of marketable securities witturitégts within one year as follows (in
thousands):

Gross Gross
Amortizec Unrealizec Unrealize« Estimatec
Fair
December 31, 201 Cost Gains Losses Value
U.S. government agency securities $12,68¢ — $ (2 $12,68¢
Total $12,68¢ — $ (2 $12,68¢
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At December 31, 2010, the Company'’s short-termstments consisted of a bank issued certificateepbdit.

The Company applies the guidance in ASC &0 Value Measurements and DisclosurésASC 820"),which provides that fair value is bas
on the price that would be received to sell antamspaid to transfer a liability in an orderly missaction between market participants at the measaunt
date. In order to increase consistency and compityab fair value measurements, ASC 820 estaldssh fair value hierarchy that prioritizes
observable and unobservable inputs used to metsuralue into three broad levels, which are dibsct below:

Level 1: Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active marketsamaticcessible at the measurement date for asdetbilities. The fair value hierarchy
gives the highest priority to Level 1 inputs.

Level 2: Other inputs that are observable directly or iaclity, such as quoted prices for similar assetdiabdities or market corroborated
inputs.

Level 3: Unobservable inputs are used when little or noketadata is available, which requires the Compargetvelop its own assumptions
about how market participants would value the gsseliabilities. The fair value hierarchy giveg tlowest priority to Level 3 inputs.

In determining fair value, the Company utilizesuatlon technigues that maximize the use of obsésvaputs and minimize the use of
unobservable inputs to the extent possible indsessment of fair value.

The Company’s assets and liabilities that are nredsat fair value on a recurring basis, by levethin the fair value hierarchy are summarized
as follows (in thousands):

December 31, 201 December 31, 201/
Level 1 Level 2 Level 2 Total Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
Assets:
Cash equivaleni— money market fund $40,94: — — $40,94: — — — —
Shor-term investment— U.S. agency securitie — 12,68 — 12,68 — — — —
Shor-term investment— bank certificate of depos — — — — — $10,00( — $10,00(
Total $40,94: $12,68:¢ — $53,627 — $10,00( — $10,00(

Refer to Note 8 for Preferred Stock warrant lidpili

5. Acquisition, Goodwill, and Acquired Intangible Assets

In June 2011, the Company acquired substantidllyf dhe assets of Phanfare, Inc., for $1.9 millinat of cash acquired, and the assumption of
certain liabilities. Phanfare’s service enablegsite create, maintain, and share online photovadeb albums. The Company maintains the former
service, employees, and office location of Phanfare

The results of operations for the acquisition hlaeen included in the Company’s operations sincel#te of acquisition and were not material
for the periods presented.
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The acquisition of Phanfare has been accounteasfarpurchase of a business and, accordinglypthlepurchase price has been allocated to the
tangible and identifiable intangible assets acquaed the net liabilities assumed based on thepeetive fair values on the acquisition date. Assailf
of the acquisition of Phanfare, the Company reabgtodwill in the amount of $1.5 million and iddiable intangible assets of $1.2 million. These
identified intangible assets will be amortized ostraight-line basis over their estimated usefiddi

As of December 31, 2011, purchased intangible sassgtsist of the following (in thousands):

Gross Net
Carrying Accumulated Carrying
Estimated
Useful Life Value Amortization Value
Developed technology 5 year. $ 88C $ 102 77¢
Customer relationshif 3 year 18C 35 14E
Non-Compete agreemer 5 year: 15C 18 132
$1,21( $ 15E $1,05¢

The Company recorded amortization expense of $@l@dmfor the year ended December 31, 2011 andruestimated amortization expense of
acquired intangibles is as follows (in thousands):

2012 $ 26€
2013 26¢€
2014 231
2015 20¢€
2016 86

$1,05¢

6. Property and Equipment
Property and equipment consists of the followin@atember 31, 2011 and 2010 (in thousands):

December 31

2011 2010
Computer equipmer $ 36,63 $24,42(
Software 1,23¢ 65C
Furniture and fixture 512 30z
Leasehold improvemen 80C 277

Total property and equipme 39,18¢ 25,64¢
Less accumulated depreciati (17,536 (9,83))
Property and equipment, r $ 21,64¢ $15,81¢

Depreciation expenses were $7.7 million, $5.1 omilliand $3.0 million for the years ended Decemfie2811, 2010, and 2009, respectively.

7. Accrued Expenses
Accrued expenses consist of the following (in tfaonds):

December 31

2011 2010
Accrued compensation $2,70¢ $1,501
Accrued media sper 1,22z 1,41(
Accrued other expens 1,07( 1,03¢

Total accrued expens $4,99¢ $3,947
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8. Redeemable and Convertible Preferred Stock andt&kholders’ Equity (Deficit)
Initial Public Offering

In August 2011, the Company closed its initial peibfffering (“IPO”) of 7,187,500 shares of commdack at a price of $10.00 per share,
including 937,500 shares of common stock pursuaakercise of the underwriters’ option to purchadeitional shares. Of the total shares of common
stock sold in the IPO, 6,303,973 shares were spltid Company and 883,527 were sold by sellingkstolciers. The Company received aggregate
proceeds of $58.6 million, net of underwriters’adiants and commissions, but before deducting offfeeixpenses of approximately $3.0 million. Upon
the closing of the IPO, the Company’s outstandimgyas of redeemable and convertible preferred t&tlkferred Stock”) converted into 13,483,473
shares of common stock and all outstanding wartansirchase Preferred Stock converted into wasranpurchase 11,316 shares of common stock.
Also simultaneously with the closing of the IPCg thompanys charter was amended and restated to authori@@@Bp0 shares of common stock,
value $0.01 per share, and 6,000,000 shares arpedfstock, par value $0.01 per share, all of whieferred stock is undesignated.

Stock Split

In December 2009, the Board of Directors and stadeins approved a 3 for 1 stock split of the Conyfmnommon stock. As a result of this
action, every share of common stock (includingaathorized, issued and outstanding shares of constoek and all outstanding warrants and options
to purchase shares of common stock) was splitthree shares of common stock bearing the samegbae \All of the Company’s authorized, issued,
and outstanding shares of common stock (includinguastanding warrants and options to purchaseeshaf common stock) since inception, have
been restated in these financial statements teatetthe effect of the common stock split.

Redeemable and Convertible Preferred Stock

Prior to the Company’s IPO, at which time all sisané Preferred Stock were converted into shareswifmon stock, the Company’s Preferred
Stock consisted of the following (in thousands,eptcshare and per share amounts):

December 31

2010
Redeemable convertible preferred stc
Series A-2, $0.01 par value; 506,646 shares auttnbrb02,874 shares issued and outstanding, ahpeid® value
(liquidation value of approximately $4.4 millio $ 4,40¢

Convertible preferred stoc
Series A, $0.01 par value; 421,210 shares authiriggued, and outstanding (liquidation value gfragimately

$2.4 million) $ 1,797
Series /-1, $0.01 par value; 194,319 shares authorizededssaand outstanding (liquidation value of approxiha

$1.1 million) 81F
Series B, $0.01 par value; 1,259,319 shares aattrissued, and outstanding (liquidation valuapgroximately

$18.6 million) 15,20(
Series -2, $0.01 par value; 395,100 shares authorized 68@80 shares issued and outstanding (liquidatimevof

approximately $6.4 million 5,401
Series C, $0.01 par value; 1,206,802 shares aa#tbend 1,162,579 shares issued and outstandijjuip@tion value of

approximately $24.2 million 21,19«
Series D, $0.01 par value; 585,790 shares authtbamd 563,822 and 585,790 shares issued and alitgja(fiquidation

value of approximately $21.2 milliol 19,92:

$ 64,32¢
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Prior to the Company’s IPO and the related conwersf all shares of Preferred Stock into sharesoaimon stock, the rights, privileges, and
preferences of the Preferred Stock were as follows:

Dividends

The holders of Preferred Stock were entitled teireg; out of funds lawfully available, dividendshen, as and if they were declared by the
Board, at an annual rate per share, without comgiagnequal to 6% of the original purchase priceid2nds accrued, whether or not declared, and
were cumulative and payable upon the occurreneeligbiidation event for all Preferred Stock, ashaslupon redemption for Series A-2. Therefore,
dividends were accreted on the Series A-2 suchitthats presented at redemption value. No dividemei® declared through the date on which the
Preferred Stock was converted into common stock.

Redemption

Holders of Series A-2 could have elected to haeé $hares redeemed at any time after Decemb&032, upon written request to the
Company. The redemption amount would have beeprigaal issue price, plus any accrued but unpaittldnds. Dividends were accreted on Series
A-2 such that it was presented at redemption valpen conversion of the Series A-2 to common stafllaccrued dividends were reversed through
accumulated deficit.

Additional Rights, Preferences, and Privileges

In addition to those rights described above andéfestration rights described below, the holdéihe Company’s Preferred Stock had certain
voting rights, liquidation preferences, and coni@rgrivileges. All rights, preferences and prigés associated with the Preferred Stock, otherttie
registration rights described below, were termidatethe time of the Company’s IPO in conjunctiathwhe conversion of all outstanding shares of
Preferred Stock into shares of common stock.

Registration Rights

Pursuant to an investors’ rights agreement, thddrslof the Company’s common stock that resultech fthe conversion of the Preferred Stock
have certain registration rights. The holders hheeright to demand that the Company register sheles of common stock pursuant to the Securities
Act of 1933, as amended. Subject to certain linaitet, the Company shall bear the fees, costs aoenses of such registration, other than underwy
discounts and commissions. The Company is not redud settle such registration rights by delivetyegistered shares or by a net cash settlement.

Warrants

In October 2006, in connection with a commercia lof credit, the Company issued a warrant to mselshares of Series A-2, which, at the
time of the Company’s IPO, was converted into aramrto purchase 11,316 shares of common stoclpate of $2.32 per share (the “Warrant”). The
Warrant is exercisable at any time through exmraih October 2013. The Company valued the Waahtite date of grant at $18 thousand, and
recorded the fair value of the Warrant as a chtygeterest expense. The Company remeasured thealaie of the Warrant each reporting period in
accordance with the provisions of ASC 4Bstinguishing Liabilities from Equityresulting in a fair value of $82 thousand as of @weber 31, 2010,
which was recorded in other long-term liabilitiés.the time of conversion of the Warrant in conitiwith the Company’s IPO, the fair value of the
Warrant was $74 thousand, which was reclassifiesl @smponent of additional paid-in capital. No fmrtof the Warrant has been exercised as of
December 31, 2011.
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9. Stock-based Awards

The Company’s 2005 Stock Incentive Plan (the “2BGf") provided for granting of incentive stock igpis, non-qualified options, restricted
stock, or other awards to the Company’s employaffisers, directors, and outside consultants ugri@ggregate of 3,601,551 shares of the Company’
common stock. In conjunction with the effectivenetthe 2011 Equity Award Plan (the “2011 Planie Board of Directors voted that no further
stock options or other equity-based awards woulgrbated under the 2005 Plan.

In 2011, the Company’s Board of Directors and shoddters adopted the 2011 Plan, which became efeectincurrently with the consummation
of the Company’s IPO on August 11, 2011. The 20iah Provides for the issuance of stock optiondyiaed stock, and other stock-based awards to
the employees, officers, directors, and consultahtse Company or its subsidiaries. In connectidth the approval of the plan, the Company rese
1,662,000 shares of common stock for issuance uhde2011 Plan. On Januarytl of each year, begjrorindanuary 1, 2012, the number of shares
reserved under the 2011 Plan will increase byehsedr of 1,500,000 shares, 4.0% of the outstarstiages of common stock and common stock
equivalents, or another amount determined by thegamy’s Board of Directors.

As of December 31, 2011, 794,800 shares of comnuomk svere available for future grant under the 2014dn.

Share-based compensation is reflected in the cidiasedl statement of operations as follows for thary ended December 31, 2011, 2010, and
2009 (in thousands):

Years Ended December 31

2011 2010 2009
Cost of revenues $ 207 $ 45 $ 35
Research and developmt 511 171 88
General and administratiy 34¢€ 227 18¢€
Sales and marketir 381 99 79

$1,44¢ $542 $39C

Stock Options

Stock options granted to employees generally vest a three- or four-year period, and expire tearyérom the date of grant. Certain option
awards provide for accelerated vesting if ther@ ¢hange of control, as defined in the 2005 Pla20dd Plan, as applicable. The Company has
generally granted stock options at exercise prictdess than the fair market value of its commtoclson the date of grant.

The Company records compensation expense relastddk options based on the estimated fair valubettock option on the date of grant
amortized over the service periods for the indigldawards, which generally equals the vesting pstidhe Company uses the straight-line
amortization method for recognizing stock-basedpensation expenses.

Determining the appropriate fair value model anldudating the fair value of stock-based paymentraaaequire the use of highly subjective
estimates and assumptions, including the estinfatedalue of the Compang’common stock. Following its IPO, the Company ubsedjuoted mark:
price of its common stock to establish fair valti¢he common stock underlying stock options. Ptiothe IPO, because there was no public marke
the Company’s common stock, the Company’s Boaidictors determined the fair value of the Comparggmmon stock with input from
management, based on the report of an unrelatetighity valuation specialist.
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The Company estimates the fair value of stock ogtion the date of grant using the Black-Scholemoyiricing model, which further requires the use
of highly subjective estimates and assumptionsdudicg expected stock price volatility, expectedrtef an award, risk-free interest rate, and exgubct
dividend yield.

The assumptions used to estimate the fair valdleeo$tock options using the Black-Scholes optidoipg model were as follows for the years
ended December 31, 2011, 2010, and 2009:

Years Ended December 31

2011 2010 2009
Weighted-average fair value of common stock $12.20 $7.32 $2.08
Risk-free interest rat 2.12% to 2.4% 1.45% to 3.04% 2.09% to 3.04%
Expected dividend yiel —% —% —%
Expected volatility 53% to 62% 61% to 64% 70% to 74%
Expected term (in year 5.8t06.1 6.1 5t06.1

Risk-Free Interest Rate

The Company bases the risk-free interest ratetthaes in the option valuation model on U.S. Tueagero-coupon issues with remaining
maturities similar to the expected term of the @i

Expected Dividend Yie

The Company has not paid, and does not anticigatim@, cash dividends on shares of common stoekefore, the expected dividend yield is
assumed to be zero in the option valuation model.

Expected Volatility

Until the Company'’s IPO, as there had been no pubérket for the Company’s common stock, the Compkatermined the volatility for
options granted based on an analysis of reportedfdaa peer group of companies that issued optigith substantially similar terms. Beginning &
time of the Company’s IPO, the expected volatitifyoptions granted has been determined using a ioatidn of the historical volatility measures of
this peer group of companies for a period equéthécexpected term of the option.

Expected Terr

The Company has limited historical information &vdlop reasonable expectations about future exepeigerns and post-vesting employment
termination behavior for its stock option grants. @result, for stock option grants made duringytees ended December 31, 2011, 2010, and 20(
expected term was estimated using the “simplifiedhrod.” The simplified method is based on the ayewef the vesting tranches and the contractual
life of each grant.

Forfeitures

The Company is required to estimate forfeiturehatiime of grant, and revise those estimateshisesguent periods if actual forfeitures differ
from those estimates. The Company uses historatal td estimate pre-vesting option forfeitures, @ubrds stock-based compensation expense only
for those awards that are expected to vest.
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The following table summarizes stock option acyivinder the 2005 and 2011 Plans:

Weighted-
Weighted- Average
Remaining
Average Contractual Aggregate
Exercise Intrinsic
Number of Price Life Value
Shares per Share (in years) (in thousands) (2
Outstanding at December 31, 2010 2,472 .84 $ 211 7.1E $ 22,22
Grantec 1,269,55! $ 12.1¢
Exercisec (825,307 $ 1.2C
Cancelec (49,786 $ 6.3C
Outstanding at December 31, 2( 2,867,31 $ 6.74 8.41 $ 12,49:
Exercisable at December 31, 2( 909,16: $ 211 6.8¢ $ 8,16¢
Vested and expected to vest at December 31, 20 2,867,31! $ 6.74 8.41 $ 12,49:

(1) Represents the number of vested stock optisré Becember 31, 2011, plus the number of unvesttak options expected to vest as of
December 31, 2011, based on the unvested stoangpiiitstanding at December 31, 2011, adjusteestimated forfeitures

(2) The aggregate intrinsic value is calculatethagositive difference between the exercise mfdbe underlying stock options and the fair value
of the Compan’s common stock on December 31, 2010 and markeg dlthe of the Compa’s common stock on December 31, 2C

The weighted-average grant date fair value of ogtigranted to employees during the years endednilere31, 2011, 2010, and 2009 was
$6.47, $4.68, and $2.08 per share, respectively.tdtal intrinsic value of options exercised durihg years ended December 31, 2011, 2010, and
was approximately $8.0 million, $1.2 million, and.$ million, respectively.

At December 31, 2011 and 2010, there were apprdgign&9.4 million and $2.9 million of unrecognizstbck-based compensation cost, net of
estimated forfeitures, respectively, related toasted stock options which is expected to be reeegnover a weighted-average period of 2.96 and
3.48 years, respectively. The total unrecognizedksbased compensation cost will be adjusted firéuchanges in estimated forfeitures.

Incentive Unit Agreements

In 2011, the Company'’s Board of Directors adophterlihcentive Unit Plan, which provides up to anraggte of 60,000 incentive units (“Uni}s”
to certain employees of its subsidiary in Chinafford these employees the benefit of any appiieciat the value of the Company. The Units have a
five year term and vest upon a performance comitichich has been satisfied, and a service peffiog ¢o four years. Upon vesting, the recipients of
Units are entitled to a cash bonus based on thereiifce between the fair value of the Company’sksémd the base value set forth in their respective
Incentive Units Agreements. As of December 31, 2@P]250 Units are outstanding with a weighted agerbase value of $8.58. These outstanding
Units are being accounted for as liability awardd the liability for such awards was $0.1 millianDecember 31, 2011. In January 2012, the Board of
Directors determined to cease to issue any fugherts pursuant to the Incentive Unit Plan.

Restricted Stock

In 2009, the Company sold an aggregate of 72,08festof common stock at the fair value of $1.31share to non-employee members of the
Board of Directors under restricted stock agreemanaccordance with the terms of the Company’sZ8an. During 2009, due to the departure of
one board member, 18,000 of these shares wereatéorf&@ he restricted stock vests ratably over tlyesa's from the grant date. In the event that a
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member of the Board of Directors ceases to sermb®Companys Board of Directors for any reason, with or withoause, the Company has the r
to repurchase some or all of the unvested shatbe dir values on the dates of issuance.

The fair value of the restricted shares is basetherfair value of the Company’s common stock andhte of grant. Stock-based compensation
expense related to restricted shares is recogpizedstraight-line basis over the requisite serpgmgod. There are no performance-based measures.

Unvested share activity for the year ended Dece®bgp011 is presented below:

Weighted-
Average Grant

Date Fair Value

Shares per Share
Unvested shares outstanding at December 31, 2010 27,00( 0.0C
Grantec — —
Vested (18,000 0.0C
Forfeited — —
Unvested shares outstanding at December 31, 9,00( $ 0.0C

10. Income Taxes
The domestic and foreign components of loss beforeision for income taxes were as follows (in thaunds):

Years Ended December 31

2011 2010 2009

Domestic $(22,567) $(25,66¢) $(19,22%)

Foreign (957) (97) —
Total $(23,519 $(25,767) $(19,22Y)

A reconciliation of income taxes computed usingth8. federal statutory rate to that reflectedperations follows:

Year Ended December 31

2011 2010 2009
Expected income tax benefit using U.S. federalittay rate 34.(% 34.(% 34.(%
Change in the valuation allowan (32.9 (33.9) (33.9)
Other (€3] (0.7 (0.7
(0.1)% 0.C% 0.C%
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Components of the Company’s deferred tax assettiabilities are as follows (in thousands):

2011 2010
Net operating loss carryforwar $ 34,41 $ 28,69:
Research and development tax credit carryforw 2,39t 1,38¢
Deferred revenu 3,97( 1,78k
Depreciatior (87¢) (811
Other 22¢ 18¢
Net deferred tax asse 40,12 31,24«
Deferred tax asset valuation allowal (40,140 (31,249
Net deferred tax liability $§ (23 $§ —

For the year ended December 31, 2011, the Compmayded a tax provision of $23 thousand relatadx@mortization of goodwill. The
Company did not provide for income taxes in thergeaded December 31, 2010 and 2009 due to nefslo&s of December 31, 2011, the Company
had U.S. federal, state, and foreign net operdtisg carryforwards of $89.0 million, $83.9 milliamd $1.0 million, respectively. Included in the
federal net operating loss carryforward is $1.8iamlthat relates to excess tax deductions fromesbased payments, the tax benefit of which will be
recorded as an increase in additional paid-in abpibhen the deductions reduce current taxes payAblef December 31, 2010, the Company had
federal and state net operating loss carryforwafdpproximately $72.6 million and $72.4 milliomspectively. The federal net operating loss
carryforwards will expire at various dates begimgnim the year 2026 through 2032. State net opeyddiss carryforwards will expire at various dates
beginning in 2012 through 2017. At December 31,128d 2010, the Company had approximately $2.4aniind $1.4 million, respectively, of
federal and state research and development tak ceed/forwards available to reduce future incaees payable, which will expire at various dates
beginning in the year 2023 through 2032.

Management of the Company has evaluated the pesitid negative evidence bearing upon the realizabflits deferred tax assets. As requi
by the provisions of ASC 740, management has détedrthat it is more-likely-than-not that the Compavill not utilize the benefits of federal and
state deferred tax assets for financial reportimgppses. Accordingly, the deferred tax assets baea fully reserved at December 31, 2011 and 2010.
The valuation allowance increased approximatel® $@llion and $10.1 million during the years end@etember 31, 2011 and 2010, respectively, due
primarily to the increase in the net operating lcassyforwards and research and development taditsre

Future changes in Company ownership may limit theunt of net operating loss carryforwards and meseand development credit
carryforwards that can be utilized annually to effuture taxable income and taxes, respectivalgeneral, an ownership change, as defined by
Section 382 of the Internal Revenue Code of 198@&naended, results from transactions increasingwmership of certain shareholders or public
groups in the stock of a corporation by more thapé&rcentage points over a three-year period. Tdmpany performed an analysis of its changes in
ownership through December 31, 2011 and has adjitsteet operating loss carryforwards and reseanchdevelopment credit carryforwards to
reflect the current usage limitations.

The Companyg reserves related to taxes and its accountingrfoertain tax positions are based on a determmafievhether and how much o
tax benefit taken by the Company in its tax filirgpositions is more-likely-than-not to be
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realized following resolution of any potential cimgencies present related to the tax benefit. ABexfember 31, 2011 and 2010, the Company had no
unrecognized tax benefits.

The Company will recognize interest and penalti#ated to uncertain tax positions in income taxemge. As of December 31, 2011, the
Company had no accrued interest or penalties tetatancertain tax positions and no amounts haee becognized in the Company’s consolidated
statements of operations.

The statute of limitations for assessment by theriral Revenue Service (“IRS”) and state tax adutilesris open for tax years ending
December 31, 2008, 2009, 2010, and 2011, althoaghforward attributes that were generated pridatoyear 2008 may still be adjusted upon
examination by the IRS or state tax authoritigbéfy either have been or will be used in a futmeqal. There are currently no federal or statetatidi
progress.

11. Commitments and Contingencies
Operating Leases

The Company leases various facilities under letisisexpire at varying dates through 2016. Cenhilese leases contain renewal options, and
require the Company to pay operating costs, inolygroperty taxes, insurance, and maintenance.

The Company has lease agreements to rent offiae $pdBoston, Massachusetts (corporate headqueliensston, Maine, Princeton, New
Jersey, and Beijing, China, expiring in 2016 otiearThe Company has lease agreements to rencdatar space in Boston, Massachusetts,
Wakefield, Massachusetts and Phoenix, Arizona,rexpin 2016 or earlier. The terms of the sevefdahese leases include escalating rent and fret
periods. Accordingly, the Company recorded a deterent liabilityrelated to the free rent and escalating rent paysraamd rent is being recognized
a straight-line basis over the terms of the leaseBecember 31, 2011 and 2010, $0.4 million an® $0illion, respectively, are included in accrued
expenses and other long-term liabilities relatetheéodeferred rent.

The Company also maintains a hosting service ageaewith a third-party data center vendor thauisject to annual renewal and a 120 day
cancellation right.

Future non-cancellable minimum lease payments ualtieperating leases as of December 31, 2011asfellows (in thousands):

Data
Office Center

Years Ended December 31 Leases Leases Total
2012 $1,23¢ $1,93: $ 3,16¢
2013 1,531 1,80z 3,33:
2014 1,27¢ 1,34( 2,61¢
2015 1,36¢ 1,221 2,58¢
2016 1,40¢ 63 1,471

$6,82( $6,35¢ $13,17¢
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Other Non-cancellable Commitments

As of December 31, 2011, the Company had non-cablgetommitments of $5.1 million payable in 20212 0.7 million payable in 2013, and
$0.3 million payable in 2014, primarily consistiofmarketing and technology services contracts.

Litigation

In August 2010, Oasis Research, LLC (“Oasis Re®&pfited a lawsuit against the Company and marheotompanies in the U.S. District
Court for the Eastern District of Texas, allegingth respect to the Company, that the Company’seriyackup storage services infringe four patents
held by Oasis Research. Oasis Research seeks ehfawdamages in an unspecified amount. The Compapects that a trial date will be set for late
2012 or early 2013. Neither the ultimate outcoméhisf litigation nor an estimate of a probable losany reasonably possible losses can be assat
this time. The Company intends to defend itselbvigisly.

In the ordinary course of business the Companyglved in litigation incidental to its businessitever, the Company’s management is not
aware of any pending legal proceeding or other ¢osdingency, whether asserted or unasserted tiaifethe Company for which it might become
liable or the outcome of which management expectatve a material impact on the Company.

12. Retirement Plan

The Company has a 401(k) defined contribution sgsvjplan for its employees who meet certain employratatus and age requirements. The
plan allows participants to defer a portion of tteinual compensation on a pre-tax basis. The Coynghid not contribute to this plan for the years
ended December 31, 2011, 2010, and 2009. Effedtimaary 1, 2012, the Company has elected to maiaehing contribution of up to 4% of each
employee’s wages.

13. Related Party Transactions

One investor in certain of the Company’s perfestxtk financings is also the Company’s Assistart&ary and primary outside legal counsel.
Legal fees paid to this firm totaled $4.2 milli®1,.1 million and $0.5 million for the years endeed@mber 31, 2011, 2010, and 2009, respectively. At
December 31, 2011 and 2010, the Company had odistapayables and accruals to the legal firm of $illion and $0.5 million, respectively.

In December 2011, in connection with an employéiize€ exercise of stock options, the Company teedi$0.1 million on such
employee/affiliate’s behalf for payroll taxes. TBempany was reimbursed in full in January 2012.

14. Revolving Credit Facility

The Company maintains a revolving line of credithwa bank pursuant to which the Company may boupwo $15 million through August 31,
2012. Advances under the line of credit bear irsteve the outstanding daily balance, at an anratalequal to the lender’s prime reference rate plus
1%. The Company has pledged its accounts receivadplepment, and shares of its subsidiaries tdethéer to secure its obligations under the credit
facility, and has also agreed not to grant a sgcinierest in or pledge its intellectual propewyany third party. The credit facility containsstomary
events of default, conditions to borrowings andrietive covenants, including restrictions on thengpany'’s ability to dispose of assets, make
acquisitions, incur additional debt, incur liengka distributions to stockholders, make investmesrtenter into certain types of
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related party transactions. The credit facilityoalscludes financial and other covenants includingenants to maintain a minimum adjusted net worth,
a minimum number of total subscribers, and a mimnoash deposit with the bank. To date, the Compasynot borrowed any amounts under this
$15 million revolving line of credit.

15. Quarterly information (Unaudited)
Quarterly results of operations are as followgliimusands, except per share amounts):

For the three months ended

March 31, March 31,
Dec. 31, Sept. 30, June 30, Dec. 31, Sept. 30, June 30,
2011 2011 2011 2011 2010 2010 2010 2010

Statements of
Operations Data:
Revenue $17,34:  $15,92¢ $14,39¢ $12,84: $11,55¢ $10,32: $9,06: $ 7,63-
Gross profit 10,56 9,817 8,75: 8,17¢ 6,98 6,061 5,09z 4,144
Loss from operation (6,107 (7,43%) (4,6672) (5,359 (4,967) (6,695) (5,9472) (8,297)
Net loss (6,13)) (7,416 (4,657) (5,337) (4,997 (6,65¢) (5,899 (8,219
Basic and Diluted net loss per sh $ (02H) $ (047) $ (099 $ (109 $ (115 $ (15 $(13H) $ (1.9

ITEM 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTAN TS ON ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE
None.

ITEM 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES
Disclosure Controls and Procedures

Our management, with the participation of our Clirécutive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, &wated the effectiveness of our disclosure
controls and procedures as of December 31, 2014 t8rim “disclosure controls and procedures,” amddfin Rules 13a-15(e) and 138¢e) under th
Exchange Act, means controls and other proceddr@sompany that are designed to ensure that irdtiom required to be disclosed by a company in
the reports that it files or submits under the Exade Act is recorded, processed, summarized andteepwithin the time periods specified in the
Securities and Exchange Commission’s rules andgoBisclosure controls and procedures include,awithimitation, controls and procedures
designed to ensure that information required tdibelosed by a company in the reports that it flesubmits under the Exchange Act is accumulated
and communicated to the company’s management,dimguts principal executive and principal finana#ficers, as appropriate to allow timely
decisions regarding required disclosure. Managemegaignizes that any controls and procedures, ritenfeow well designed and operated, can
provide only reasonable assurance of achieving thigéctives and management necessarily appligsdggnent in evaluating the cost-benefit
relationship of possible controls and proceduresefl on the evaluation of our disclosure contnatsgrocedures as of December 31, 2011, our Chief
Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer comgéd that, as of such date, our disclosure contiradsprocedures were effective at the reasonable
assurance level.
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Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reportirng

There was no change in our internal control ovgairicial reporting identified in connection with tiealuation required by Rule 13a-15(d) and
15d-15(d) of the Exchange Act that occurred dutivgperiod covered by this Annual Report on ForrKltBat has materially affected, or is
reasonably likely to materially affect, our intereantrol over financial reporting.

Management’s Annual Report on Internal Control Over Financing Reporting

This Annual Report on Form 10-K does not includegort of management’s assessment regarding ihteong&ol over financial reporting or an
attestation report of the company’s registeredipudscounting firm due to a transition period ebslied by rules of the Securities and Exchange
Commission for newly public companies.

ITEM 9B. OTHER INFORMATION
None.

PART Il

ITEM 10. DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORAT E GOVERNANCE

The information required by this item will be coimeed in our definitive proxy statement to be filwdh the Securities and Exchange Commis
in connection with our 2012 annual meeting of stmdélers (the “Proxy Statement”), which is expedtee filed not later than 120 days after the end
of our fiscal year ended December 31, 2011, amtrporated in this Annual Report on Form 10-Krbference.

We have adopted a Code of Business Conduct andsBtiat applies to all of our directors, officersl@mployees, including our principal
executive officer and principal financial officdhe Code of Business Conduct and Ethics is postezliowebsite at
http://investor.carbonite.com/governance.cfm.

We intend to satisfy the disclosure requirementeutigem 5.05 of Form & regarding an amendment to, or waiver from, a {sion of this Codt
of Business Conduct and Ethics by posting suclhrimédion on our website, at the address and locatiecified above and, to the extent required by
the listing standards of The NASDAQ Stock Markstfiing a Current Report on Form 8-K with the SE{sclosing such information.

ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION
The information required by this item will be setth in the Proxy Statement and is incorporate@ihdry reference.

ITEM 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL O WNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND RELATED STOCKHOLDER
MATTERS

The information required by this item will be setth in the Proxy Statement and is incorporateeinhdry reference.

73



Table of Contents

ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACT IONS, AND DIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE
The information, if any, required by this item wik set forth in the Proxy Statement and is incafeal herein by reference.

ITEM 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTANT FEES AND SERVICES
The information required by this item will be setth in the Proxy Statement and is incorporate@ihdry reference.

PART IV

ITEM 15. EXHIBITS AND FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES
(a)(1) Financial Statements

See Index to Consolidated Financial Statementsage pO0 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K, whicinisorporated into this Item by
reference.
(a)(3) Exhibits

See Exhibit Index to this Annual Report on FormKLQw~hich is incorporated into this Item by referenEach management contract or
compensatory plan or arrangement required to bd fiks been identified.
(b) Exhibits

See Exhibit Index to this Annual Report on FormKLGxhich is incorporated into this Item by referenc

(c) Financial Statement Schedules

All financial statement schedules are omitted bsedhbey are not applicable or the required infolonas shown in the financial statements or
notes thereto.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 1&{the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the regigthas duly caused this report to be signed
on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duth@nized.

CARBONITE, INC.

Dated: March 7, 2012 By: /s/ David Frienc
David Friend
Chief Executive Office

POWER OF ATTORNEY

KNOW ALL PERSONS BY THESE PRESENTS, that each persbose signature appears below constitutes amirgpavid Friend and
Andrew P. Keenan, jointly and severally, as hib@rtrue and lawful attorneys-in-fact and agenith full power of substitution and resubstitutidar
him or her and in his or her name, place and siaahy and all capacities, to sign this Annual &epn Form 10-K of Carbonite, Inc., and any or all
amendments thereto, and to file the same, withxdlibits thereto, and other documents in connedhierewith, with the Securities and Exchange
Commission, granting unto said attorneys-in-fact agents full power and authority to do and perfeanh and every act and thing requisite or
necessary to be done in and about the premiselyhetifying and confirming all that said attornepsfact and agents, or his, her, or their substitu
substitutes, may lawfully do or cause to be dongitiye hereof.

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities &xga Act of 1934, this report has been signed &éydtowing persons on behalf of the
registrant in the capacities and on the dates ekt

Signature Title Date
/s/ David Friend Chief Executive Officer and Director March 7, 2012
David Friend (Principal Executive Officer)
/s/ Andrew P. Keenan Chief Financial Officer March 7, 2012
Andrew P. Keena (Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)
/s/ Jeffry Flowers Director March 7, 2012
Jeffry Flowers
/s/ Gary Hromadki Director March 7, 201z
Gary Hromadkc
/s/ Charles Kane Director March 7, 2012
Charles Kant
/s/ Todd Krasnow Director March 7, 2012
Todd Krasnow
/s/ William G. Nelson Director March 7, 2012
William G. Nelson
/s/ Pravin Vazirani Director March 7, 2012

Pravin Vaziran



Table of Contents

Exhibit No.
3.1(1)
3.2(2)
4.1(3)
4.2(4)

10.1(2)#
10.2(2)#

10.3(4)#
10.4(4)#
10.5(4)#
10.6(4)#
10.6.A(4)t
10.7(4)#
10.7.A(4)
10.8(4)
10.9(4)
10.10(4)
10.10.A(4
10.10.B(4
10.10.C(4
10.11(4)
10.12(4)
10.13(5)
10.14(5)
10.15(3)
10.16(6)
10.17t
21.1

23.1

24.1
31.1*
31.2*
32.1*
32.2*
101.INS+
101.SCH+
101.CAL+

EXHIBIT INDEX

Description

Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporatio@arbonite, Inc

Amended and Restated -Laws of Carbonite, Inc

Form of Common Stock Certificat

Third Amended and Restated Investors’ Rights Agesgrby and among Carbonite, Inc. and the persotheatities listed on
Exhibit A attached thereto, dated as of Decembef@@9.

Amended and Restated 2005 Stock Incentive PlarFand of Incentive Stock Option Agreement, NonquedifStock Option
Agreement, and Stock Restriction Agreement undeAtimended and Restated 2005 Stock Incentive

2011 Equity Award Plan and Form of Incentive St@gikion Agreement, Nonqualified Stock Option Agreamand Stock
Restriction Agreement under the 2011 Equity AwdahF

Form of Indemnification Agreement by and betweernbGaite, Inc. and each of its directors and exseutificers.
Severance Agreement with David Friend, dated agayf 3, 2011

Severance Agreement with Jeffry Flowers, dated &éay 4, 2011,

Offer and Employment Agreement with Andrew Keerdated as of April 27, 200°

Amendment to Offer and Employment Agreement witldéaw Keenan, dated as of May 5, 20

Offer Letter with Swami Kumaresan, dated as of Seyer 7, 2007

Amendment to Offer Letter with Swami Kumaresangdads of April 18, 2011

Office Lease with Trustees of Church Realty, dateadf June 25, 200

Office Lease with Church Realty Trust, dated aMay 20, 2010

Colocation/Interconnection License with Markley Bog LLC, dated as of August 20, 20(

First Amendment to Colocation/Interconnection Lisenvith Markley Boston, LLC, dated as of October 3106.
Second Amendment to Colocation/Interconnection mseewith Markley Boston, LLC, dated as of Janugr20D8.
Third Amendment to Colocation/Interconnection Lisenvith Markley Boston, LLC, dated as of Octobey Z108.
Master Services Agreement with Internap Network/Bes, Corp., executed on or about December 3, .2

Loan and Security Agreement with Comerica Bankedats of May 11, 201.

Commercial Lease with Lewiston Properties, LLC edaas of May 13, 201

Turn Key Datacenter Lease with GIP Wakefield, Lldated as of June 3, 201

Carbonite (China) Co., Ltd. Incentive Unit Plan d&watm of Incentive Units Agreement under the Inocentnit Plan.
Offer Letter with Oussama -Hilali, dated as of August 11, 201

Turn Key Datacenter Lease with Digital Phoenix \Bammen, LLC, dated as of November 29, 2C

List of subsidiaries

Consent of Ernst & Young LLP, independent registgreblic accounting firm

Power of Attorney (included on signature pageit® Annual Report on Form -K).

Certification of Chief Executive Officer Pursuant$ection 302 of the Sarba-Oxley Act of 2002

Certification of Chief Financial Officer Pursuant$ection 302 of the Sarba-Oxley Act of 2002

Certifications of Chief Executive Officer PursuamtSection 906 of the Sarba-Oxley Act of 2002

Certifications of Chief Financial Officer PursuaatSection 906 of the Sarba-Oxley Act of 2002

XBRL Instance Documen

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Documg

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Docuntn
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Exhibit No. Description
101.DEF+ XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Docurhe
101.LAB+ XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Docum

101.PRE+ XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Doenit

(1) Filed as the same numbered exhibit to Regissgr@yuarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed with thecBgties and Exchange Commission on
November 10, 2011, and incorporated herein by eefe.

(2) Filed as the same numbered exhibit to Amendmen? to Registrant’s Registration Statement om¥8-1 filed with the Securities and Exchange
Commission on July 13, 2011, and incorporated hdrgireference.

(3) Filed as the same numbered exhibit to Amendment3 to Registrant’s Registration Statement omT8-1 filed with the Securities and Exchange
Commission on July 25, 2011, and incorporated hdygireference.

(4) Filed as the same numbered exhibit to Regisgr&tegistration Statement on Form S-1 filed with Securities and Exchange Commission on
May 12, 2011, and incorporated herein by reference.

(5) Filed as the same numbered exhibit to Amendmientl Registrant’s Registration Statement on FSrthfiled with the Securities and Exchange
Commission on June 15, 2011, and incorporatedhésereference.

(6) Filed as Exhibit 10.1 to Registrant’s QuartéRigport on Form 1@ filed with the Securities and Exchange CommissiniNovember 10, 2011, a
incorporated herein by reference.

# Indicates a management contract or compensakamny p

* These certificates are not deemed filed withSeeurities and Exchange Commission and are nat todorporated by reference in any filing we
make under the Securities Act of 1933, as ameratatie Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as ameridedpective of any general incorporation
language in any filings.

t Portions of this exhibit have been omitted pegdirdetermination by the Securities and Exchangerfiission as to whether these portions shoul
granted confidential treatment.

+ In accordance with Rule 406T of Regulation SHEse XBRL (eXtensible Business Reporting Langudgeuments are furnished and not filed or a
part of a registration statement or prospectupfmposes of Sections 11 or 12 of the SecuritiesoA@033, as amended, or Section 18 of the Seesiriti
Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, and otherwisearsubject to liability under these sections.



Exhibit 10.17

120 EAST VAN BUREN STREET
PHOENIX, ARIZONA

TURN KEY DATACENTER LEASE
Between

DIGITAL PHOENIX VAN BUREN, LLC
a Delaware limited liability company
as Landlord

and

CARBONITE, INC ., a Delaware corporation
as Tenant

Dated
November 29, 201
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SCHEDULE “1”
CERTAIN DEFINED TERMS
“ ACM " shall mean and refer to asbestos, asbestos-oamanaterials or presumed asbestos-containingriakste

“ Additional Rent ” shall mean and refer to all amounts (other thaseBRent) payable by Tenant to Landlord pursuatttisd_ease, whether or not
denominated as such.

“ Affiliate Transfer ” shall mean and refer to an assignment by Tenftfi®Lease to a Tenant Affiliate where (x) Tengivies Landlord prior written
notice of the name of such Tenant Affiliate, anfthe applicable Tenant Affiliate assumes, in wgtifor the benefit of Landlord, all of Tenant’s
obligations under this Lease.

“ Alterations ” shall mean and refer to any alterations, add#jomprovements or replacements to the Tenant Spaemy other portion of the
Building or Property performed by or on behalf @&hknt or any other Tenant Party.

“ Applicable Laws " shall mean and refer to (a) all laws, ordinandeslding codes, rules, regulations, orders andatives of any governmental
authority now or hereafter having jurisdiction oWlee Property and the Landlord Essential Servig®sall covenants, conditions, laws and restriction
now or hereafter affecting the Property or the ®es (c) all rules, orders, laws, regulations segliirements of any applicable fire rating bureau o
other organization performing a similar functiom foe Property, and (d) the Environmental Laws.

“ Applicable Security Deposit Laws’ shall mean and refer to laws, rules and regulatiqmicable to security deposits under commereiasés in th
State in which the Property is located.

“ Back-Up Power Specifications shall mean and refer to the specific elementsauk-up power that are described in Items 2 & Bxdiibit “F” ,
Table A.

“ Back-Up Power Systems shall mean and refer to the specific equipmertdusy Landlord to meet the Back-Up Power Specificat
“ Base Rent’ shall mean and refer to the amounts of Base Betnfiorth in Item 8 of the Basic Lease Information.

“ Basic Lease Information” shall mean the information contained in Sectioof this Lease.

“ Building ” shall mean and refer to the Building describettém 15 of the Basic Lease Information.

“ Building Systems” shall mean and refer to the Building and/or Proypeystems and equipment, including all fire/kt&fety, electrical, HVAC,
plumbing and sprinkler, access control (includirmntllord’s Access Control Systems), mechanical taledommunications systems and equipment.



“ Cables” shall mean and refer to all fiber and/or coppadling that is placed into the Pathway by LandlmndTenants behalf, or by Tenant and/or
any other Tenant Party.

“ Casualty-Complete” shall mean and refer to a Casualty Event thatlteén the complete destruction of the Buildinglog Property.
“ Casualty Event” shall mean and refer to fire, explosion or anyestdisaster causing damage to the Property, tiidiBy or the Tenant Space.

“ Casualty Repair” shall mean and refer to the repair and reconstmof the damaged portion(s) of the Property,Bliéding and/or the Tenant
Space to substantially the same condition in wiiiely existed immediately prior to each Casualtyritve

“ Casualty Repair Notice” shall mean and refer to written notice by Landlew Tenant notifying Tenant of the Repair Pericliated.

“ Chronic Outage” shall mean and refer to the occurrence of twoof2nore Separate/Independent Interruptions of laxds Essential Services
within a six (6) consecutive month period, eaclvbich continues for eight (8) or more consecutivears, regardless of whether or not such
Interruption of Landlord’s Essential Services wassed by Force Majeure or any other event, ottzer the fault of Tenant, or anyone claiming by,
through or under Tenant.

“ Chronic Outage Termination Notice” shall mean and refer to written notice from Ter@nLandlord, delivered within five (5) businesayd after
the occurrence of a Chronic Outage, that Tenamnéliyeterminates this Lease.

“ Claims " shall mean and refer to all third party claimsti@ns, suits and proceedings, and all losses, dagy@bligations, liabilities, penalties, fines,
costs and expenses arising from any such clairtispacsuits, or proceedings, including reasonatiterneys’ fees, legal costs, and other costs and
expenses of defending against any such claimsragtsuits, or proceedings.

“ Colocation Activity " shall mean and refer to the installation, op@ratind maintenance by a Colocation Party of sudbdaton Party’s computer,
switch and/or communications equipment in the Tefg@ace, and the connection of such equipmenttivélequipment of other Colocation Parties
within the Tenant Space.

“ Colocation Agreement” shall mean and refer to a license agreementndyb@tween Tenant and a Colocation Customer, whérebant provides
such Colocation Customer (and its related Colood®arties) a license for the sole purpose of emggigi Colocation Activities within the Tenant
Space.

“ Colocation Customer” shall mean and refer to a non-carrier customéresfant, who desires to engage in Colocation A@wiwithin the Tenant
Space, under and pursuant to a Colocation Agreement



“ Colocation Party " shall mean and refer to any person claiming,diyeor indirectly, by, through or under any Coltioa Customer, together with
the officers, agents, servants and employees &f €atocation Customer.

“ Commencement Date Condition$ shall mean and refer to the occurrence of thiefahg:
(a) Landlord has completed Landlord’s Installaticarsd
(b) Landlord has delivered the Tenant Space to fidmavirtue of having provided the CommencemenielNotice to Tenant.

Installation of the pathway from the Meet- Me Rotuithe Tenant Space shall not be a Commencemeat@atdition; however, Landlord shall
use diligent efforts to install such pathway asrsas reasonably possible after the Commencement Dat

“ Commencement Date Noticé shall mean and refer to a notice from Landlord émant, substantially in the form attached heastéxhibit “H” ,
which shall (a) memorialize Landlord’s deliverytbe Tenant Space to Tenant, and (b) confirm theeh€@ommencement Date.

“ Commissioning” shall mean and refer to the act of causing tharossioning/turn up of the Premises’ infrastructpuesuant to the Commissioning
Criteria, so that such infrastructure has passeell® of such Commissioning Criteria, as descriineExhibit “E-1 .

“ Commissioning Agent” shall mean and refer to the third party engirnegfirm that performs the Commissioning.

“ Commissioning Complete Letter’ shall mean and refer to a letter from the Cominissag Agent, evidencing successful commissionifithe
Premises, substantially in the form attached heasfitachment “1” to Exhibit “H”.

“ Commissioning Criteria” shall mean and refer to the commissioning crteet forth orkExhibit “E-1" .

“ Common Area” shall mean and refer to that part of the PropBfityg outside the Premises designated by Landian time to time for the
common use of all tenants of the Datacenter oBthiling, as applicable, including among other lisies, the sidewalks, service corridors, curbsck
ways, loading areas, private streets and alleystifig facilities, halls, lobbies, delivery passagelevators, drinking fountains, meeting roomsligu
toilets, parking areas and garages, decks and pénking facilities, landscaping and other commmanms and common facilities.

“ Consequential Damages shall mean and refer to consequential damagegjeéntal damages, indirect damages, or special gespar for loss of
profit, loss of business opportunity or loss ofdnte.
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“ Continuous Outage” shall mean and refer to an Interruption of Lamdls Essential Services that continues for twe@8) Consecutive days,
regardless of whether or not such Interruption aridlord’s Essential Services was caused by Forgeuvls other than the fault of Tenant, or anyone
claiming by, through or under Tenant.

“ Continuous Outage Termination Notice” shall mean and refer to written notice from TentanLandlord, delivered within five (5) businessyd
after the occurrence of a Continuous Outage, thagiiit thereby terminates this Lease.

“ Control ", as used in the definition of Tenant Affiliatdyal mean and refer to the right to exercise, diyear indirectly, fifty percent (50%) or more
of the voting rights attributable to the controlketity and/or the power to elect a majority of tdoaitrolled entity’s board of directors.

“ Datacenter” shall mean and refer to the Datacenter describbdtm 20 of the Basic Lease Information.
“ Datacenter Connection Ared’ shall mean and refer to the central shared pfipathway access in the Datacenter, as desighgtedndlord.

“ Datacenter Rules and Regulations shall mean and refer to Landlord’s written ruéesl regulations for the Datacenter, as same mayreaded
from time to time in accordance with Section 6.2ef Lease and that are provided, or made avaitapleenant. The current version of the Datacenter
Rules and Regulations is available on the Inteahéte following URL:

http://www.digitalrealtytrust.com/leasing/

“ Datacenter Utility ” shall mean and refer to a utility type for whigbage is billed on a “datacenter-by-datacenterisbas

“ Datacenter Utility Costs” shall mean and refer to the actual DatacentdityJtosts for the entirety of the Datacenter (itkased on the metering
equipment that measures electrical and mechanivedp[UPS, HVAC and other mechanical power] beiagduby the Datacenter), as set forth on the
applicable Datacenter Utility bill(s) for the Dagater (each such Datacenter Utility bill, ®&atacenter Utility Bill ") for the billing period covered by
such Datacenter Utility Bill(s).

“ Default Rate” shall mean and refer to an interest rate equtiiedesser of (a) [***] percent ([***]%) per montbr (b) the maximum lawful rate of
interest.

“ Delinquency Date” shall mean and refer to the date that is fived@ys after the date on which any particular payroéRent is due from Tenant to
Landlord.

“ Digital " shall mean and refer to Digital Realty Trust, L.& Maryland limited partnership.
“ ECT Default Notice " shall mean and refer to written notice from Laordl notifying Tenant of an ECT Overage.

[***] Information has been omitted and filed separateét the Securities and Exchange Commission. ConfideTreatment has been reques
with respect to the omitted portior
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“ ECT Overage” shall mean and refer to a situation in which #¢hectricity consumption in the Premises exceedgthetricity Consumption
Threshold.

“ Electricity Consumption Threshold ” shall mean and refer to the amount of electnzaber specified in Item 1 dExhibit “F”, Table A.
“ Electricity Specifications” shall mean and refer, collectively, to the Elesty Consumption Threshold and the Back-Up PowgecHfications.

“ Environmental Laws ” shall mean and refer to all now and hereaftesting Applicable Laws regulating, relating to, orgosing liability or
standards of conduct concerning public health afeky or the environment.

“ Event of Default by Tenant” shall mean and refer to the occurrence of anhefEvents of Default by Tenant described in Sestit5.1.1-15.1.5,
inclusive.

“ Excess Rent shall mean and refer to any consideration in egad the sum of (a) the pro-rata portion of Rguliaable to the portion of the Tenant
Space subject to the assignment or sublease Hetse(reasonable leasing costs (i.e., tenant imgonent allowances, attorneyses, architectural fee
and broker commissions) actually incurred by Temacbnnection with such sublease or assignment.

“ Financial Statements” shall mean and refer to audited annual finarnstalements of the indicated entity, certified by ¢mtity’s chief financial
officer, including (i) a balance sheet, and (iprafit and loss statement (income statement),ralbared in accordance with generally accepted
accounting principles consistently applied.

“ First Interruption " shall mean and refer to the first (1st) Sepahatipendent Interruption of Landlord’s Essentialv@®s occurring in any period
of twelve (12) consecutive months.

“ Force Majeure ” shall mean and refer to any cause or reason litfanreasonable control of the party obligatepeidorm hereunder, including
strike (subject to the next following sentenceboiatrouble (subject to the next following senténgevernmental rule, regulations, ordinance, statu
or interpretation, or fire, earthquake, civil contion, or failure or disruption of a utility’s senas. Notwithstanding the foregoing, strikes or tabo
disputes which are directed at Landlord or its rrtbrs (as opposed to strikes or labor disputesgidnal or national nature) shall not be congder
to be Force Majeure.

“ Four-Plus Interruption ” shall mean and refer to the fourth (4th), and aagsequent, Separate/Independent Interruptiomodlord’s Essential
Services occurring in any then-current Interruptacrual Period.

“ Generator Fuel Usage shall mean and refer to all fuel used by the @pt(s) of the Back-Up Power Systems describeceim B ofExhibit “F”,
Table A.

“ Generator Fuel Payment” shall mean and refer to the actual cost of ath&ator Fuel Usage that is not Maintenance Fuefjélsa
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“ Handle ,” “ Handled ,” or “ Handling ” shall mean and refer to any installation, hanglligeneration, storage, treatment, use, disposahatge,
release, manufacture, refinement, presence, nogragimission, abatement, removal, transportatioang other activity of any type in connection with
or involving Hazardous Materials.

“ Hazardous Materials” shall mean and refer to: (1) any material or sase: (i) which is defined or becomes defined dsaardous substance,”
“hazardous waste,” “infectious waste,” “chemicakinre or substance,” or “air pollutant” under Emvimental Laws; (ii) containing petroleum, crude
oil or any fraction thereof; (iii) containing PCB@®y) containing ACM; (v) which is radioactive; (mivhich is infectious; or (2) any other material or
substance displaying toxic, reactive, ignitableylesive or corrosive characteristics, and is defjree becomes defined by any Environmental Law.

“ Holder ” shall mean and refer to any mortgagee or bersfioivith a mortgage or deed of trust encumberigRtoperty or any portion thereof, or
any lessor of a ground or underlying lease witipeesto the Property or any portion thereof.

“ HVAC " shall mean and refer to heating, ventilation aircconditioning.
“ HVAC Specifications” shall mean and refer to the specifications sethfm Item 4(a) and (b) dExhibit “F”, Table A.
“ Interruption Accrual Period " shall mean and refer to the period of twelve (@@)secutive months occurring from and after eacdt Fterruption.

“ Interruption Cure Completion Notice " shall mean and refer to written notice from Laordl that a particular Interruption of Landlord’ssEstial
Services has been rectified.

“ Interruption — Electrical " shall mean and refer to the occurrence of a @lasti complete interruption of electricity to thBBs supplying electrical
power to Tenant’s Personal Property within the Rses) provided that such occurrence is not caugethp act or omission of Tenant or any other
Tenant Party, nor by a Casualty Event, nor by,uwing, an ECT Overage. The foregoing notwithstaggdif(a) Tenant fails to take advantage of the
redundant electrical design of the Premises (eegafit “single-cords” its equipment in a scenari@meh'dual-cording” of Tenant’s equipment is
available), (b) there occurs an interruption otgieity to one (1) or more PDUs from which Tendraws electricity to power Tenant’s Personal
Property, (c) such interruption results in a poaeatage in one (1) or more items of Tenant's PelsBraperty, and (d) such power outage could have
been avoided if Tenant had taken proper advanthtie @lectrical redundancies in the Premises, sueh interruption will be deemedt to have
beenan Interruption — Electrical.

“ Interruption — Electrical Duration Threshold ” shall mean and refer to an aggregate of six (@utes in any rolling twelve (12) month period.
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“ Interruption — Humidity " shall mean and refer to the occurrence of theagerelative humidityof the Premises measured at the return air vents in
the Premises being outside of the Target Humidéapde for a period of ninety (90), or more, consgeuninutes; provided that such occurrence is not
caused by any act or omission of Tenant or anyrdteaant Party, nor by a Casualty Event, nor bydwing, an ECT Overage. For the avoidance of
doubt, the duration of each Interruption — Humidihall commence from and after the expiration efritnetieth (90th) consecutive minute of the
averageelative humidityof the Premises being outside of such Target HuypnRiange.

“ Interruption of Landlord’s Essential Services” shall mean and refer to (a) an Interruption —ckieal; (b) an Interruption — Temperature, or4n)
Interruption — Humidity.

“ Interruption — Temperature " shall mean and refer to the occurrence of theayetemperature of the Premises measured at the return air vents in
the Premises being outside of the Target Temper&ange for a period of ninety (90), or more, consee minutes; provided that such occurrence is
not caused by any act or omission of Tenant oradihgr Tenant Party, nor by a Casualty Event, noobyluring, an ECT Overage. For the avoidance
of doubt, the duration of each Interruption — Terapgre shall commence from and after the expiradiothe ninetieth (90th) consecutive minute of the
averaggemperature of the Premises being outside of the Target Tenperd&Range.

“ Land " shall mean and refer to the Land described imligl of the Basic Lease Information.
“ Landlord " shall mean and refer to the Landlord set fortfitém 1 of the Basic Lease Information.
“ Landlord Default " shall mean and refer to the occurrence of a LandDefault, as described in Section 16.1.1.

“ Landlord Group " shall mean and refer to Landlord and its direstafficers, shareholders, members, employeestitmrs partners, affiliates,
beneficiaries and trustees.

“ Landlord’s Access Control Systems shall mean and refer to the following: (i) a ckén desk at the Building main entrance operated by Land|
twenty-four (24) hours per day, seven (7) dayswesk, fifty-two (52) weeks per year, (ii) an electic “key card” system to control access to the
Datacenter, and (i) a video surveillance systarthe Datacenter.

“ Landlord’s Essential Services’ shall mean and refer to Landlord’s obligationsneet the Electricity Specifications and the HVA@eSifications.
“ Landlord’s Installations ” shall mean and refer to the installations defiasdsuch, as set forth &xhibit “E”, attached hereto.

“ Landlord’s Lease Undertakings” shall mean and refer to each representation,améyr covenant, undertaking, and agreement cortaimnany of
the Lease Documents that is to be provided or padd by Landlord.
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“ Landlord’s Liability Cap " shall mean and refer to an aggregate amount nfiload’s interest in the Property not to exceed6,000.00.
“ Late Charge” shall mean and refer to a sum equal to [***] pamt ([***]%) of the amount of a particular Late Ragnt.
“ Late Payment” shall mean and refer to any payment of Rent tlaaidlord has not received from Tenant prior toBreéinquency Date.
“ Late Payment Interest” shall mean and refer to interest on a particukte Payment at the Default Rate.
“ Lease Documents shall mean and refer to this Lease and all sclesdexhibits, riders, amendments, and addend@gd ease.

“ Maintenance Fuel Usagé shall mean and refer to Generator Fuel Usageishaged for the performance of Landlord’s mainteeobligations
hereunder.

“Market Area” shall mean the greater Phoenix area.
“ Maximum Structural Load ” shall mean and refer to the Maximum Structuradfi@et forth in Iltem 19 of the Basic Lease Inforomat
“ Meet-Me Room” shall mean and refer to the Meet-Me Room desdrihdtem 16 of the Basic Lease Information.

“ Metering Equipment — Tenant Space€ shall mean and refer to a metering device (oremieg devices) for monitoring the utilities servjpgovided
to and/or used in the Tenant Space.

“ MMR Services” shall mean and refer to the services typicallgvisied by companies in the primary business of idiog carrier-neutral
interconnections, such as Equinix, CoreSite, ardhbaise, including without limitation, furnishind space, racks and pathway to telecommunications
carriers for the purpose of such carriers’ placeraed maintenance of computer, switch and/or conications equipment and cross-connections by
such carriers with the communications cable antlities of other parties in the Building.

“ Noticed Holder” shall mean and refer to a Holder for which Tertaas been notified in writing of the address ofrsHolder prior to the time that
Tenant is required to give a Holder the noticeuesjion.

“ Other PDU kW-hr ” shall mean and refer to the number of kilowatt#soon the PDU(s) serving all portions of the Datder other than the Tenant
Space during the same billing period as the applcBatacenter Utility Bill for the Datacenter.

“ QOutage Credit” means the quotient achieved by dividing the Basat for the month in which the Interruption of ldéord’s Essential Services
occurred by 60.

[***] Information has been omitted and filed separatétly the Securities and Exchange Commission. ConfideTreatment has been reques
with respect to the omitted portior
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“ Outside Completion Date” shall mean and refer to the Outside CompletioteB3&t forth in Item 4 of the Basic Lease Informiati

“ Partial Month " shall, in the event of a Commencement Date tatics on a date that is other than the first (day) of a calendar month, mean and
refer to the number of calendar days (including@eenmencement Date) remaining in the month in whiehCommencement Date occurs.

“ Pathway " shall mean and refer to the Pathway describdteim 7 of the Basic Lease Information.
“ PCBs” shall mean and refer to polychlorinated biphenyls
“ PDUs” shall mean and refer to power distribution units.

“ Periods of Premises Operatiori shall mean and refer to those periods of equigroparation within the Premises (i.e., periods niyielectrical
power is being drawn by Tenant's Personal Property)

“ Periods of Premises Underutilization” shall mean and refer to those periods during Winiene of Tenant's Personal Property is operatirthe
Premises (i.e., periods during which there is eateical power being drawn by Tenant's Personapernty).
“ Permitted Transfer ” shall mean and refer to:

(x) the public offering of shares of Tenant on dlguexchange or issuance of additional sharebefTenant entity; and

(y) any of the following: (i) the transfer of a may interest of the outstanding shares of stockemant, (ii) the merger of Tenant with another
entity or entities, and (iii) the sale of all olbstantially all of Tenant's assets, and/or (iv)ikdfe Transfers; provided that, in any event dibsat
under this clause (y), (a) the action is taken yams to a bona fide business transaction and matipally or exclusively as a means to evade the
consent requirements under this Lease, and (B)Téwant” under this Lease after such transaction has the sametter financial strength as t
which Tenant had, immediately prior to such tratisa¢as evidenced in a manner reasonably acceptallandlord.

“ Permitted Use” shall mean and refer to the placement, instalfgtoperation, repair and maintenance of compstéitch and/or communications
equipment and connections of such equipment (sutgjeébe terms of Section 1.3 of the Standard L&aseisions), via telecommunications cables,
with the facilities and/or equipment of other tetsain the Datacenter or the Building.

“ PM Activity ” shall mean and refer to each of the preventatiaitenance activities contained on Landlord’s tbement PM Standards.
“ PM Audit " shall mean and refer to Tenant’s inspection ef M Books and Records.
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“ PM Audit Notice " shall mean and refer to written notice of Tenamttent to perform a PM Audit.
“ PM Books and Records’ shall mean and refer to the books and recordd bgd.andlord for documenting performance of the R#fivities.
“ PM Change” shall mean and refer to a change to the PM Sdeedqguested by Tenant.

“ PM Change Cost Estimaté’ shall mean and refer to written notice from Laordlto Tenant of the estimated incremental costse® to the PM
Change.

“ PM Change Request shall mean and refer to written notice from TetnanLandlord of Tenant’s requested PM Change.
“ PM Schedule” shall mean and refer to Landlord’s then-curreafitesiule for the performance of the PM Activities.

“ PM Standards” shall mean and refer to the activities of prevéwgamaintenance that Landlord performs with regarthe equipment that serves
Premises. Landlord’s current list of PM Standasdaviailable on the Internet at the following URL:

http://www.digitalrealtytrust.com/leasing

“ Premises” shall mean and refer to the Premises describdin 7 of the Basic Lease Information.

“ Premises PDU kWhr " shall mean and refer to the number of kilowattdsoon the PDW serving the Premises during the same billingoplesis the
applicable Datacenter Utility Bill for the Datacent

“ Projected Real Property Tax Installment” shall mean and refer to an amount equal to [{*}*]) of the product of (i) the positive differere (if
any) obtained by subtracting the Taxes — Real Ptpg&ctual) applicable to the Tax Base Year frdme Taxes — Real Property (Projected) for the
applicable calendar year, multiplied by (ii) Teriaroportionate Share.

“ Property " shall mean and refer to the Land, the Buildilg improvements on the Land and in the Buildingl laandlord’s personal property
thereon or therein.

“ Rent” shall mean and refer to all Base Rent, plus aéditional Rent.

“ Repair Period-Actual " shall mean and refer to the period of time thaictually takes to repair and/or restore the Bogdollowing a Casualty
Event in order to enable Tenant’s use of the TeBaate in the ordinary conduct of Tenant’'s business

“ Repair Period-Estimated” shall mean and refer to the period of time, wHietmdlord estimates will be required for the regaid/or restoration of
the Building following a Casualty Event in orderenable Tenant's use of the Tenant Space in thiraygdconduct of Tenant’s business.

[***] Information has been omitted and filed septeilg with the Securities and Exchange Commissiamfidential Treatment has been requested
with respect to the omitted portior



“ Second Interruption ” shall mean and refer to the second (2nd) Sepémdependent Interruption of Landlord’s Essentiah&ces occurring in any
then-current Interruption Accrual Period.

“ Security Documents” shall mean and refer to the following: (i) allogind leases or underlying leases; (ii) the liearof mortgage, deed, or deed of
trust; (iii) all past and future advances made wumahy such mortgages, deeds, or deeds of trustii@nall renewals, modifications, replacements and
extensions of any such ground leases, master |gasegages, deeds, and deeds of trust.

“ Separate/Independent Interruption of Landlord’s Es®ntial Services’, and similar phrases used herein, shall mearreified to (a) Interruptions of
Landlord’s Essential Services that occur from safgaand unrelated root causes; or (b) a furthesroece of a particular Interruption of Landlord’s
Essential Services that occurs after Landlord hagigled Tenant the Interruption Cure Completionibwvith regard to the immediately preceding
occurrence of such Interruption of Landlord’s EssgiServices.

“ Shared Infrastructure Costs” shall mean and refer to the utility costs relatedll items of mechanical and electrical equiptribat serve the
Datacenter, but which are commercially impractafdbeing separately metered to the Premises, dtieetfact that such items (and/or the utility me
monitoring same) are designed to serve (and/ortm)mnore areas of the Datacenter and/or Buildiranjust the Premises. Shared Infrastructure
Costs shall also include all costs related to #levery of each utility as well as the relevant ftutwsonsumption costs”, including recurring network
charges, subscription charges or one-off maintemaharges imposed by the utility provider. Forakieidance of doubt, and for the purposes of
illustration, but not limitation, the Shared Infragture Costs include the utility costs relatedtiared electrical system equipment and shared HVAC
system equipment, as well as the costs relatduetelectrical power dissipation that occurs betwaeaetility’s power meters that monitor power
consumption at the Datacenter level or the Buildevgl and those meters that monitor power consiomtt the Premises level, such dissipation b
inherent to the total amount of electrical powejuieed to operate the Datacenter.

“ Shared Mechanical Equipment’ shall mean certain equipment within the Tenarac®p and/or equipment located outside the TenaadeSput
serving the Tenant Space, including certain coadiggipment, that is commercially impractical ofrizpseparately metered to the Tenant Space,
because it utilizes equipment and/or facilitiesigiesd to serve more area of the Datacenter andéoBuilding than just the Tenant Space.

“ Shared Mechanical Metering Equipment” shall mean and refer to metering equipment tbpasately meters utilities provided specificallythe
Tenant Space by the Shared Mechanical Equipment.

“ SNDA " shall mean and refer to a subordination, nonudisince and attornment agreement in a form thagisonably acceptable to Tenant, which
provides that, so long as there is no Event of Glefay Tenant, Tenant may remain in possessioheflienant Space under the terms of this Lease,
even if the Holder should acquire Landlord’s ttdethe Building.
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“ Taking " shall mean and refer to the Property, or soméqothereof, having been taken under the powenuihent domain or condemned by any
competent authority for any public or quasi-pulbige or purpose, or sold to prevent the exercigedifie

“ Target Commencement Daté shall mean and refer to the Target Commencemaie Bet forth in Item 4 of the Basic Lease Infoiorat
“ Target Humidity Range ” shall mean and refer to the range of relative ity percentages described in Item 4(bExhibit “F”, Table A.
“ Target Temperature Range” shall mean and refer to the range of temperatdessribed in Item 4(a) &xhibit “F” , Table A.

“ Tax Base Year’shall mean and refer to calendar year 2012

“ Taxes — Equipment’ shall mean and refer to all governmental feesgsatariffs and other charges levied directlyraliriectly against any personal
property, fixtures, machinery, equipment, apparaystems, connections, interconnections and agmamtes located in, or used by Tenant in or in
connection with, the Tenant Space.

“ Taxes — Other” shall mean any excise, sales, privilege or othey assessment or other charge (other than intaxes) imposed, assessed or levied
by any governmental or quasi governmental authoritggency upon Landlord on account of (i) the Rand other amounts) payable by Tenant
hereunder (or any other benefit received by Lambl@reunder), including any gross receipts tagnke fee or excise tax levied by any governmental
authority, (ii) this Lease, Landlord’s businessadessor hereunder, and/or the possession, leagagation, management, maintenance, alteration,
repair, use or occupancy of any portion of the Tiéspace (including any applicable possessorydstdaxes), (iii) this transaction or any docurnter
which Tenant is a party creating or transferringraerest or an estate in the Tenant Space, oothgrwise in respect of or as a result of the exgent

or relationship of Landlord and Tenant hereunder.

“ Taxes — Real Property’ shall mean and refer to all taxes, assessmentgamnmental charges (foreseen or unforeseen, @esrespecial, ordinar
or extraordinary) whether federal, state, countynanicipal and whether levied by taxing districtsaathorities presently taxing the Property or by
others subsequently created or otherwise, and #ey taxes and assessments attributable to theRyayr its operation, and all taxes of whatsoever
nature that are imposed in substitution for oiién bof any of the taxes, assessments or other ebdmgrein defined; provided, however, Taxes — Real
Property shall not include taxes paid by tenanthefProperty as a separate charge on the valireioieasehold improvements, death taxes, excess
profits taxes, franchise taxes and state and fede@me taxes, except to the extent imposed istitwition for or in lieu of all or any portion ofakes —
Real Property, and shall not include any TaxesheOt

“ Taxes — Real Property (Actual)’shall mean and refer, with respect to each caleyekarduring the Term of the Lease, to the actaak$ — Real
Property for such year.
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“ Taxes — Real Property (Projected” shall mean and refer, with respect to each cdeyear during the Term of the Lease, to Landkrdasonable
projection of Taxes — Real Property for such year.

tel x” shall mean and refer to that certain third pamyity named tet — Phoenix, LLC (together withstecessors and assigns), which controls and
operates the Meet-Me Room. For the avoidance dbtldandlord and Tenant hereby expressly acknovdddgt tek is not an affiliate of Landlord.

“ Tenant” shall mean and refer to the Tenant set forthteml 2 of the Basic Lease Information.

“ Tenant Affiliate ” shall mean and refer to any partnership, limitatility company, or corporation or other entityhich, directly or indirectly,
through one or more intermediaries, Controls, ist@idled by, or is under common Control with, Tehan

“ Tenant Group " shall mean and refer to Tenant and its directofficers, shareholders, members, employees, ¢oastipartners, and Tenant
Affiliates.

“ Tenant Parties” shall mean and refer, collectively to Tenant, tileer members of the Tenant Group, Tenant’s Temas§, and their respective
contractors, clients, servants, representativesndiees, Colocating Parties, agents, and invitees.

“ Tenant Space’ shall mean and refer to the Premises togethdr thi¢ Pathway.

“ Tenant Space Customef shall mean and refer to each customer or othesgoeor entity to which Tenant, any Tenant Affdiaany other Tenant
Party, or any Transferee, provides goods or sesyighich are in any way related to or associatel thie use of the Tenant Space, including those
customers, persons or entities now or hereafteducting transactions or other operations by orughoor in connection with equipment located wil
the Tenant Space.

“ Tenant’s Datacenter Utility Payment” shall mean and refer to Tenant’s pro rata portibthe applicable Datacenter Utility Costs, durihg same
billing period as the applicable Datacenter UtiBl for the Datacenter, being allocated to therRises based on the amount of the Premises PDU kW
hr during such billing period, as compared to tlseal Datacenter PDU kW-hr during the same billigipd.
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“ Tenant’'s Personal Property” shall mean and refer, collectively, to all cabAgring, connecting lines, and other installatioeguipment or property
installed or placed by, for, through, under or ehdif of Tenant or any Tenant Party anywhere irBthidding, the Datacenter, and/or the Tenant Sy
not including any equipment or property owned, éebsr licensed by Landlord or any other membehefltandlord Group. Additionally, for the
purposes of clarity, the parties acknowledge tianant’s Personal Property” includes all equipnwerdroperty, other than equipment or property
owned, leased or licensed by Landlord or any attember of the Landlord Group, installed and/or @thanywhere in the Building, the Datacenter,
and/or the Tenant Space by any party specificalty solely in order to provide any service to Terarany Tenant Party (e.g., data storage/archiving
and data recovery type equipment that is utilizedbfor Tenant or any Tenant Party in the Teng#c®, but which is actually owned by a third party,
other than Landlord or any other member of the landGroup).

“ Tenant’s Proportionate Share” shall mean and refer to the Tenant’s Proportier&tiare described in Item 17 of the Basic Leas#rimtion.
Landlord and Tenant acknowledge that Tenant's Rtapate Share is a “deemed” share, which has balenlated by taking into consideration the
rentable square feet of all space that is inclua@léctively in and/or serving the Premises

“ Tenant’'s Proportionate Share of Taxes — Real Propéy (Actual) " shall mean and refer, with respect to each caegdar during the Term of this
Lease, to an amount equal to the product of (ipthative difference (if any) obtained by subtragtihe Taxes — Real Property (Actual) applicable to
the Tax Base Year from the Taxes — Real Propertyu@) applicable to such calendar year, multipbgdii) Tenant’s Proportionate Share, as
described in Iltem 17 of the Basic Lease Information

“ Tenant’s Separately Metered Utility Payment’ shall mean the actual cost of all utilities, ifya that serve, are provided to and/or are usearifor,
the Tenant Space, for which the costs that ardcglye to the Tenant Space are wholly and sepgratetered to the Tenant Space.

“ Tenant’s Shared Mechanical Payment shall mean Tenant’s Datacenter Utility Payment.

“ Tenant’s Utility Payment ” shall mean and refer to each Tenant’'s Shared Biechl Payment and each Tenant's Separately Metéitty
Payment.

“Term ”; “ Term of this Lease”; and “ Term of the Lease” shall mean and refer to the period describeddmlI5 of the Basic Lease Information,
subject to the terms of such Item 5.

“ Third Interruption " shall mean and refer to the third (3rd) Sepahatipendent Interruption of Landlord’s Essentiaiv@es occurring in any then-
current Interruption Accrual Period.

“ Total Datacenter PDU kW-hr ” shall mean and refer to the number of kilowatt#soon the PDU(s) serving the Datacenter duringsétme billing
period as the applicable Datacenter Utility Bilt fbe Datacenter, being represented by the suimedPtemises PDUs kW-hr plus the Other PDUs kW-
hr.
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“ Transfer ” shall mean and refer to (a) a sublease of all gipamt of the Tenant Space, (b) an assignmenti®i#ase, and/or (c) any other agreer
(i) permitting a third party (other than Tenantragoyees and occasional guests) to occupy or uspaiion of the Tenant Space, or (ii) otherwise
assigning, transferring, licensing, mortgagingdgiag, hypothecating, encumbering, or permittidga to attach to its interest under, this Lease.

“ Transferee” shall mean and refer to any person or entity kmm a Transfer is made or sought to be made.

“ Transfer Notice ” shall mean and refer to a written request fordlard’s consent to a particular Transfer, whichiceshall include: (a) the name
and address of the proposed Transferee; (b) #fleoprincipal terms of the proposed Transfer; (oyent, certified financial statements of the pregub
Transferee, and any other information and materé&dsonably required by Landlord to enable Landioradequately review the financial
responsibility of the proposed Transferee; (d) suttier information and materials as Landlord masomably request (and if Landlord requests such
additional information or materials, the Transfertide shall not be deemed to have been receivelduamidlord receives such additional information
or materials); and (e) the form of the proposedgassent or other Transfer documentation that wélldxecuted by Tenant and the proposed Trans

“ UPS Plant” shall mean and refer to an uninterruptable posugaply plant.

“ UPS Room” shall mean and refer to that certain UPS roomcivisierves (but is located outside of) the Datacgapproximately as indicated on
Exhibit “A” , attached hereto.
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120 East Van Buren Street
PHOENIX, ARIZONA

TURN KEY DATACENTER LEASE

This Turn Key Datacenter Lease (thi¢ase”) is entered into as of the Effective Date specifielem 4 of the Basic Lease Information, by i
between Landlord (as set forth in Item 1 of theiBasase Information, below) and Tenant (as sehfior ltem 2 of the Basic Lease Information,
below):

RECITALS

A. Landlord is the owner of the Land (as set fantftem 14 of the Basic Lease Information, beloW)e Land is improved with, among other
things, the Building (as set forth in Item 15 of tBasic Lease Information, below).

B. Tenant desires to lease (i) space in the Dategeand (ii) certain Pathway between the Dataceantd the Meet-Me Room.

C. Unless otherwise specifically indicated to tbateary, all initially capitalized terms containguthis Lease shall have the meanings set forth
on Schedule “1”, attached to this Lease.

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the covenants agreements hereinafter set forth, Landlord aswhmt agree as follow
BASIC LEASE INFORMATION

1. Landlord: Digital Phoenix Van Buren, LLC, a Delaware limitkability company
2. Tenant: Carbonite, Inc., a Delaware corporat
3. Tenant Addresses Tenant Address for Notices

Carbonite, Inc.

177 Huntington Avenue
Boston, MA 02115

Attn: General Counsel

Phone No: (617) 587-1100
E-mail: dsheer@carbonite.com

With copies to:

Foley & Lardner LLP

111 Huntington Avenue, 26 Floor
Boston, MA 02199

Attn: Susan E. Pravc



4.

[***]

Effective Daté Commencement
Date:

(a) Effective Date:

(b)  Target Commencement
Date:

(c) Early Delivery Date:

(d)  Outside Liguidated
Damages Dat:

(e) Outside CompletioDate:

) Commencement Da:

Term:

Number of Tenant Extension
Options:

Premises/Pathway

(a) _Premises
(b) Pathway:

Facsimile No. 617-342-4001
Email: spravda@foley.com

Tenant Address for Invoice of Rent

Carbonite, Inc.

177 Huntington Avenue

Boston, MA 02115 Attn: Chief Financial Officer
Phone No: (617) 587-1100

E-mail: akeenan@carbonite.cc

November 29, 2011 (tF* Effective Date”)
February 1, 2012

Not applicable

Confidential Treatment Requested by Carbonite

Fifteen (15) days after the Target Commencemerg.Dat

Thirty (30) days after the Target Commencement L

The* Commencement Date” shall mean the earlier ¢
(x) (i) the later of February 1, 2012 or (ii) séistion of the Commencement Date Conditions; or
(y) the date Tenant commences to use the Prenusé#sef Permitted Use

The “Initial Term ” shall mean and refer to approximately forty-eigt8) full calendar months (i.e.,
commencing on the Commencement Date and expiringetast day of the forty-eighth (48 ) full
calendar month thereafter), unless terminated mmebed, as set forth in the Lea

First Extension Term: Three (3) years (months 4p-84
Second Extension Term: Three (3) years (montl-120)

The Premises contains 1,280 square feet of caged as set forth déxhibit “A” and located within the

Datacenter (Suite [***]).
As described ifexhibit “C” .

Information has been omitted and filed septalgt with the Securities and Exchange Commissianfidential Treatment has been requested
with respect to the omitted portior
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8.

9.

10.
11.

[***]

Base Rent

Installation Fet:

Prepaid Ren:
Landlorts Address for Notices

Initial Term:

Confidential Treatment Requested by Carbonite

$[***] per month for the period commencing on ther@mencement Date and expiring on the last day of
the twelfth (120 ) full calendar month of the Terifittee Lease.

$[***] per month for months 13-24 of the Term.
$[***] per month for months 25-36 of the Term.
$[***] per month for months 37-48 of the Term.
First Extension Terr:

$[***] per month for months 49 -60 of the Term.
$[***] per month for months 61-72 of the Term.
$[***] per month for months 73-84 of the Term.
Second Extension Term

$[***] per month for months 85-96 of the Term.

$[***] per month for months 97-108 of the Term.

$[***] per month for months 10-120 of the Term
Not Applicable.
None.

Digital Phoenix Van Buren, LLC

c/o Digital Realty Trust

120 E. Van Buren

Suite 120

Phoenix, Arizona 85004

Attn: Property Manager

Facsimile No. (602) 682-2212
leaseadministration@digitalrealtytrust.com

With copies to:

Digital Realty Trust, L.P.
1100 Space Park Drive

Suite 104

Santa Clara, CA 95054-3417
Attn: Asset Manager
Facsimile No. (408) 387-8558

and:
Digital Realty Trust, L.P

Information has been omitted and filed septalgt with the Securities and Exchange Commissianfidential Treatment has been requested
with respect to the omitted portior
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12.

Landlorts Address for Payment Bank:

of Rent:

Routing Number
Account Number
Account Name
Regarding/Referenc

Wire Payments:
Bank:

Routing Number
SWIFT:

Account Number
Account Name
Regarding/Referenc:

451 D Street, Suite 912
Boston, MA 02210

Attn: Asset Manager
Facsimile No. (857) 366-9998

and:

Goulston & Storrs 400 Atlantic Avenue Boston,
MA 02110-3333
Attn: Raymond M. Kwasnick, Esq.

and:

Stutzman, Bromberg, Esserman & Plifka, A
Professional Corporation

2323 Bryan Street, Suite 2200

Dallas, TX 75201

Attention: Noah K. Hansford

Facsimile No. (214) 969-4999

E-mail: hansford@sbelaw.com

Bank of America NT&SA
1850 Gateway Blvd.
Concord, CA 9452-3282

12100035¢

145924228:

Digital Phoenix Van Buren, LL(
Tenant Account No., Invoice N

Bank of America NT&SA
100 West 3:d Street
New York, NY 10001

02600959:
BOFAUS3N

145924228:
Digital Phoenix Van Buren, LL(
Tenant Account No., Invoice N
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Check Payments:

Digital Phoenix Van Buren, LLC
P.O. Box 50648
Los Angeles, CA 90074-0648

Overnight Address:

Bank of America Lockbox Services
File 50648

Ground Level

1000 West Temple St.

Los Angeles, CA 90012

Contact Information :

Director of Cash Management
Digital Realty Trust

560 Mission Street, Suite 2900
San Francisco, CA 94105

P: (415) 738-6509

F: (415) 49-3687

13. Brokers: None.

14. Land/Property: The land located at 120 East Van Buren Street, itko&rizona.

15. Building: The building located at 120 East Van Buren Stiebgenix, Arizona. A three-story building containing
287,514 rentable square fe

16. Tenan's Proportionate Sha: 0.78%

17. Meet-Me Room: Suite [***] in the Building.

18. Maximum Structural Loa: 250 pounds of live load per square fc

19 _Datacenter Suite [***] located on the [***] ([***]) floor of t he Building approximately as depicted Exhibit

“A” (the“ Datacenter”).

[***] Information has been omitted and filed sepailst with the Securities and Exchange Commissiamfidential Treatment has been requested
with respect to the omitted portior
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20. _Press Releases After both parties have signed this Lease Tenagit phrepare and deliver to Landlord a mutually gtable
press release (hitial Press Releas€’) announcing Tenant’'s occupancy of the PremisakerBuilding,
which Landlord shall have the right to publish alieseminate. Any changes to any such press release
delivered by Tenant to Landlord must be mutuallsead to in writing prior to any publication or
dissemination of such press release.

In addition, Landlord reserves the right to po$teotpress releases (i.e., other than the Inites$Release
that discloses the fact that Landlord and Tenan¢ lesatered into a lease; provided that same ddes no
disclose the location, economics or square footalgged hereto, except that each such other petessse

shall be subject to Tenant’s review and prior writapproval, which Tenant may grant or withholdsn
sole discretion

This Lease shall consist of the foregoing Basicsedaformation, the provisions of the Standard edRovisions, belowGchedule “1”, above,
andExhibits “A” through “H , inclusive, all of which are incorporated herejntbis reference as of the Effective Date. In therd of any conflict
between the provisions of the Basic Lease Inforomaéind the provisions of the Standard Lease Panssithe Basic Lease Information shall contro
the event of any conflict between the provisionthefExhibits and the Basic Lease Provisions, the provisione@Ekhibits shall control.

-6-



STANDARD LEASE PROVISIONS
1. LEASE OF TENANT SPACE.

1.1 Tenant Space In consideration of the covenants and agreenteriis performed by Tenant, and upon and subjebietterms and conditio
of this Lease, Landlord hereby leases to Tenarth®iTerm, (i) the Premises; and (ii) the Pathway.

1.2 Condition of Tenant Space Tenant has inspected the Datacenter and the T8pace and, subject to Landlord’s completion ef th
Commencement Date Conditions, Tenant accepts thant&pace in its “AS IS, WHERE IS” condition. Teahacknowledges and agrees that
(i) except as specifically set forth herein, noresygntation or warranty (express or implied) hanbeade by Landlord as to the condition of the
Property, the Building, the Datacenter or the Téigpace or their suitability or fithess for the dant of the Permitted Use, its business or for @ther
purpose, and (ii) except as specifically set forthein (including the requirement for Landlord trfporm the Commencement Date Conditions),
Landlord shall have no obligation to constructratall any improvements in or to make any othearattons or modifications to the Property, Building
or the Tenant Space.

1.3 Interconnections; Datacenter Connection Area.

1.3.1lInterconnections. Tenant acknowledges and agrees that all inteeziums between the systems of Tenant and thosthef tenant
of the Datacenter, and all cross-connects betweesytstems of Tenant and those of carriers and wlsEommunications service providers in the
Building, must be made in the Meet-Me Room. Temaknowledges that the Meet-Me Room is not operatedntrolled by Landlord; but, rather, is
operated by tel . As such, all operations in thetde Room (including all MMR Services), and allnbat presences in the Meet-Me Room,
including pathway, are governed and controlleddby teach and all of which is subject to such agwe®s and costs as are mutually agreed in writing,
by and between Tenant andtel

1.3.2Datacenter Connection Area Tenant acknowledges that the Datacenter conmeatin (approximately in the location depicted on
Exhibit “A” , the “Datacenter Connection Ared’) is a Common Area in the Datacenter that willused by and be accessible by other tenants and
their technicians as a common pathway portal.

1.4 Relocation Right. Intentionally Deleted.

1.5 Quiet Enjoyment; Access Subject to all of the terms and conditions o$ théase, Tenant shall quietly have, hold and etijeylenant
Space in conformity with the Permitted Use withbimdrance from Landlord or any person or entityralag by, through or under Landlord. Subjec
the terms and conditions of this Lease, includmgDatacenter Rules and Regulations and Landldwtess Control Systems and Force Majeure,
Tenant shall have access to the Tenant Space -four (24) hours per day, seven (7) days per w



1.6 Common Area. The Common Area shall be subject to Landlordle stanagement and control and shall be operatedhairtained in such
manner as Landlord in Landlord’s discretion shetiedmine, provided that changes in the Common Arade by Landlord shall have no material
adverse affect on Tenant's use of, or accesséolémant Space. Tenant, and the other Tenant £astiall have the nonexclusive right to use the
Common Area as constituted from time to time; susf to be in common with Landlord, the other memloéthe Landlord Group, other tenants of
Building and other persons entitled to use the same subject to such reasonable written rules@galations governing use of the Common Areas as
Landlord may from time to time prescribe; providhdt in the event of any conflict between the psmris of the Lease and the provisions of any rule
or regulation, the provisions of the Lease shatitad. Landlord agrees that rules and regulatioiisnet discriminate against Tenant, as compared to
any similarly situated tenant, in either enforcetrareffect. Landlord agrees that Landlord may teraply close any part of the Common Area for
such periods of time as may be necessary to préivemqublic from obtaining prescriptive rights ormake repairs or alterations; Landlord agreeimg, i
effecting such closure, repairs or alterationsjge reasonable efforts to minimize any interferemitie Tenant’s use of, or access to, the Tenant&pa

1.7 Tenant's Datacenter Expansion Right Subject to the terms and conditions set fortthis Section 1.7, Tenant shall have a tinee right tc
request that Landlord demise to Tenant additiorsshPenter space in the Buildinglatacenter Expansion Area’) which would provide Tenant wi
approximately an additional 500 KW of critical I'&gacity. Tenant shall only have the right to lem&=atacenter Expansion Area if Landlord
determines, in Landlord’s sole, but bona fide, bess judgment, that a Datacenter Expansion Areghenassociated additional power capacity is
available for lease to Tenant. Tenant hereby acletges that the availability of any Datacenter Eigian Area depends upon both: (i) the availability
of premises in the Building for such use by Tenand (ii) the availability of the additional poweaipacity necessary to service such Datacenter
Expansion Area, and the availability of additiopaiver is dependent upon Landlord’s ability to passsuch capacity from a utility company.

1.7.1 If Tenant desires to lease a Datacenter Exparea, Tenant must give written noticdD@tacenter Expansion Request) to
Landlord requesting that Landlord advise Tenaribashether a Datacenter Expansion Area is availfbleease to Tenant.
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1.7.2 Landlord shall, within fifteen (15) calendkays after Landlord receives a Datacenter ExparRemuest from Tenant, give Tenant
written notice (“Landlord’s Datacenter Offer ”) advising Tenant as to whether a Datacenter Expamsiea is available for lease to Tenant and, if
(i) the location of the Datacenter Expansion Af@athe estimated Commencement Date with respettie Datacenter Expansion Area, (iii) the Base
Rent and other costs which would be payable by fteinaconnection with Tenant’'s demise of the DatdeeExpansion Area, both during the Initial
Term (if applicable), the First Extension Term, @he Second Extension Term, and (iv) and such d@émers and conditions as may be applicable to
Tenant's demise of the Datacenter Expansion Arba.Base Rent for a Datacenter Expansion Area sadlased upon the Prevailing Base Rent ( as
defined in Section 1.8.1 below) of the Datacentgudfsion Area, as determined by Landlord in theage of its bona fide business judgment (except
that Tenant shall have the right to submit Landbdittermination to Fair Market Rent Arbitrationancordance with Section 1.8.2); such Base Rent
and other costs shall take into account, withauitétion, costs which Landlord has incurred, od Wédve to incur, both capital cost and on-going%0s
in order to obtain the power capacity from a wtitbmpany necessary to serve the Datacenter ExpaAsea; and such other terms and conditions
shall be based upon the terms and conditions warelthen applicable to leases then being execatezbMmparable Datacenter space in the Building.
Tenant shall take the Datacenter Expansion Aréass” condition (i.e., Landlord shall have no igiation to prepare the Datacenter Expansion Area
for Tenant’s use and occupancy).

1.7.3 If Landlord advises Tenant that a DatacelBtgransion Area is available for lease to Tenattlli) Tenant may lease the Datace
Expansion Area offered in Landlord’s Datacentere®ffy giving written notice (Datacenter Expansion Exercise Notic#) to Landlord on or before
the date fifteen (15) calendar days after Tenartives the Landlord’s Datacenter Offer, (ii) if Bert timely gives Landlord a Datacenter Expansion
Exercise Notice, then Tenant shall lease the Datac&xpansion Area from Landlord for a Term exgircontemporaneously with the expiration of
the Term with respect to the Tenant Space initiddynised to Tenant, upon the terms and conditienfgh in Landlord’s Datacenter Offer, and
otherwise upon all of the same terms and conditigmicable to Tenant's demise of the Tenant Spatially demised to Tenant, to the extent not
inconsistent with the provisions of Landlord’s Degater Offer, and Tenant shall have no furthertrighease additional Datacenter Expansion Area
pursuant to this Section 1.7, and (iii) if Tenaoed not timely give Landlord a Datacenter Expan&rarcise Notice, Tenant shall have no furthertr
to lease additional space pursuant to this Sedtion

1.7.4 If Landlord advises Tenant that a DataceBtgransion Area is not available for lease to Terthein Tenant shall have the right, fr
time to time (but subject to the provisions of tBisction 1.7) to give Landlord subsequent Datacdftpansion Exercise Notices, but not more often
than one time every three months.
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1.7.5 Tenant shall have the right to lease a Datac&xpansion Area only with respect to the etytic such Datacenter Expansion Area.
If Tenant duly exercises its right to lease a Datder Expansion Area, Landlord and Tenant shalteesan amendment reflecting such exercise.
Notwithstanding anything to the contrary hereiry attempted exercise by Tenant of its right todem®atacenter Expansion Area shall, at the ele
of Landlord, be invalid, ineffective, and of no ¢eror effect if, on the date on which Tenant defwe Datacenter Expansion Exercise Notice, or en th
Commencement Date with respect to such Datacenfgrision Area, either: (i) there shall be an undieent of Default by Tenant under this Lease,
or (ii) the Lease is no longer in full force oret.

1.8 Determination of Prevailing Base Rent for Dataenter Expansion Area.

1.8.1 Definition of Prevailing Base Renthe “Prevailing Base Rent’ shall be defined as the prevailing base rent theing charged by
Landlord for comparable space in the Building fewrleases (or if there are no leases of compadatiéeenter space then being entered into in the
Building, then for comparable space in the Markega taking into consideration all relevant factimsluding the quality, size, utility and location
thereof, the length of the term thereof, the cretdinding of Tenant, the amenities provided to mertae Tax Base Year, and any economic
concessions given to tenants such as free rerdliovdance.

If Tenant disagrees with Landlord’s designationhaf Prevailing Base Rent set forth in Landlord’sd@anter Offer, then in Tenant’s
Datacenter Expansion Exercise Notice, Tenant sballest that the determination of Prevailing BasetRor the Datacenter Expansion Area be
submitted to arbitration in accordance with thecpdure set forth below in Section 1.8.2, failingethTenant shall be deemed to have accepted
Landlord’s designation of Prevailing Base Rent.
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Confidential Treatment Requested by Carbonite

1.8.2 Arbitration Procedur&Vithin ten (10) business days after Tenant’s dejite Landlord of Tenant’'s Datacenter ExpansionrEise
Notice, pursuant to which Tenant elects to haveeBRent determined pursuant to Fair Market Renttfation (the* Appointment Deadline”), each
party shall give written notice to the other sejtforth the name and address of the DisintereskgeiE selected by such party, who has agreed tmact
such capacity, to determine the Prevailing Basd Rerthe Datacenter Expansion Area. If eitherypartall fail to select a Disinterested Expert withi
the required time period, then the Disinterestegdtixselected by the other party shall determipePtevailing Base Rent. Each Disinterested Expert
shall thereupon independently make its determinaifdhe Prevailing Base Rent within thirty calen(20) days after the Appointment Deadline (e
an “Initial Expert Determination ”). If either Disinterested Expert shall fail to keaan Initial Expert Determination of the PrevaijliBase Rent
within thirty (30) days after the Appointment Deaél then the Initial Expert Determination of theer Disinterested Expert (to the extent that such
Disinterested Expert makes such Initial Expert Brateation within such thirty (30) day period) shia# deemed the Prevailing Base Rent. If the two
(2) Disinterested Expert#hitial Expert Determination are not the same, thethigher of such two (2) values is not more tfi&f] percent ([***]%) of
the lower of such values, then the Prevailing Bset shall be deemed to be the average of theaywm(ues. If, however, the higher of such two
(2) values is more than [***] percent ([***]%) ofte lower of such values, then the two (2) Disirgeze Experts shall jointly appoint a third (3
rd) Disinterested Expert (the3'rd Expert ") within ten (10) days after the second (2nd)ta two (2) Initial Expert Determinations has beendered
and delivered to the other party. The 3 Expertlshdépendently choose which of the Initial Expgterminations is the more accurate with regard
to Prevailing Base Rent, and the Initial Expertddetination chosen by the@Expert shall be deemed to be the Prevailing Base Rethe Datacentt
Expansion Area. The® Expert shall only choose fo@tween the Initial Expert Determinations providigdeach of the other Disinterested Experts
and shall not be afforded the opportunity to reradeindependent Initial Expert Determination. Far purposes hereof Disinterested Expert” shall
mean a broker who has been regularly engaged ibusieess of datacenter leasing in the Market Ageat least the five (5) years immediately
preceding such person’s appointment hereunder. gty shall pay for the cost of its Disintereskegbert and one-half of the cost of any Bxpert. i
the Base Rent for the Datacenter Expansion Arelhrsbishave been determined prior to the Commenceate with respect to such Datacenter
Expansion Area, then Tenant shall commence to pee Rent with respect to such Datacenter Expadsies based upon Landlord’s initial
determination of the Prevailing Base Rent, and afieh Base Rent is determined by arbitration, githrer (i)Tenant shall, within thirty (30) calemda
days after billing, pay to Landlord any underpayi@Base Rent, or (ii) Landlord shall credit torib@t’s account any overpayment of Base Rent.

1.9 Licenses and Permits Landlord shall, at Landlord’s cost, obtain atklhses, approvals, permits and authorizations nedjbly applicable
federal, state, and local laws and regulationslthatllord is required to have in order to perfoha Landlord’s Essential Services and to perform
Landlord’s Installations. Landlord shall providenBat with all such licenses, approvals, permitsauttiorizations within ten (10) business days after
Landlord’s receipt of Tenant’s request therefore.

[***] Information has been omitted and filed sepeilg with the Securities and Exchange Commissiamfidential Treatment has been requested
with respect to the omitted portior
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2. TERM.

2.1 Term. The term of this Lease, and Tenant’s obligatmpdy Rent under this Lease, shall commence oGdnemencement Date and shall
continue in effect for the Term of the Lease, &sghme may be extended, or earlier terminated;dordance with the express terms of this Lease.

2.2 Delivery of Tenant Space Landlord shall use commercially reasonable esfaytsatisfy the Commencement Date Conditions poidhe
Target Commencement Date. Landlord and Tenant adkdge and agree that, by virtue of Landlord’s\d&ly of the Commencement Date Notice to
Tenant, Landlord shall be deemed to have delivilred’enant Space to Tenant, and Tenant shall beeteto have accepted the same.

2.2.1Failure to Meet Commencement Date ConditionsIn the event that the Commencement Date Conditi@ve not been completed
by the Target Commencement Date, subject to exierisi virtue of Force Majeure, Landlord shall netdeemed in default hereunder, and the
Commencement Date shall be postponed, as Tenale'suisd exclusive alternative remedies, until thgean which the Commencement Date
Conditions have occurred. Notwithstanding the foieg:

2.2.1.1 If the Commencement Date Conditions hateocurred prior to the Outside Liquidated DamabDate, subject to extension
by virtue of Force Majeure, Tenant shall receiveelit (“ Rent Credit ") of [***] days of Rent (calculated using the Restnounts which
would have been payable had the Tenant Space ineely tlielivered) for each day between the Outsidgiidated Damages Date (as
extended by virtue of Force Majeure) and the dateroich the Commencement Date Conditions occunigeal however that in no event
shall the amount of the Rent Credit exceed 30 d&fRent (calculated using the Rent amounts whichld/bave been payable had the
Tenant Space been timely delivered); or

2.2.1.2 If the Commencement Date Conditions have@ocurred prior to the Outside Completion Datdyjsct to extension by virtue
of Force Majeure, Tenant shall have the right tmieate this Lease, provided that:

(a) Tenant notifies Landlord of such terminatioiopto the earlier to occur of: (1) completion betCommencement Date
Conditions; or (2) ten (10) business days afteiQheside Completion Date; and

(b) Landlord has not caused the Commencement Datdi®ons to have been completed within five (5yglafter its receipt of
such notice of termination from Tenant.

[***] Information has been omitted and filed septails with the Securities and Exchange Commissiamfidential Treatment has been requested
with respect to the omitted portior
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If (aa) the Commencement Date Conditions are caiegblerior to Tenant’s exercise of the foregoingni@ation right, (bb) the
Commencement Date Conditions are completed widnn(10) days after Tenant’s exercise of the foregtérmination right, or (cc)
Tenant shall fail to exercise such termination trigithin ten (10) days after the Outside Completizate, then such termination right shall,
in any such event, be deemed to have expired aailj stereafter, be of no further force or effect.

2.3 Extension Options.

2.3.1 Subject to and in accordance with the temmascanditions of this Section 2.3, Tenant shallehene following options (Extension
Options ") to extend the Term of the Lease.

First Extension Termr Three (3) years (months-99)
Second Extension Terr Three (3) years (months 1-136)

Tenant's right to extend the Term of the Lease wagpect to any Extension Term shall be conditiapzh Tenant having timely and properly
exercised its right to extend the Term of the Ldasall prior Extension Terms.

2.3.2 Each Extension Term shall be upon all ofséae terms, conditions and provisions applicabtegédhen-current Term of this Lease
(except as provided otherwise herein). Tenant $taaié no further options to extend the Term, exaspxpressly set forth in this Section 2.3.

2.3.3 The monthly Extension Term Base Rent payafiterespect to the Tenant Space for each Extergom shall be as follows:

First Extension Termr See Item 8 of the Basic Lease Informait
Second Extension Terr See Item 8 of the Basic Lease Informat

2.3.4 With respect to the First Extension Optiod #re Second Extension Option, Tenant may exeezsh such Extension Option only
delivering anExtension Option Exercise Noticdo Landlord at least nine (9) calendar months (amtdnore than twelve (12) calendar months) pric
the then applicable expiration date of the Ternec#ping that Tenant is irrevocably exercisingBtstension Option so as to extend the Term of this
Lease by an Extension Term on the terms set forthi$ Section 2.3.

-13-



2.3.5 In the event that Tenant shall duly exerais&xtension Option, the Term shall be extendéddiode the applicable Extension Term
(and all references to the Term in this Lease sfeatleemed to refer to the Term specified in Iteof the Basic Lease Information, plus all Extension
Terms properly exercised by Tenant). In the evieat Tenant shall fail to deliver an Extension Optitxercise Notice, or an Initial Extension Option
Notice, as the case may be, within the applicabie period specified herein for the delivery théréime being of the essence, at the electio
Landlord, Tenant shall be deemed to have forevéredzand relinquished such Extension Option, andaher options or rights to renew or extenc
Term effective after the then applicable expiratiae of the Term shall terminate and shall beoofunther force or effect.

2.3.6 Tenant shall have the right to exercise axtgrision Option only with respect to the entire driSpace leased by Tenant at the time
that Tenant delivers the applicable Extension @pigercise Notice. If Tenant duly exercises an &siten Option, Landlord and Tenant shall execute
an amendment reflecting such exercise. Notwithst@nanything to the contrary herein, any attemmeercise by Tenant of an Extension Option s
at the election of Landlord, be invalid, ineffeetj\and of no force or effect if, on the date onclhienant delivers an Extension Option Exercise
Notice, Initial Extension Option Notice, or on tlate on which the Extension Term is scheduled toraence, either: (i) there shall be an unct
Event of Default by Tenant under this Lease, Qttlii¢ Lease is no longer in full force or effect.

3. BASE RENT AND OTHER CHARGES .

3.1 Base Rent Tenant shall pay Base Rent to Landlord throughtoeifTerm of this Lease. All Base Rent shall bel paiLandlord in monthly
installments in advance on the first day of eadherery calendar month throughout the Term ofltkisse; provided, however, that:

(a) if the Term of this Lease does not commenctheriirst day of a calendar month, the Base Remthi® Partial Month shall (i) be calculated
a per diem basis determined by dividing the Bagsa Rleove by the total number of calendar days @ fartial Month and multiplying such
amount by the number of days remaining in suchi&@dionth from and after (and including) the Commement Date, and (ii) be paid by
Tenant to Landlord on the Commencement Date; and

(b) if the Term of this Lease is terminated on tedaher than the last day of a calendar month paeyaid Base Rent and Additional Rent shall
be refunded to Tenant on a per diem and prorateid bar each day during the calendar month afeeffective date of termination for which
Tenant has paid Base Rent and Additional Renhdcektent that such overpayment exceeds any amthemtsiue from Tenant to Landlord.

Tenant shall not pay any installment of Rent mbentone (1) month in advance.
3.2 Installation Fee. Intentionally Deleted.
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Confidential Treatment Requested by Carbonite

3.3 Payments Generally Base Rent and all forms of Additional Rent pagdi#reunder by Tenant (i) shall be payable to laddivhen due,
without any prior notice or demand therefor, infaMmoney of the United States without any abatetnefifiset or deduction whatsoever (except as
specifically provided otherwise herein), and (gl be payable to Landlord at the address of Landdspecified in Item 12 of the Basic Lease
Information (or to such other person or to sucteotilace as Landlord may from time to time desigiatwriting to Tenant). No receipt of money by
Landlord from Tenant after the termination of thesase shall reinstate, continue or extend the Térthis Lease. No partial payment by Tenant shall
be deemed to be other than on account of the iudiuat otherwise due, nor shall any endorsemenrtateraent on any check or any letter
accompanying any check or payment be deemed andaaod satisfaction, and Landlord shall be entitteelccept such payment without compromise
or prejudice to any of the rights of Landlord heréer or under any Applicable Laws. In the event the Commencement Date or the expiration of the
Term (or the date of any earlier termination o§theéase) falls on a date other than the firststrday of a calendar month, respectively, the Rent
payable for such partial calendar month shall loegted based on a per diem basis.

3.4 Late Payments Landlord and Tenant agree that if Landlord haseceived any payment of Rent on or before thénakncy Date, Tena
shall, in addition to Tenant’s obligation to pag thate Payment to Landlord, also be required totpdyandlord, as Additional Rent, (i) a Late Charge
and (ii) Late Payment Interest from the DelinqueBage until the date the foregoing are paid, ctilety, to cover Landlord’s additional
administrative costs and damages related to sutehRayment, which are difficult, if not impossible,determine. Notwithstanding the foregoing,
Landlord hereby agrees to waive the Late Charge mgpect to the first late payment in any twell2{month period. In no event, however, shall the
charges permitted under this Section 3.4, or elsesvim this Lease, to the extent the same arederesl to be interest under Applicable Law, exceed
the maximum lawful rate of interest. Landlasdicceptance of any Late Charge, or any Late Payimenest, shall not be deemed to constitute aev
of Tenant’s default with respect to the Late Paytneor prevent Landlord from exercising any of tteer rights and remedies available to Landlord
hereunder or under any Applicable Laws.

3.5 Utilities .

3.5.1Tenant’s Utility Payment . Tenant shall pay the cost of all utilities (eajectricity, chilled water) serving, provided toddor used in
or for the Tenant Space (collectivelyT&nant’s Utility Payment ”). Landlord and Tenant agree that, each monthamgs Utility Payment shall be a
sum equal to (a) Tenant's actual metered utilitstedor the month in question, based on the Megeiquipment — Utility, plus (b) [***] percent
(***1%) of Tenant’s actual metered utility costeif such month to account for those portions of sutdlty costs that are not metered directly to the
Premises (i.e., a total of [***] ([***]%) of Tenars actual metered utility costs). Tenant shall papant’s Utility Payment to Landlord, as Additional
Rent, within thirty (30) days after Tenant's redepeach Tenant’s Utility Payment invoice.

[***] Information has been omitted and filed separatétly the Securities and Exchange Commission. ConfideTreatment has been reques
with respect to the omitted portior
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3.5.2Periods of Premises UnderutilizationTenant acknowledges that Shared InfrastructuresGaifitbe incurred for the operation of the
Building and the Datacenter regardless of whetheretis any power being drawn in the Premises.usb,sSection 3.5.1 above notwithstanding,
Landlord and Tenant hereby agree that, during Bemd Premises Underutilization, Tenant’s Utilitsyhent shall be determined by virtue of a
reasonable proration of the Shared Infrastructgt<(based on power capacity).

3.5.3Generator Fuel Usage Additionally, Tenant shall pay Tenant’s propontde share (based on power usage) of the cosdt of al
Generator Fuel Usage, except for the extent tohlwbirch Generator Fuel Usage represents MainterraretidJsage. Landlord shall bill Tenant not
more frequently than monthly for the amount of @enerator Fuel Payment. Tenant shall pay the Gemdfael Payment to Landlord, as Additional
Rent, within thirty (30) days of delivery of eaclei@rator Fuel Payment invoice. For the avoidanaaubt, it is the intent of the parties that this
Section 3.5.3 represents a mechanism only for laxd® cost recovery with regard to non-maintenanetated Generator Fuel Usage, and that there is
no intent for Tenant’'s Generator Fuel Payment ¢tuiste any element of profit to Landlord in connenttherewith.

3.5.4Billing Disputes and Reports. Landlord and Tenant shall exercise good faitbrédfto resolve all billing disputes to their mutua
satisfaction within thirty (30) calendar days.

4. TAXES.

4.1 Taxes — Equipment Tenant shall be liable for and shall pay at léaist(10) days before delinquency all Taxes — Egeipt. If any such
Taxes — Equipment are levied or assessed againdtdrd or the Property, and if Landlord elects &y the same, Tenant shall pay to Landlord as
Additional Rent, within thirty (30) days of Landtiis demand therefor, that part of such Taxes —gant for which Tenant is liable hereunder.

4.2 Taxes — Other. Tenant shall pay to Landlord, as Additional Ramd within thirty (30) days of Landlord’s demanetfor, and in such
manner and at such times as Landlord shall direat time to time by written notice to Tenant allX€a — Other.

4.3 Taxes — Real Property

4.3.1 If the Taxes — Real Property (Actual) duramy calendar year are greater than the Taxes -HRepérty (Actual) applicable to the
Tax Base Year, Tenant shall be obligated to pdyatallord as Additional Rent an amount equal to Ti&ésaProportionate Share of Taxes — Real
Property (Actual).
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4.3.2 Beginning with the Effective Date (or as stiereafter as reasonably possible), Landlord giallide to Tenant a statement of the
Taxes — Real Property (Projected) for the Profertyhe year in which the Effective Date occursndiet shall pay each Projected Real Property Tax
Installment to Landlord on the first day of eachntioduring the Term of the Lease. Until Tenant reaeived the statement of the Taxes — Real
Property (Projected) from Landlord, Tenant shatitcwe to pay Projected Real Property Tax Instafli®¢o Landlord in the same amount (if any) as
required for the last month of the prior calendeary Upon Tenant's receipt of such statement offthees -Real Property (Projected), Tenant shall
to Landlord, or Landlord shall pay to Tenant (wkeear is appropriate), the difference between thewarnpaid by Tenant as Projected Real Property
Tax Installments prior to receiving such statengard the amount payable by Tenant therefor as gétifosuch statement. Landlord shall provide
Tenant a statement on or before June 15 (or astheoeafter as reasonably possible) after the éedah calendar year, showing Tenant’s
Proportionate Share of Taxes — Real Property (Acapplicable to such calendar year, as compardaketéotal of the Projected Real Property Tax
Installments for such calendar year. If Tenantigp®@rtionate Share of Taxes — Real Property (Actisal$uch calendar year exceeds the aggregate of
the Projected Real Property Tax Installments ctélgdy Landlord from Tenant with regard to suclendbr year, Tenant shall pay to Landlord, within
thirty (30) calendar days following Tenant's red¢aipsuch statement, the amount of such excesseMenyif Tenant’s Proportionate Share of Taxes —
Real Property (Actual) for such calendar year $s linan the aggregate of the Projected Real Pyopaxt Installments collected by Landlord from
Tenant with regard to such calendar year, Landdbadl pay to Tenant, within thirty (30) calendaysldollowing Tenant's receipt of such statement,
the amount of such excess. Landlord shall haveighé from time to time during each calendar yearavise the Taxes — Real Property (Projected),
based upon Landlord’s reasonable estimate of isesear decreases in Taxes — Real Property (Prd)esmel provide Tenant with a revised statement
thereof. Thereafter, Tenant shall pay Projected Remperty Tax Installments on the basis of these statement. If the Commencement Date is not
the first day of a calendar year, or the expiratiotermination date of this Lease is not the dst of a calendar year, then Tenant’'s Proportionate
Share of Taxes — Real Property (Actual) shall lmegted. The foregoing adjustment provisions shallige the expiration or termination of the Term
of this Lease. If Landlord receives an abatemefiiaofes — Real Property for any fiscal/tax yearmispect of which Tenant pays Tenant’s Proportionate
Share of Taxes — Real Property, then Landlord siihin thirty (30) days after Landlord actuallgceives the proceeds of such abatement, credit or
pay to Tenant with Tenarst'Proportionate Share of the net (i.e. net of é@senable costs incurred by Landlord in obtainimdhsabatement) amount
such abatement proceeds, provided however, that @vent shall Tenant receive, with respect tofawal tax year, more than the actual amount of
Tenant's Proportionate Share of Taxes — Real Ptppeaid by Tenant for Landlord for such fiscal tgear.

5.  SECURITY DEPOSIT . Intentionally omitted

6. PERMITTED USE; COMPLIANCE WITH RULES AND LAWS; HAZA RDOUS MATERIALS .

6.1 Permitted Use Tenant shall use the Tenant Space only for thenited Use. Any other use of the Tenant Spacabgest to Landlord’s
prior written consent, which consent may be withrel conditioned in Landlord’s sole and absolutetion.
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6.1.1Limitations on Permitted Use. Tenant agrees that neither Tenant, nor any dtheant Party, may use the Tenant Space, or operate
within the Tenant Space, the Datacenter and/oBtlikling, in any manner, which: (i) causes or iagenably likely to cause damage to the Property,
the Building, the Datacenter, the Tenant SpacenpBaiilding System; (ii) will invalidate or otheragé violate a requirement or condition of any fire,
extended coverage or any other insurance policgrioy the Property, the Building, and/or the Terpdce, or the property located therein, or will
increase the cost of any of the same, unless Teemnburses Landlord for the amount of increaseseduly Tenant, or any Tenant Party;
(iii) constitutes a nuisance and/or otherwise fetes with other tenants’ or occupants’ use of spad¢he Building or otherwise at the Property,/and
any equipment, facilities or systems of any sudiamé or occupant; (iv) interferes with the transitn or reception of microwave, television, radio,
telephone, or other communication signals by argemm other facilities located at the Property. ifiddally, and notwithstanding anything to the
contrary contained in this Section 6.1, Tenantegthat neither Tenant, nor any other Tenant Prudy, (a) operate a meet-me room (i.e., a facility
which has capacities and uses similar to the MegtRdom) in the Tenant Space or any other portidch@Building, (b) provide MMR Services in the
Tenant Space or any other portion of the Buildorg(c) refer to the Tenant Space as a “meet-me tobemant agrees to reimburse Landlord for any
losses, costs or damages caused by unauthorizéespaho gain access to the Tenant Space or tHdiBgithrough access cards, keys or other access
devices provided to Tenant (or any other TenartyPhy Landlord. Tenant agrees to reimburse Lamtjlas Additional Rent, for any additional
insurance premium charged by Landlord’s insuramseger for any insurance policy to the extent causg Tenant’s failure to comply with the
provisions of this Section 6.1.1.

6.2 Datacenter Rules and RegulationsTenant’s Permitted Use shall be subject to, senkiit, and all other Tenant Parties, shall comgly f
with the Datacenter Rules and Regulations. Landtbiadl have the right, from time-to-time, to chapgmend and/or supplement the Datacenter Rules
and Regulations as may be deemed by Landlordgiexkrcise of its sole but good faith discretiatyisable for the safety, care and/or cleanliness of
the Tenant Space, the Datacenter, the Buildingoarnké Property, and/or for the preservation ofdyorder in any of same; provided, however, that
such changes to the Datacenter Rules and Regidatiag not increase Tenant’'s monetary obligatiomeuthis Lease or unreasonably interfere with
Tenant's Permitted Use of the Tenant Space. Laddlball notify Tenant in writing promptly after mal any changes to the Datacenter Rules and
Regulations and shall provide Tenant with a copyoofmake available to Tenant electronically, txised and current version of the Datacenter Rules
and Regulations. In the event of a conflict betwi#enDatacenter Rules and Regulations and the tefthss Lease, the terms of this Lease shall
govern. Tenant shall be responsible for causingther Tenant Parties to comply with the DataceRtdes and Regulations.

6.3 Compliance with Laws; Hazardous Materials

6.3.1Compliance with Laws. Tenant, at Tenant’s sole cost and expense, tiinally take all action required to cause all Alteras and
Tenant's (and all other Tenant Parties’) use offtteant Space to comply at all times during thenTef this Lease in all respects with all Applicable
Laws.
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6.4 Electricity Consumption Threshold. Tenant’s actual electricity consumption for threrRises, as reasonably determined by Landlord
pursuant to such measurement method or methodaraidrd shall employ from time to time (includirgetuse of sub-meters and/or pulse meters,
electrical surveys and/or engineer’s estimateg)l] slot at any time, exceed the Electricity ConstiompThreshold. The power drawn by all of Tenant’
Personal Property shall be included in the calmradf Tenant’'s actual electricity consumption foe Premises, except that if Tenant leases the
Datacenter Expansion Area pursuant to Sectiontf2ed, the Electricity Consumption Threshold shallimeased by the additional electrical capacity
provided to Tenant in connection with its demis¢hef Datacenter Expansion Area. In the event th&@T Overage occurs, Tenant agrees to take
immediate action to cause power consumption irPtteenises to be at or below the Electricity Consuompt hreshold.

6.5 Maximum Structural Load . Tenant shall not place a load upon the Premis#sedatacenter exceeding the Maximum Structuoald.

7. ACCESS CONTROL; LANDLORD 'S ESSENTIAL SERVICES; INTERRUPTION OF SERVICES .

7.1 Access Control Landlord will provide Landlord’s Access Controtssems during the Term of this Lease. Landlordmessethe right, but
without assuming any duty, to institute additioaatess control measures in order to further coatrdlregulate access to the Building or any part
thereof. Except as provided ftxhibit “F” , Landlord shall not, under any circumstancesgpansible for providing or supplying security seeg to
the Datacenter, the Tenant Space or any part dfiding in excess of the LandlogiAccess Control Systems (and, unless expressiedgn writing
by Landlord, Landlord shall not under any circumsts bedleemedto have agreed to provide any access control sscexcess of the Landlord’s
Access Control Systems). Tenant acknowledges amaghat the activities of all persons in the Dader are and shall be subject to surveillance by
video camera and/or otherwise by Landlord’s agantsemployees.

7.2 Landlord’s Essential Services Landlord’s agreement to provide Landlord’s Esisi8ervices and Tenant’s remedies for Interrugtioh
Landlord’s Essential Services, are describe@®xibit “F” , attached hereto. Landlord shall install tempeeasensors under the floor of the Tenant
Space at the either end and in the middle of eakthaisle with the Tenant Space. Landlord shallitssbest efforts to make available to Tenant tssul
of the temperature monitoring provided by such semthroughout the Term of the Lease.

7.3 Customer Handbook. Landlord agrees, throughout the Term of the Le@seperate the Datacenter in accordance witlbtgial Realty
Trust “Customer Handbook”, Version 2.5 dated Sejpend, 2009 (“Handbook”), as it may be modifiedlandlord from time to time; provided that:
(i) Landlord shall give Tenant at least thirty (2&ys prior written notice of any modificationstt® Handbook, and (ii) any modifications to the
Handbook shall be consistent with the then cumesmner of operation of the other datacenters opetay Digital Realty Trust and its affiliates in
Arizona.
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7.4 Interruption of Services. Landlord shall not be liable or responsible todiet for any loss, damage or expense of any typehwifenant
may sustain or incur if the quantity or charactiethe utility-providedelectric service is changed, is no longer availatnés no longer suitable for
Tenant's requirements for any reason other thaffiethié of Landlord. Additionally, except as exprgsset forth orExhibit “F” , attached hereto, with
regard to Interruptions of Essential Services,nterfuption or malfunction of any electrical or ettservice to the Premises, or to any other podfon
the Building or Property, shall, in any event,g@nstitute an eviction or disturbance of Tenante and possession of the Tenant Space, (ijictes
breach by Landlord of any of Landlord’s obligatiamgder this Lease, (iii) render Landlord liable dimmages of any type or entitle Tenant to be
relieved from any of Tenant’s obligations undesthéase (including the obligation to pay Base R&dditional Rent, or other charges), (iv) grant
Tenant any right of setoff or recoupment, (v) pdavirenant with any right to terminate this Leasd€yvi) make Landlord liable for any injury to or
interference with Tenant’s business or any punjtiveidental or Consequential Damages, whetheiséwable or not, whether arising from or relating
to the making of or failure to make any repairteraltions or improvements, or whether arising fiamnelated to the provision of or failure to proid
for or to restore any service in or to any portidrthe Property, the Building or the Datacentertha event of the interruption of any such service,
however, Landlord shall employ commercially reasi@a&fforts to restore such service or cause threega be restored in any circumstances in which
such restoration is within the reasonable contrdlemdlord.

8. MAINTENANCE; ALTERATIONS; REMOVAL OF TENANT 'S PERSONAL PROPERTY.

8.1 Landlord’s Maintenance. Except as expressly provided in this Section Bahdlord shall have no obligation to repair andf@intain the
Tenant Space. Landlord will maintain and keep indyeepair the Pathway, the PDUs serving the Preapissndlord’s Access Control Systems, the
HVAC system serving the Premises, the UPS Plantrapthe Premises, the Back-Up Power, the fire seggion systems serving the Premises, the
Common Area cable management systems (compriseddédr racks, fiber trays, undéoor cable trays and other similar equipment ledawithin the
Common Areas that are installed for the benefalbfenants of the Building), all other common itfisystems, the floors and foundation of the
Building, the exterior walls and windows of the Biimg, the roof of the Building, the Common Arett&¢ Common Area HVAC system within the
Building, and all other structural portions of tBeilding.

8.1.1PM Standards. Tenant acknowledges that Landlord’'s PM Standsind#l be updated on at least an annual basis. dethdhall
provide Tenant with Landlord’s PM Schedule as feadvance as is reasonably practicable. Landlorekeago perform the PM Activities, to
substantially adhere to the then current PM Scleeitiutonnection with such performance, and, exiceph emergency, to give Tenant at least seven
(7) calendar days’ written notice prior to any of@rn the PM Schedule.
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8.1.2Tenant’s PM Audit . During the Term, Tenant shall have the right,eoper rolling six (6) month period, to perform a PMJdit.
Tenant shall exercise the foregoing right by delivgits PM Audit Notice to Landlord no less théuirty (30) days before the date upon which Tenant
desires to perform its PM Audit. The PM Audit Netimust detail the equipment for which Tenant wigbeaspect the PM Books and Records. Any
such PM Audit shall be performed during Landlondésmal business hours at a time and location witinBuilding reasonably designated by
Landlord. Landlord shall respond to Tenant's PM Adibtice within five (5) business days after Laomdl's receipt of Tenant's PM Audit Notice with
the date, time and location of Tenant's PM AudiTénant’s PM Audit reveals that Landlord is delieqt in complying with the PM Schedule, Tenant
shall deliver written notice to Landlord of sucHidguency, and Landlord shall cure such delinquenitgin the time allowed pursuant to
Section 16.1.1 of this Lease.

8.1.3PM Change. In connection with the foregoing, in the everattiienant desires that Landlord make a PM Changyearit agrees to
provide Landlord a PM Change Request no fewer thhanty (20) calendar daygrior to the next scheduled occurrence of the PNivitg to which the
PM Change Request applies. In the event that Lathidaeasonably able to accommodate the PM Charagellord shall provide Tenant PM Change
Cost Estimate, within three (3) business days afi@dlord’s receipt of the PM Change Request. Teagrees to notify Landlord within five
(5) business days after Tenant’s receipt of the@GHdnge Cost Estimate as to whether or not Tenaaotsefo have the PM Change implemented. If
Tenant timely elects to have the PM Change impleetTenant shall pay Landlord the actual incremdearhount of the costs incurred by Landlon
connection with the PM Change within thirty (30)ezalar days after Tenant’s receipt of an invoigestime from Landlord.
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8.2 Tenant’s Maintenance During the Term of this Lease, Tenant shall, etdnt’s sole cost and expense, maintain the naotstal portions
of the Tenant Space and Tenant's equipment thergjnod order and condition. If Tenant fails to ntain the non-structural portions of the Tenant
Space as required by the foregoing sentence,Ta@miéint or any of Tenarsttechnicians or representatives physically damtgeBroperty, the Buildir
or any portion of the Building or the Property tbe personal property of any other tenant or oceyma causes an interruption of services to the
Premises, the Datacenter and/or in the Buildingdlerd may, but shall not be obligated to: (i) penfi the maintenance and repair which Tenant was
required to perform, (ii) repair the damage cause@enant or its technicians or representativesijiprestore such interruption of services, as tiase
may be, and any reasonable amounts expended byoldrid connection therewith, plus an administratdharge of ten percent (10%) of such
amounts, shall be reimbursed by Tenant to Landisrddditional Rent within thirty (30) calendar dafter Landlord’s demand therefor.

8.3 Alterations.

8.3.1 Except as expressly permitted under thise.easis otherwise authorized by Landlord in writifignant shall not make or cause tc
made any Alterations to the Tenant Space, the Batar, or any other portion of the Building or Redp without the prior written consent and
approval of Landlord, which consent shall not besasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed. Thiedoing notwithstanding, Landlord’s consent
shall not be required for any usual and customastallations, repairs, maintenance, and removatgjoipment and telecommunication cables within
the Tenant Space if and to the extent that sudhliagons, repairs, maintenance, and removar@)usual and customary within the industry, (i@ a
in compliance with the Datacenter Rules and Regurat and (iii) will not affect the Building’s steture, the provision of services to other Building
tenants, or the Building’s electrical, plumbing, A&, life safety or mechanical systems. Landlord &edant acknowledge and agree that
(a) Landlord’s Installations and LandlosdOS Installations are hereby deemed to be Alteratihereunder; and (b) all Alterations shall bedsfpart o
the Tenant Space without any obligation on Tengrdl$ to remove the same, upon the expiration dieegermination of this Lease, in good and
operable condition, ordinary wear and tear exce@rd damage caused by a Casualty Event, Takingeatefault of Landlord excepted.

8.3.2 Each request for Alterations consent mustagomne (1) full size hard copy of all drawinggéther with one (1) full set of drawings
on CD.

8.3.3 In any instance where Tenant desires to adrlterations, Tenant's contractors, laborers,eriat men and others furnishing labor
or materials for Tenant’s job must work in harmoagd not interfere, with any labor utilized by Léovd, Landlord’s contractors or mechanics or by
any other tenant or such other tenant’s contractorsechanics; and if at any time such entry by @)®r more persons furnishing labor or materials
for Tenant’s work shall cause disharmony or interfiee for any reason whatsoever without regarduti,fthe consent granted by Landlord to Tenant
and/or the express or implied permission for sumis@ns to enter the Premises may be withdrawnyatirae upon written notice to Tenant.
Additionally, all such contractors, laborers, matemen and others must obtain (and provide Landéstidence of) such insurance as Landlord may
reasonably require, prior to any such entry; predithat, in no event shall such insurance requintsrexceed those that are describe@&xinmibit “B-

1" , attached hereto.
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8.4 Removal of Tenant’s Personal Property Tenant agrees that, upon the expiration, or dretore the date ten (10) calendar days prioreo th
earlier termination, of the Term this Lease, Tersdnal at Tenant’s sole cost and expense, promgthove all of Tenant’'s Personal Property, and shall
restore those portions of the Building, the Datéeerand/or the Tenant Space damaged by such réwiofa by the initial installation of) such
Tenant’s Personal Property to their condition éxistimmediately prior to the installation or placemt of such items (including the replacement of all
damaged floor tiles in the Premises), ordinary veeat tear, and damage caused by a Casualty Eaatglor default of Landlord excepted. If Tenant
fails to promptly remove any such Tenant’'s Pers@maperty pursuant to this Section 8.4, Landlor@ldtave the right to cause the removal of such
Tenant's Personal Property and the restoratiohase portions of the Building, the Datacenter, antlfe Tenant Space damaged by such removal to
their condition existing immediately prior to thestallation or placement of such Tenant’'s PersBnaperty, ordinary wear and tear, and damage
caused by a Casualty Event, Taking or default ofdl@rd excepted, in which case Tenant agrees nabuise Landlord within thirty (30) days of
Landlord’s demand therefor, for all of Landlordéasonable costs of removal and restoration pluslaninistrative fee equal to ten percent (10%) of
such costs.

9. CASUALTY EVENTS; TAKINGS; INSURANCE
9.1 Casualty Events; Takings

9.1.1Casualty Events. If, during the Term of this Lease, any portiortleé Building, the Datacenter, or the Tenant Sizhed! be damage
or destroyed, in whole or in part, by a Casualteiity Landlord shall, subject to the terms of thest#®n 9.1.1, and Sections 9.1.1.1 and 9.1.1.2wpel
cause the Casualty Repair to occur. Landlord sinallide the Casualty Repair Notice to Tenant as s®0is reasonably practicable following the
Casualty Event. For the avoidance of doubt, howestesh repair and reconstruction obligation shatlbe deemed to include any obligation on the
of Landlord with regard to any Alteration othernhzandlord’s Installations and Landlord’s OS Inktabns, nor any of Tenant's Personal Property.

9.1.1.1Landlord’s Termination Right . Notwithstanding the foregoing, in the event et Repair Period-Estimated exceeds
ninety (90) calendar days, Landlord shall haveritjigt to terminate this Lease by, and effectiveryparitten notice to Tenant as part of the Casualty
Repair Notice.

9.1.1.2Tenant’s Termination Right . If (a) a Casualty Event causes damage to thenf&Syace, or (b) a Casualty Event causes
damage to the Building, such that Tenant is preagfrom accessing the Premises or the Tenant Spaodit for use by Tenant in the ordinary course
of Tenant’s business, then Tenant shall have gte to terminate this Lease by, and effective upaitten notice to Landlord if (i) the Repair Patio
Estimated exceeds one hundred twenty (120) caletades (in which case Tenant must provide writteticedo Landlord of such termination within
ten (10) business days after Tenant's receipt@fdasualty Repair Notice), or (ii) the Repair Pé#ztual exceeds ninety (90) calendar days (in wl
case Tenant must provide written notice to Landtdfrduch termination prior to the one hundredthO(tQ) calendar day of the Repair Period-Actual).
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9.1.1.3Casualty-Complete. The foregoing notwithstanding, in the event @asualty-Complete, this Lease shall automatically
terminate as of the date of the Casualty-Complete.

9.1.1.4Rent Abatement — Casualty Events In the event that this Lease is terminated pursteaSections 9.1.1.1, 9.1.1.2 or
9.1.1.3, above, Landlord shall refund to Tenantam@paid Base Rent, less any sum then owing tolbeshtdy Tenant. If, however, this Lease is not
terminated pursuant to any of said Sections, therBase Rent and Tenant’s Proportionate SharexafsTl-a Property payable by Tenant with respect to
the Tenant Space shall be abated proportionateigglthe Repair Period-Actual to the extent that Trenant Space (i) is unfit for use by Tenant & th
ordinary conduct of Tenant’s business, and (iijpalty is not used by Tenant.

9.1.2Takings .

9.1.2.1Total Taking . If all or substantially all of the Tenant Spattes Building or the Property shall be the subjéa daking,
this Lease shall terminate as of the date of tiséing of title in the condemning authority.

9.1.2.2Partial Taking . If only a part of the Tenant Space, the Buildinghe Property shall be the subject of a Takihi, lLease
shall continue in full force and effect, subjecthe terms of Sections 9.1.2.3-9.1.2.7, below.

9.1.2.3Landlord’s Termination Right — Partial Taking . If the part of the Building or the Property tligtaken or condemned as
part of the Taking contains a part of the Tenaracgpthe Building or the Property that, in Landlsméasonable discretion, is material to the opemnat
of the Tenant Space, Landlord may terminate thaskey notice to Tenant given within sixty (60) sléyllowing the date upon which Landlord
received notice of such Taking. If Landlord so fiesi Tenant, this Lease shall terminate upon the skt forth in the notice, which date shall not be
more than thirty (30) days following the givingsfch notice.

9.1.2.4Tenant’s Termination Right — Partial Taking . If, by reason of a Taking of part of the Buildiagthe Property Tenant no
longer has reasonable means of access to the Tépace, or the Tenant Space is unfit for use byiiin the ordinary course of Tenant’s business,
Tenant may terminate this Lease by notice to Landddiven within sixty (60) days following the datpon which Tenant received notice of such
Taking. If Tenant so notifies Landlord, this Leaball terminate upon the date set forth in theceotivhich date shall not be more than thirty (39)sd
following the giving of such notice.

9.1.2.5Restoration — Taking. If this Lease shall not have been terminatedyansto Sections 9.1.2.3 or 9.1.2.4, above, Laddlor
at Landlord’s expense, shall, as soon as is reaopeacticable, restore that part of the Tenaracgghat was not taken or condemned as part of the
Taking to a self contained rental unit substantiajuivalent (with respect to character, qualippearance and services) to that which existed
immediately prior to occurrence of the Taking, exithg Tenant's Personal Property; provided, howetbat in the event Tenant receives an award for
Tenant's Alterations, such amounts shall be appbegrds the restoration of such items.
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9.1.2.6Rent Abatement — Taking. In the event that this Lease is terminated purstmaSections 9.1.2.1, 9.1.2.3 or 9.1.2.4, above,
Landlord shall refund to Tenant any prepaid BasetRed Tenant’s Proportionate Share of Taxes —dPtpdess any sum then owing to Landlord by
Tenant. If, however, this Lease is not terminatexspant to any of said Sections, Base Rent shakdheéced proportionately to the extent that the
Premises is reduced as a result of the Taking.

9.1.2.7Taking Award Rights . Landlord reserves the right to receive the etytioé the condemning authority’s award related to a
Taking of any portion of the Property. The foregpimtwithstanding, in the event that this Leadeligiinated in connection with any Taking, Land|
expressly permits Tenant to make a separate clgaiimst the condemning authority, in any appropneiteeeding, for the value of Tenant's
unamortized, but taken, leasehold improvementsf@romprovements to the Tenant Space made by Tamafor Tenant's moving expenses related
to such Taking, but only if such claim and/or reexguvdoes not reduce the condemnation/taking awdwehwise payable to Landlord in connection \
such Taking. If any such award that is made, orgmmsation that is paid, to either party specificaltludes an award or amount for the other, the
party first receiving the same shall promptly makeaccounting of same to the other.

9.1.3Tenant’'s Remedy. Tenant’s termination rights and rights to abatenoé Base Rent and Tenant's Proportionate Shafexés —
Property, to the extent provided above in thisdetd, shall be Tenant’s sole and exclusive renseidi¢he event of a Casualty Event or Taking.
Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contaihedein, however, if any Casualty Event is causedryyact of willful misconduct of Tenant or a
Tenant Party, then Tenant shall not be entitlegtminate this Lease under Section 9.1.1.2, an@ stll be no abatement of any Base Rent (or any
other Rent or other amounts) due hereunder.

9.2 Tenant’s Insurance. Tenant shall, at Tenant's expense, procure anudtanathroughout the Term of this Lease a policyolicies of
insurance in accordance with the terms and reqeinesrset forth ifexhibit “B-1" to this Lease. All of Tenant’s insurance policidéghwespect to the
Tenant Space shall be endorsed so as to includg&vamof subrogation in accordance with and toftitleextent of Tenant’s waiver of claims with
respect to the Landlord Group set forth in Seclidri.1 of this Lease.
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9.2.1 The commercial general liability policies guoed by Tenant hereunder shall name Landlord amdllord’s managing agent, and any
Holders designated by Landlord as additional ingsiwr@rior to occupying the Tenant Space, and poitite expiration of each such policy, Tenant ¢
submit to Landlord certificates of insurance evitlag such policies (and the applicable renewaleethfg being in effect. All insurance policies
procured hereunder shall contain a provision gétiat the insurer shall endeavor to provide adtléarty (30) days’ written notice to Landlord aalii
others named as additional insureds prior to angel&ation or material modification of such polidiyTenant does not deliver to Landlord a certifica
or other proof of renewal or coverage from an iagge carrier at least ten (10) business days trithre expiration dates of each expiring policy,
Landlord may, if Tenant has not cured such defaittin five (5) business days after receipt of venit notice from Landlord, obtain such insurance on
behalf of Tenant, and Tenant shall, within ten (d&)s after Landlord’ demand therefor, pay to Landlord an amount eilguille cost of such insurar
policies plus an administrative surcharge of tercget (10%).

9.3 Landlord’s Insurance. Landlord shall, at Landlord’s expense, procuré eraintain throughout the Term of this Lease agyadir policies of
insurance in accordance with the terms and reqeinesrset forth ifexhibit “B-2” to this Lease. Each of such insurance policied bleaéndorsed so
as to include a waiver of subrogation in accordamitie and to the full extent of Landlord’s waivefr@aims with respect to the Tenant Group set forth
in Section 14.1.2 of this Lease. For the avoidarfaoubt, however, Landlord and Tenant acknowlealg agree that, in no event, shall Landlord be
obligated to carry any insurance covering any afard’s Personal Property, any Alteration to theargrSpace made by or on behalf of Tenant, or
covering any Tenant Party, other than Landlord&dhations and Landlord’s OS Installations.

10. TRANSFERS.

10.1 Restrictions on Transfers; Landlord’s Consent Except as otherwise expressly set forth in Seci@1.1 and Section 10.5, below, to the
contrary, Tenant shall not effect a Transfer, withicandlord’s express prior written consent, whicimsent shall not be unreasonably withheld,
conditioned or delayed. Except as otherwise exjyrags forth in this Lease, no Transfer (whethduwmtary, involuntary or by operation of law) shall
be valid or effective without Landlord’s prior weh consent and, at Landlord’s election, any suemdfer or attempted Transfer shall constitute an
Event of Default by Tenant under Section 15.1.thidf Lease.

10.1.1Permitted Transfer . Tenant may, without the consent of Landlord (atttiout being subject to Landlord’s recapture righhder
Section 10.3, below) undertake Permitted Transfers.
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10.2 Notice to Landlord. If Tenant desires to make any Transfer (othem th&ermitted Transfer, for which Tenant must nyemelify Landlord
prior to the occurrence of same), then at leashiyvg20) business days (but no more than one hdreighty (180) days) prior to the proposed effe
date of the Transfer, Tenant shall submit a Trari$teice to Landlord. If, thereafter, Tenant moeifiany of the terms and conditions relevant to a
proposed Transfer specified in the Transfer Nofl@nant agrees to re-submit such Transfer Notideatwllord for its consent pursuant to all of the
terms and conditions of this Article 10.

10.3 Landlord’s Recapture Rights. Except with regard to a Permitted Transfer, gttane within twenty (20) business days after Lamdls
receipt of all (but not less than all) of the infation and documents described in Section 10.2dlbash shall have the right (but not the obligation)
exercisable by written notice to Tenant, to eleatancel and terminate this Lease; provided howehat if the proposed Transfer is a subleaselar
Transfer of only a portion of the Tenant Space anfitr a portion of the remaining Term, Landloré@blonly have the right to terminate (or suspers
the case may be) the Lease with respect to thepart the Tenant Space for the portion of the rieing Term which Tenant proposes to sublease or
Transfer. If Landlord exercises its right to terati or suspend the Term of the Lease with respemily a portion of the Tenant Space, then the Base
Rent and Tenant’s Proportionate Share shall beceztibased pro-rata for the time period of suchiteation or suspension based upon the reduction in
the electrical capacity available to Tenant inrdgmaining portion of the Tenant Space.

10.4 No Release; Subsequent Transferdo Transfer (whether or not a Permitted Transféi)release the undersigned Tenant from Tenant’'s
obligations under this Lease or alter the prim&fility of the undersigned Tenant to pay the Rerd to be responsible for the performance of all
Tenant’s obligations hereunder. In no event shallacceptance of any payment by Landlord from dhgrgerson be deemed to be a waiver by
Landlord of any provision hereof. Consent by Landltw one Transfer will not be deemed consent fosahsequent Transfer. In the event of breach
by any Transferee in the performance of any otéhes hereof, Landlord may proceed directly agamestundersigned Tenant without the necessity of
exhausting remedies against such Transferee.

10.5 Colocation. Landlord acknowledges that the business to bdwiad by the undersigned Tenant in the Premisgsegaire Tenant to
enter into Colocation Agreements that will permii@ation Parties to engage in Colocation Actigitieandlord expressly agrees that Tenant may,
without Landlord’s consent, enter into such ColaraAgreements; provided, however, that (a) theo€Cation Agreements, and each Colocation
Party’s use of the Tenant Space, must comply wightérms of this Lease (including the Datacentdefand Regulations) and all Applicable Laws;
(b) the Colocation Agreements, and the Colocatiarti€s’ rights thereunder, shall be subject andsilibate at all times to this Lease and all of its
provisions, covenants and conditions; and (c) irvent may the rights of any Colocation Pavtg,a visthe members of the Landlord Group, be
greater than the rights of Tenant hereunder. Angtihd the contrary contained herein notwithstandiramdlord and Tenant acknowledge and agree
that the Colocation Agreements shall not constitoitdoe deemed to be, the grant of a leaseholdestteor otherwise constitute, or be deemed tabe,
real property interest.
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10.6 Excess RentLandlord and Tenant agree that, if Tenant asdigied ease, or subleases any part of the TenateSior any Excess Rent,
then Tenant shall pay to Landlord, as AdditionahiRéfty percent (50%) of any such Excess Rent gdiately upon Tenant’s receipt thereof.

11. ESTOPPEL CERTIFICATES .

11.1Estoppel Certificate by Tenant. At any time and from time to time, within ten jlfusiness days after written request by Landl@eshant
shall execute, acknowledge and deliver to Landéosthtement in writing certifying all matters reaably requested by Landlord and/or any
prospective purchaser of the Building and/or thepBrty and/or any Holder. Tenant acknowledges aneles that any statement delivered (or to be
delivered) pursuant to this Article 11 may be rlippon by Landlord and any prospective purchaséreBuilding and/or the Property and by any
current and/or prospective Holder, and any assigheay such Holder.

11.2Estoppel Certificate by Landlord . At any time and from time to time, within ten jidays after written request by Tenant, Landlorallsh
execute, acknowledge and deliver to Tenant a statem writing certifying all matters reasonablyjuested by Tenant or any current or prospective
transferee of Tenant’s, purchaser of Tenant orcamgent or prospective lender to Tenant or suatsfexee, including the nature of known defaults by
Tenant under the Lease, if any. Landlord acknowdedind agrees that any statement delivered (@ telivered) pursuant to this Article 11 may be
relied upon by any current or prospective transfened/or purchaser of Tenant, and/or any lend@et@ant or such transferee.
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12. SUBORDINATION AND ATTORNMENT; HOLDER RIGHTS

12.1 Subordination and Attornment. Without the necessity of any additional docuntezing executed by Tenant for the purpose of efigati
subordination, and at the election of Landlordryy Blolder, this Lease will be subject and subortira all times to all Security Documents, which
may now exist or hereafter be executed which ctutsta lien upon or affect the Property or anyiparthereof, or Landlord interest and estate in ¢
of said items. Notwithstanding the foregoing, Lamdlreserves the right to subordinate (or caussuberdination of) any such Security Documents to
this Lease. In the event of any termination orgfanof Landlords estate or interest in the Property, the Buildihg,Datacenter or the Tenant Spac
reason of any termination or foreclosure of anyhsBecurity Documents (and notwithstanding any sdibation of such Security Document to this
Lease that may or may not have occurred), at #etieh of Landlord’s successor in interest, Tersgrees to attorn to and become the tenant of such
successor, in which event Tenant's right to possess the Property will not be disturbed as losgi@nant is not in default under this Lease. Tenant
hereby waives any right under any Applicable Lavothierwise to terminate or otherwise adverselycaffieis Lease and the obligations of Tenant
hereunder in the event of any termination or tranef Landlords estate or interest in the Property, the Buildihg,Datacenter, or the Tenant Spac
reason of any termination or foreclosure of anyhsbBecurity Documents. Tenant covenants and agoesetute and deliver, within ten (10) business
days after receipt thereof, and in the form reahyn@quired by Landlord or any Holder, any additbdocuments evidencing the priority or
subordination of this Lease and Tenant's agreemoeaitorn with respect to any such Security Docurnenovided, however, any such agreement
subordinating this Lease to such lease, mortgagleed of trust shall contain a non-disturbance igion that is reasonably acceptable to such Holder,
Landlord and Tenant in accordance with Section,feRw.

12.2 Holder Protection. Tenant agrees to give each Noticed Holder, bistexgd or certified mail, a copy of any noticedefault served upon
the Landlord by Tenant. Tenant further agreesithatndlord shall have failed to cure such defauithin thirty (30) days after such notice to Landlo
(or if such default cannot be cured or correcteithiwithat time, then within such additional timeragy be necessary if Landlord has commenced such
cure within such thirty (30) days and is diligenplyrsuing the remedies or steps necessary to cuw@@ct such default), then, prior to Tenant
pursuing any remedy for such default provided hedeuy, at law or in equity, any Noticed Holder sleil/e an additional thirty (30) days within which
to cure or correct such default (or if such defaalinot reasonably be cured or corrected withihtthee, then such additional time as may be necg
if the Noticed Holder has commenced within suchtyhi30) days and is diligently pursuing the rensesdbr steps necessary to cure or correct such
default).

12.3 SNDA. At any time that the Building is hereafter madbjsct to any Security Document(s), Landlord sha#é commercially reasonable
good faith efforts to cause the Holder to deliveiS®NDA to Tenant. Notwithstanding anything hereiriite contrary, the subordination of this Lease to
any Security Document hereafter placed upon th&Bgj, and Tenant’s agreement to attorn to the Elok$ provided in this Article 12, shall be
conditioned upon the Holder entering into an SNDandlord represents to Tenant that, as of the BimtDate of this Lease, there is no mortgage
affecting the Building.
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13. SURRENDER OF TENANT SPACE; HOLDING OVER .

13.1 Tenant’'s Method of Surrender. Upon the expiration of the Term of this Leaseypon any earlier termination of this Lease or the
termination of Tenant’s right to possess the Teisgaice, Tenant shall, subject to the provisiorthisfArticle 13 and Section 8.4, quit and surrender
possession of the Tenant Space to Landlord in gaolling order and clean condition, ordinary wead &éar, and damage caused by a Casualty E
Taking or a default of Landlord excepted.

13.2 Disposal of Tenant’s Personal Propertylf any property not belonging to Landlord remaimshe Tenant Space after the expiration of, or
within fifteen (15) calendar days after any eartemination of, the Term of this Lease or the t@ation of Tenans right to possess the Tenant Sp
Tenant shall be deemed to have abandoned suchriyrape to have authorized Landlord to make sushasition of such property as Landlord may
desire without liability for compensation or damage Tenant or any other Tenant Party.

13.3 Holding Over. If Tenant should remain in possession of allryr portion of the Tenant Space after the expiratibthe Term of this Lease
(or any earlier termination of this Lease or theni@ation of Tenans right to possess the Tenant Space), withoutxeeution by Landlord and Tene
of a new lease or an extension of the Term oflth&se, then Tenant shall be deemed to be occuflygngntire Tenant Space as a tenant-at-sufferance
upon all of the terms contained herein, excepbdsrin and Base Rent and any other provision redguletermined by Landlord to be inapplicable.
During any such holdover period, Tenant shall malyandlord a monthly Base Rent in an amount equ#i¢ Hold Over Percentage, as hereinafter
defined, of the Base Rent payable by Tenant to loaddluring the last month of the Term of this Leasd one hundred percent (100%) of the
Additional Rent payable by Tenant to Landlord dgrihe last month of the Term of this Lease. Tlotd Over Percentag€’ shall be defined as
150% for the first sixty (60) days of hold overtire Tenant Space by Tenant, or anyone claiminghbgugh or under Tenant after the expiration of the
Term of this Lease (or any earlier terminationto$ _ease or the termination of Tenantight to possess the Tenant Space) and 200%hygoexiod of
hold over by Tenant after the first sixty (60) dayee monthly rent payable for such holdover pesbdll in no event be construed as a penalty or as
liquidated damages for such retention of possessimnshall such monthly rent be considered toryefarm of Consequential Damages related to :
retention of possession. Neither any provision éfener any acceptance by Landlord of any rent after such expiration or earlier termination shal
deemed a consent to any holdover hereunder ott insakenewal of this Lease or an extension ofTien, or any waiver of any of Landlord’s rights
or remedies with respect to such holdover. As saot,notwithstanding any provision to the contreogtained herein, Landlord expressly reserves the
right to require Tenant to surrender possessidheofrenant Space upon the expiration of the TerthisfLease or upon the earlier termination hereof
or at any time during any holdover and the righagsert any remedy at law or in equity to evictargrand collect damages in connection with any
such holdover.

13.4 Survival. The provisions of this Article 13 shall surviveetexpiration or early termination of this Lease.
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14. WAIVERS; INDEMNIFICATION; CONSEQUENTIAL DAMAGES; LI ENS.
14.1 Waivers.

14.1.1 Tenant hereby waives its rights againsttrelord Group with respect to any claims, damagdesses for bodily injury to persons
and/or damage to any Tenant’s Personal Propertgfwvere caused by or result from (i) risks insuagdinst under any insurance policies which are
required to be obtained and maintained by Tenad¢wuthis Lease, and were, in fact, carried by Teaathe time of such claim, damage, loss or in|
or (ii) risks which would have been covered under imsurance required to be obtained and maintdiyeBenant under this Lease had such insurance
been obtained and maintained as required, inclualinguch claims, damages and losses, which argedaay or result from the negligence or willful
misconduct of any member of the Landlord Group. filnegoing waivers shall be in addition to, and adimitation of, any other waivers or releases
contained in this Lease.

14.1.2 Landlord hereby waives its rights againetTenant Group with respect to any claims, damagéssses for bodily injury to persons
and/or for damage to the Building, the Property/fantdandlord’s equipment and fixtures, which aresed by or result from (i) risks insured against
under any insurance policies which are requirdoetobtained and maintained by Landlord under te&ske and that were, in fact, carried by Landlord
at the time of such claim, damage, loss or injoryji) risks which would have been covered under imsurance required to be obtained and
maintained by Landlord under this Lease had sushirance been obtained and maintained as requireddding all such claims, damages and losses,
which are caused by or result from the negligemogiliful misconduct of any member of the TenanbGp. The foregoing waivers shall be in addition
to, and not a limitation of, any other waivers eleases contained in this Lease.

14.2 Indemnifications.
14.2.1Indemnification by Tenant .

14.2.1.1 To the maximum extent permitted law, miject to Sections 9.3 and 14.1, Tenant herebyeadgeindemnify, defend, a
hold harmless Landlord and the other members of éimellord Group from and against (and to reimbluaedlord and the other members of the
Landlord Group for) any and all Claims arising framd/or in connection with:

(i) the use or occupancy of the Tenant Space oparnyon of the Building or the Property by Tenantany other Tenant Party
and/or any person claiming by, through or underaf¢or any other Tenant Party, including:

(a) Claims related to any Colocation Agreement;

(b) the acts or omissions of any Colocating Party;

(c) the payment (or non-payment) of Taxes — Equitme

(d) the malfunctioning Tenant's Security System;

(e) Claims related to any of Tenant's Personal enyp

(f) Claims by any Tenant Party (or any individuetessing the Tenant Space on any Tenant Partyafpér bodily injury;
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(g) Tenant's failure to surrender the Tenant Spgem the expiration or any earlier terminationfo$é_ease or the
termination of Tenant’s right to possess the Telsguatce in accordance with the terms of this Leiastuling third party Claims for Consequential
Damages related to such failure); and

(h) the removal, exercise of dominion over andispdsition of any of Tenant's Personal Property iheft in the Tenant
Space after the expiration of the Term in violatidrsection 13.2 (including third party Claims foonsequential Damages related to such removal).

(ii) injuries to persons or damage to propertyi® éxtent caused by the active gross negligenadlitul misconduct of Tenant or
any other Tenant Party with respect to the Tenpat§&, the Building or the Property;

(iif) any person or entity making a claim for amynemission or other compensation in connection withexecution of this Lease
the leasing of the Tenant Space to Tenant if baseh allegation that such claimant dealt throughant.

14.2.1.2 In the event that any Claim for which Land is entitled to indemnification under this Leds brought against Landlord
or any other member of the Landlord Group, Tenapbn notice from Landlord, shall defend such actioproceeding at Tenant’s cost and expense.
Tenant agrees that no settlement offer that invotiie admission of liability by Landlord or obligat to make payment or pay damages shall be
offered or accepted by Tenant in connection with such indemnification and/or defense without Landlls prior written consent, which shall not be
unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed. Tigemnity provision and Tenastbbligations under this Section 14.2 shall surtiveexpiration c
termination of this Lease as to any matters aripmgy to such expiration or termination or priorienant vacating the Tenant Space and the Building
Notwithstanding any provision to the contrary caméa in this Section 14.2, nothing contained irs thection 14.2 shall be interpreted or used in
way to affect, limit, reduce or abrogate any insgeacoverage provided by any insurer to either meoalLandlord.

14.2.2 Subject to the limitations on Landlord’$lidy expressly set forth in this Lease, Landltwetreby agrees to defend, indemnify and
hold harmless Tenant and the Tenant Parties frahagainst (and to reimburse Tenant and any TeretieR for) all third party Claims to the extent
arising from, in connection with, or in any mannelating to (or alleged to arise from, to be in ection with, or to be in any manner related to)
injuries to persons or damage to property to thergcaused by the active gross negligence orukitfisconduct of Landlord or any member of the
Landlord Group at the Property, provided howeueat the foregoing indemnification obligations canéal in this Section 14.2.2 shall not include the
obligation of Landlord to indemnify any Tenant Bad the extent that such claims are caused djrectindirectly, by the active or passive, joint,
concurrent, or comparative negligence of any TeRanty.
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14.2.2.1 In the event that any Claim for which Treria entitled to indemnification under this Leasérought against Tenant or ¢
other member of the Tenant Group, Landlord, updicadrom Tenant, shall defend such action or pedagg at Landlords cost and expense. Landl
agrees that no settlement offer that involves thmaission of liability by Tenant or obligation to kepayment or pay damages shall be offered or
accepted by Tenant in connection with any suchnmdfication and/or defense without Tenant’s prioittgn consent, which shall not be unreasonably
withheld, conditioned or delayed. This indemnitgyision and Landlord’s obligations under this Sacti4.2 shall survive the expiration or
termination of this Lease as to any matters aripmgyr to such expiration or termination or priorenant vacating the Tenant Space and the Building
Notwithstanding any provision to the contrary camea in this Section 14.2, nothing contained irs thection 14.2 shall be interpreted or used in
way to affect, limit, reduce or abrogate any insgeacoverage provided by any insurer to either laaddr Tenant.

14.3 Consequential DamagesNotwithstanding anything to the contrary (expressnplied) contained herein, except with regard énant’s
obligations to indemnify Landlord, as expresslyfeeth in Section 14.2.1.1(i)(g) and (h) above, @ndo circumstances whatsoever shall Landlord or
Tenant ever be liable under this Lease for firstypar third-party Consequential Damages.

14.4 Liens. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary her@imo event shall Tenant have any right (expresmplied) to create or permit there
to be established any lien or encumbrance of ahyr@against the Tenant Space, the Building oPtloperty or against Landlord’s or Tenanititeres
therein or hereunder, including for any improvemanimprovements by Tenant, and Tenant shall fodly the cost of any improvement or
improvements made or contracted for by Tenant. iestaall require each contractor which it engaggzetrform any improvements or alterations
within the Tenant Space or elsewhere in the Bujdinthe Property, to acknowledge and agree iringrihat it is performing its work under its
agreement with Tenant solely for the benefit of drgrand that Tenant is not acting as Landlord’siageny mechanic’s lien filed against the Tenant
Space, the Building or the Property, or any porbbany of the above, for work claimed to have béene, or materials claimed to have been furni:
to Tenant, shall be duly discharged by Tenant,dnying or otherwise, within thirty (30) calendaydafter the later of: (i) filing of the lien, or
(ii) Tenant being made aware of the lien.

15. TENANT DEFAULT .
15.1 Events of Default By Tenant Each of the following shall constitute an EvehbDefault by Tenant under this Lease:

15.1.1 Any failure or refusal by Tenant to timelypany Rent or any other payments or charges medjtirbe paid hereunder, or any
portion thereof, within five (5) business days aftetice that the same is due.
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15.1.2 Any failure by Tenant to perform or obseany other covenant or condition of this Lease (iditlg those contained in the
Datacenter Rules and Regulations) to be performethserved by Tenant (other than those describ&gdation 15.1.1, above or Sections 15.1.3,
15.1.4, or 15.1.5, below) if such failure contind@sa period of twenty (20) days following writtetice to Tenant of such failure; provided, howeve
that in the event Tenant’s failure to perform os@tve any covenant or condition of this Lease tpdy&rmed or observed by Tenant cannot
reasonably be cured within twenty (20) days follegvivritten notice to Tenant, Tenant shall not bdefault if Tenant commences to cure same within
such twenty (20) day period and thereafter dilityeptosecutes the curing thereof to completion.

15.1.2.1Event of Default-ECT Overage. Section 15.1.2, above, notwithstanding, it shallin Event of Default by Tenant (i) if
Tenant fails to remedy an ECT Overage within onedned twenty (120) hours after its receipt of anfH2:fault Notice, and/or (ii) if three (3) ECT
Overages occur in any rolling thirty (30) day péritn connection with this Section 15.1.2.1, thentéremedy” shall mean and refer to a meaningful
and relatively permanent remedy of the conditiomsazg the ECT Overage.

15.1.3 The filing or execution or occurrence of amg of the following: (i) a petition in bankruptoy other insolvency proceeding filed by
Tenant, (i) a petition in bankruptcy or other ingsicy proceeding filed against Tenant which isdisinissed within ninety (90) days of filing, (ii) a
petition or answer seeking relief under any prarisdf the Bankruptcy Act , (iii) an assignment floe benefit of creditors, (iv) a petition or other
proceeding by or against Tenant for the appointroéattrustee, receiver or liquidator of Tenanany of Tenant’s property, (v) a proceeding by any
governmental authority for the dissolution or lidation of Tenant, or (vi) any other instance whgrébnant or any general partner of Tenant or any
guarantor of Tenant’s obligations under this Lestssl cease doing business as a going concern.

15.1.4 Any failure by Tenant to execute and delasgy statement or document described in ArticleSELtion 12.1 or Section 17.21
requested to be so executed and delivered by Lahdlithin the time periods specified in such Artidr Section, where such failure continues for ten
(10) business days after delivery of written noti€such failure by Landlord to Tenant.

The parties hereto acknowledge and agree that eileaotice periods provided in this Section 1&4 in lieu of, and not in addition to, the
notice requirements of any Applicable Laws.

15.2 Remedies Upon the occurrence of any Event of Default bpdre, Landlord shall, in addition to an action filoney damages, specific
performance and/or injunctive relief, have the aptio pursue any one or more of the remedies destin Section 1 dExhibit “D” attached hereto
and incorporated herein by this reference, eachalirad which shall, subject to applicable law,denulative and nonexclusive.
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15.3 Limitations on Tenant's Liability.

15.3.1Liability of Certain Members of the Tenant Group . In no event shall Tenant’s directors, officetgreholders, members,
employees, constituent partners, or Tenant Aféikatave any personal liability or personal respmlityi of any sort with respect to any of Tenant’'s
obligations under the Lease

15.3.2Tenant’s Liability Cap.

The collective recourse of Landlord and its sucoessand assigns against Tenant (and the liabilifyeoant to Landlord, its successors
assigns) with respect to (a) any actual or alldgedch or breaches by or on the part of Tenantybéits obligations under the Lease, and (b) any
other matter relating to Tenant’s occupancy offteeant Space, shall be limited, in the aggregatelysto an amount equal to Five Million
($5,000,000.00) Dollars, provided that the limitat on Tenant’s liability set forth in this Sectib$.3.2 not apply to: (i) rent payments due unber t
Lease, (ii) claims arising from breach of Tenaotidigations with respect to hazardous materiald, (@i claims based upon claims of third parties f
injuries to persons or damages to physical progertiie extent based upon the negligence or witffislconduct of Tenant Parties.

16. LANDLORD 'S LIABILITY
16.1 Landlord Default; Tenant’'s Remedies

16.1.1Landlord Default . It shall constitute a Landlord Default if: (a)ri@lord shall fail to perform or observe any of Lioid’s Lease
Undertakings, and (b) such failure continues fpedod of twenty (20) days following written notite Landlord of such failure; provided, however,
that in the event that Landlord’s failure to penfioor observe any of LandloiLease Undertakings cannot reasonably be curéihviiventy (20) day
following written notice to Landlord, such failute cure shall not be a Landlord Default if Landlamimmences its cure within such twenty (20) day
period and thereafter diligently prosecutes thénguthereof to completion.

16.1.2Tenant’'s Remedies Except as otherwise expressly provided here)rin(the event of any Landlord Default, Tenant'tesand
exclusive remedies for any such failure shall beetion for money damages, specific performancéaarnidjunctive relief, and (b) in no event shall
Tenant have the right to terminate the Lease nall $enant's obligation to pay Base Rent or otherges under this Lease abate based upon any
default by Landlord of its obligations under theake. In that connection, Tenant hereby expressiyesany right conveyed to Tenant by virtue of
law granting Tenant a lien upon the property ofdlard and/or upon rental due to Landlord or grapfienant a right to withhold Rent and/or
terminate this Lease.
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16.2 Landlord’s Liability . In consideration of the benefits accruing untés Lease to Tenant, and notwithstanding anythorté contrary
contained in the Lease Documents, it is expregstierstood and agreed by and between the parttbstbease that:

(i) the collective recourse of Tenant and its sasoes and assigns against Landlord (and the tgbiliLandlord to Tenant, its
successors and assigns) with respect to (a) anglamtalleged breach or breaches by or on thegbdrandlord of any of Landlord’s Lease
Undertakings, and (b) any other matter relatinfjéoant’s occupancy of the Tenant Space, shalhbigelil, in the aggregate, solely to an amount equal
to Landlord’s Liability Cap, provided that the litaiions on Landlord’s liability set forth in thig&ion 16.2(i) shall not apply to: (x) claims basgxbn
claims of third parties for injuries to personsdamages to physical property to the extent based tie negligence or willful misconduct of the
Landlord Parties, or (y) any Outage Credits, Ségirccess Credits, Full SOC 2 Credits, or Parti@lC® Credits to which Tenant is entitled pursuant
to Exhibit “F” ;

(i) other than Landlord’s Liability Cap, Tenantadhhave no recourse against any other assetsrafldal and in the uncollected
rent and proceeds of the Building;

(iii) Tenant shall have no recourse against angtassf any member of the Landlord Group other theamdlord;

(iv) except to the extent of LandloglLiability Cap, no personal liability or persomasponsibility of any sort with respect to any
Landlord’s Lease Undertakings, or any alleged breéhereof, is assumed by, or shall at any timesserged or enforceable against, Landlord; and

(v) no personal liability or personal responsikilitf any sort with respect to any of Landlord’s sedJndertakings, or any alleged
breach thereof, is assumed by, or shall at any hienasserted or enforceable against, any memtibee dfandlord Group other than Landlord.

16.3 Transfer of Landlord’s Interest. Landlord (and each of Landlord’s successors-iargst) shall have the right, from time to timeassign
its interest and obligations, in writing and/ordgyeration of law, in and under this Lease to aimgtparty to whom Landlord conveys its interesttie
Property. Once and if Landlord (and/or any sucaessbandlord) shall convey its interest in the pedy to a third party, (a) Landlord (and each such
successor) shall be fully released from all ofdhkgations and liabilities of Landlord under thedse Documents accruing on or after the date &f suc
transfer of Landlord’s interest in the Propertysteh third party, and (b) Tenant agrees to looklgab the successor-in-interest of Landlord for al
such obligations and liabilities accruing on oeathe date of such transfer. If any security feenbgiven by Tenant to secure the faithful perforoea
of any of the covenants of this Lease, Landlordl stemsfer or deliver said security, as such, &mdllords successor in interest and thereupon Lan
shall be discharged from any further liability withgard to said security.

16.3.1Status as a Real Estate Investment TrustLandlord shall have the right, from time to tinbe assign part of its interest and
obligations in and under this Lease to a wholly ed/subsidiary of Landlord (or a wholly owned sulzsig of Landlord’s parent company), if and to
the extent that Landlord determines such partgidfer is necessary or advisable in connection thihstatus of Landlord, or any other member of the
Landlord Group, as a real estate investment trust.
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17. MISCELLANEOUS .

17.1 Severability. If it is found in a final judgment by a court admpetent jurisdiction (not subject to further agdp¢hat any term or provision
hereof is invalid or unenforceable, (i) the remagnierms and provisions hereof shall be unimpaaretishall remain in full force and effect; and i
invalid or unenforceable term or provision shallrbplaced by a term or provision that is valid anforceable and that comes closest to effectuating
the intention of such invalid or unenforceable temprovision.

17.2 No Waiver. No failure or delay by either party to insisttbe strict performance of any obligation, covenagteement, term or condition
of this Lease, or to exercise any right or remedilable upon such noperformance, will constitute a waiver thereof, adoreach or failure by eitt
party to perform will be waived, altered or modifjexcept by written instrument signed by suchypart

17.3 Attorneys’ Fees and Costslf either Landlord or Tenant initiates any littgan, mediation, arbitration or other proceedingaming the
enforcement, construction or interpretation of ttesse, then the non-prevailing party shall paypitewailing party’s attorneys’ fees and costs
(including all expense reimbursements, expert \g#rfees, litigation costs, court or arbitratiobunal costs, filing fees, exhibit fees, forensic
consultant fees, litigation support costs, expéimess fees, the costs of appeals and attornegs’dad costs incurred in connection with godgment
collection and enforcement efforts). In additidrit should otherwise be necessary or proper fordlard to consult an attorney concerning this Lease
for the review of instruments evidencing a propoSeghsfer or for the purpose of collecting Renthdiet agrees to pay to Landlord its actual attorneys
fees whether suit be brought or not to the exteah $ees exceed $500.00. The parties agree tlsaBéution 17.3 shall survive the expiration or
termination of this Lease.

17.4 Waiver of Right to Jury Trial . TO THE FULLEST EXTENT PERMITTED BY LAW, LANDLORDAND TENANT EACH
EXPRESSLY WAIVES ITS RIGHT TO TRIAL BY JURY IN ANYTRIAL HELD AS A RESULT OF A CLAIM ARISING OUT OF, N
CONNECTION WITH, OR IN ANY MANNER RELATED TO THIS EASE IN WHICH LANDLORD AND TENANT ARE ADVERSE PARTES.
FOR THE AVOIDANCE OF DOUBT, THE FILING OF A CROSSA@MPLAINT BY ONE AGAINST THE OTHER IS SUFFICIENT TMAKE
THE PARTIES “ADVERSE.”
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17.5 Headings; Time; Survival. The headings of the Articles, Sections, SchedaheksExhibits of this Lease are for conveniencg anld do nc
define, limit or construe the contents thereof. Wéoof any gender used in this Lease shall be heldcanstrued to include any other gender, and words
in the singular number shall be held to includephgal, unless the context otherwise requiresessibtherwise expressly stated, the words “herein,”
“hereof,” and “hereunder” and other words of simitaport refer to this Lease as a whole and neainy particular Section, subsection, or other subpar
of this Lease. The words “include” and “includingfiall not be construed as terms of limitation amallsin all instances, be interpreted as meaning
“including, but not limited to.'In all instances where a party is required to paysum or do any act at a particular indicated timwithin an indicate
period, it is understood that time is of the esseAy obligations of a party accruing prior to #iration or termination of this Lease shall $uev
the expiration or termination of this Lease, anchsparty shall promptly perform all such obligagomhether or not this Lease has expired.

17.6 Notices Any notice which may or shall be given under phevisions of this Lease shall be in writing andyrba delivered by (i) hand
delivery or personal service, (ii) a reputable ovgnt courier service which provides evidence diveey, (iii) facsimile (so long as a confirming pp
is forwarded by a reputable overnight courier serwiithin twenty-four (24) hours thereafter), or) (@-mail (so long as a confirming copy is forwarc
by a reputable overnight courier service withinmiyefour (24) hours thereafter), if for Landlord,the Building office and at the address specified
Item 11 of the Basic Lease Information, or if fanant, at the address specified in Item 3 of thr@@Baease Information, or at such other addresses a
either party may have theretofore specified bytemitnotice delivered in accordance herewith. Sachiesss may be changed from time to time by €
party by giving notice as provided herein. Notibalkbe deemed given, (a) when delivered (if detdeby hand or personal service), (b) if sent by a
reputable overnight courier service, on the businksy immediately following the business day onchihit was sent, (c) the date the facsimile is
transmitted, or (d) the date the e-mail is trantadit

17.7 Governing Law; Jurisdiction. This Lease shall be governed by, and construaddordance with, the laws of the state in whieh th
Property is located. In addition, Landlord and Trertgereby submit to the local jurisdiction of thet® in which the Property is located. Each party
agrees that any action by the other against suth giaall be instituted in the State in which thegerty is located.

17.8 Incorporation; Amendment; Merger . This Lease, along with any schedules, exhibitsatachments or other documents referred to
herein, all of which are hereby incorporated ifis Lease by this reference, constitutes the eatickexclusive agreement between Landlord and
Tenant relating to the Tenant Space and the Datieicand each of the aforementioned documents majtéred, amended or revoked only by an
instrument in writing signed by the party to bergeal thereby. All prior or contemporaneous oralvatten agreements, understandings and/or
practices relative to the leasing or use of theahieBpace are merged herein or revoked hereby.

17.9 Brokers. Each party hereto represents to the other teatejpresenting party has not engaged, dealt witleen represented by any broker
in connection with this Lease other than the repebroker specified in Item 13 of the Basic Le&dgermation.
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17.10 Examination of Lease; Binding on PartiesEach of the parties hereto acknowledges thatstrbad and reviewed this Lease and that it
has had the opportunity to confer with counsehimnegotiation of this Lease. Accordingly, this seahall be construed neither for nor against
Landlord or Tenant, but shall be given a fair a@asonable interpretation in accordance with theningeof its terms and the intent of the partiessTh
Lease shall not be binding or effective until eatthe parties hereto has executed and deliveredigimal counterpart hereof to each other. No
contractual or other rights shall exist betweendlard and Tenant with respect to the Tenant Spatiehoth have executed and delivered this Lease,
notwithstanding that Landlord has delivered to Terrzan unexecuted copy of this Lease. The submigditinis Lease to Tenant shall not constitute the
grant of an option for the Tenant to lease, or ivtige create any interest by Tenant in, the TeBgaice. The execution of this Lease by Tenant and
return to Landlord shall not be binding upon Lamd]motwithstanding any time interval, until Landichas, in fact, executed and delivered this Lease
to Tenant.

17.11 Recordation. Neither Tenant nor any person or entity actimguigh, under or on behalf of Tenant shall recordawse the recordation of
this Lease, but Landlord agrees to execute, aclednyd and deliver a statutory form of Notice of leeas

17.12 Authority . Each of Landlord and Tenant represents to thergghrty that the person executing this Leasewbeahalf is duly authorized
execute and deliver this Lease pursuant to it bylaws, operating agreement, resolution or otherlggafficient authority. Further, each pa
represents to the other party that (i) if it isaatpership, the undersigned are all of its gerngaethers, (i) it has been validly formed or incorated,
(iii) it is duly qualified to do business in theag in which the Property is located, and (iv) ttesise is being executed on its behalf and fdyeteefit.

17.13 Successors and Assigngxcept as otherwise provided in this Lease, fathe covenants, conditions and provisions of Lidase shall be
binding upon, and shall inure to the benefit of plaeties hereto and their respective heirs, petsepeesentatives and permitted successors angha:

17.14 Force Majeure. Except for the extent to which a pagygbligations or rights are expressly stated heeapply notwithstanding the effe
of Force Majeure events, a party shall incur nbiliy to the other party with respect to, and $nak be responsible for any failure to performy af
its obligations hereunder (other than payment aliligis or obligations that may be cured by the pEynof money (e.g., maintaining insurance)) if
such failure is caused by a Force Majeure everg.arhount of time for a party to perform any ofatdigations (other than payment obligations) shall
be extended by the amount of time such party isyael in performing such obligation by reason of Boyce Majeure event.

17.15 No Partnership or Joint Venture; No Third Paty Beneficiaries. Nothing contained in this Lease shall be deenrembostrued to create
the relationship of principal and agent, or pahgg, or joint venturer, or any other relationshgiween Landlord and Tenant other than landlord and
tenant. Landlord shall have no obligations hereutmlany person or entity other than Tenant, andther parties shall have any rights hereunder as
against Landlord.
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17.16 Access by Landlord Landlord, Landlords agents and employees shall have the right to epte any and all parts of the Tenant Spa
any reasonable time upon prior reasonable oralrittew notice (except in the case of an emergerfognano prior notice shall be required, and except
as otherwise expressly set forth below) to exartiieecondition thereof, to clean, to make any repailterations or additions required to be made by
Landlord hereunder, to show the Tenant Space tppuaive purchasers or prospective or current ragedenders (in either case only upon faiyht
(48) hours’ prior oral or written notice), to sholne Tenant Space to prospective tenants (only duhia last nine (9) months of the Term, and only
upon forty-eight (48) hourgrior oral or written notice), to determine whetfi@nant is complying with all of its obligationsder this Lease, and/or
exercise any of Landlord’s rights or remedies hedeu. In connection with Landlord’s rights hereundesnant agrees that Landlord shall at all times
have and retain a key that will unlock all of treds in, on or about the Tenant Space; and, imlisence of such a key, Landlord shall have the righ
to use any reasonable means to open such doosaio entry to the Tenant Space. Notwithstandinghdang herein to the contrary, except for
emergencies, Landlord shall use reasonable etfmrtsnimize disruption of Tenant’s business or gancy during such entries.

17.17 Rights Reserved by Landlord Except as otherwise expressly provided to theraonin this Lease, Landlord hereby expressly messe
all rights related to the Premises, the DatacettierBuilding and the Property, including the rigfitto change the name or street address of the
Building and/or the Property; (ii) to install, affand maintain all signs on the exterior and/ceriior of the Building and/or the Property; (iii) ¢thange
from time to time, the dimensions, configurationsl éocations of the Common Areas, and/or to othegvmake such alterations to the Datacenter
Building as Landlord deems desirable; (iv) to ifistgperate and maintain systems which monitor¢loged circuit television or otherwise, all persons
entering or leaving the Building, the Datacented/ar the Property; (v) to install and maintaingspducts, conduits, wires and structural elements
located in the Datacenter or the Tenant Space &mhvwerve other parts or other tenants or occgpaithe Datacenter, the Building and/or the
Property; (vi) to create any additional improvensetot structural and/or mechanical systems, intenar exterior walls and/or glass; and (vii) to &as
space in the Datacenter, the Building and the Rtppend to create such other tenancies in thedeatar, the Building and the Property as Landlord
shall desire. In exercising its rights under thest®n 17.17, Landlord shall not (i) reduce the=giz volume of the Tenant Space more than a de
minimus amount, (ii) except in an emergency, imphetoperation of Tenant’s business operationsynnaaterial manner, or the privacy of Tenant’s
customers in the Tenant Space without having givemant at least seven (7) calendar days prioremritiotice, or (iii) materially affect the visibifiof
Tenant's Lobby Signage to visitors to the lobbytaf Building. In scheduling any Datacenter, Builgior Property repair or maintenance, Landlord
shall use reasonable efforts to minimize any impactenant’s operations in the Tenant Space.

17.18 Counterparts; Delivery by Facsimile or E-mail This Lease may be executed simultaneously indmmore counterparts each of which
shall be deemed an original, but all of which shahstitute one and the same Lease. Landlord andrif@gree that the delivery of an executed co
this Lease by facsimile ormail shall be legal and binding and shall havesdume full force and effect as if an original exedutopy of this Lease hi
been delivered.
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17.19 Confidentiality of Lease Each party agrees that (i) the terms and pravisad this Lease are confidential and constitugppetary
information of the parties and (ii) it shall nosdiose, and it shall cause its partners, offiagirectors, shareholders, employees, brokers anthaits
to not disclose any term or provision of this Letsany other person without first obtaining thepwritten consent of the other party, except that
each party shall have the right to disclose sufdrimation for valid business, legal and accounpogposes and/or if advisable under any applicable
securities laws regarding public disclosure of bess information and/or as required by Applicatdglor any court ruling.

17.20 Incorporation of Schedules and Exhibits All of the terms and conditions of all of the &dules and Exhibits to this Lease are hereby
incorporated into this Lease.

17.21 Financial Statements Within ten (10) days after Landlord’s written texgt therefore, which request shall be made ontlggrevent that
any actual or prospective lender, mortgagee ortfaser of the Building has required same, Tenardt dbliver Tenant's Financial Statements to
Landlord for the two (2) fiscal years immediatehgpeding Landlord’s request. If Tenant does nat theve its Financial Statements audited, Tenant
must forward unaudited Financial Statements cediliy Tenant’s chief financial officer as true, gate and correct in all material respects. Lardllor
hereby agrees to maintain Tenant’s Financial Sta¢snas proprietary and confidential and agreesongisclose Tenant’s Financial Statements to any
third party other than any actual or prospectivel&, mortgagee, or purchaser of the Building, lzentbllord’s attorneys, accountants and similar
business advisors. Notwithstanding the foregoinig, $ection 17.21 shall not apply with regard todr@’s Financial Statements if, as the case may be,
(a) the entity named as “Tenant” or the entity ieatamed as “Guarantor” under this Lease is aiglylitaded entity that is traded on a nationally
recognized stock exchange, and (b) such entityiarkiial Statements are available online at notodsandlord.

17.22 Non-Exclusive RemediesUnless expressly provided otherwise in this Leasaemedy which a party may have as set forthigiLease
is intended to be, nor shall be, exclusive of, otually exclusive with regard to, any other rem&dych such party may have as set forth in this eeas
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18. CONFIDENTIALITY

18.1 Definition of Confidential Information. “ Confidential Information ” shall mean and refer to, with respect to a phdseto, all
information or material that: (a) gives that passtme competitive business advantage, gives that {er opportunity of obtaining some competitive
business advantage, or the disclosure of which dvbeldetrimental to the interests of that partyt @) is marked “Confidential,” “Restricted,”
“Proprietary,” or with some other, similar, markir@onfidential Information includes all of TenanBPsita, prices, trade secrets, databases, hardware,
software, designs and techniques, programs, epgatecols, models, displays and manuals, and tleetsn, coordination and arrangement of the
contents of such materials, and any unpublisheminméition concerning research activities and plamenbers, potential members, employees,
customers, marketing or sales plans, product dpusat or time to market, sales forecasts or reséiltsarketing efforts, pricing or pricing strategiie
costs, operational techniques, strategic planspapdblished financial information, including infoation concerning revenues, profits and profit
margins. “Tenant’s Data” shall mean and refer to all of Tenant’'s dataprds and information to which Landlord has accesdgr this Lease in
connection with Landlord’s provision of the Landits Essential Services and Landlord’s performanueuthis Lease.

18.2 Exclusions.
Confidential Information will not include any inforation or material, or any element thereof, whetirarot such information or material is
Confidential Information for the purposes of thisdse, to the extent any such information or mdterniany element thereof:

(a) has previously become or is generally knowtlhéopublic, unless it has become generally knowthémublic through a breach of
this Lease or a confidentiality or r-disclosure agreemer

(b) was already rightfully known to the party regeg such information (the Receiving Party”) prior to being disclosed by or
obtained from the Party (or its agents or affiltdisclosing such information (theéDisclosing Party”) as evidenced by written
records kept in the ordinary course of business &y proof of actual use by the Receiving Pe

(c) has been or is hereafter rightfully receivedhmy Receiving Party from a third person (othenttiee Disclosing Party) without
restriction or disclosure and without breach otityf confidentiality to the Disclosing Party;

(d) has been independently developed by the Receianty Rithout access to Confidential Informatiortioé Disclosing Party
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18.3 Use.

The parties agree to hold each other's Confidetifafmation in strict confidence during the Terfitlus Lease and after any termination or
expiration of this Lease. Each party recognizedrtiportance of the other’s Confidential Informatiamd recognizes and agrees that the Confidential
Information of the other party is critical to suather party’s business and that neither party weulgr into this Lease without assurance that its
Confidential Information and the value thereof Vel protected as provided in this Section 18 (Ganfiiality) and elsewhere in this Lease.
Accordingly, each party agrees as follows:

(a) the Receiving Party will hold any and all Caiefintial Information it obtains in strictest confiae and will use and permit use of
Confidential Information solely for the purposegtut Lease

(b) the Receiving Party may disclose or provideeasdo its responsible employees, attorneys, asdaéfiliates, lenders, prospective
lenders, investors, prospective investors and aisge purchasers of the Property who have a reekddw such Confidential
Information in the ordinary course of the Receivirayty’s business; provided that, in any such daseparty disclosing
Confidential Information shall advise the recipiefithe fact that such information is Confidentiglormation under this
Agreement and the pa’s obligations under this Article 18; a

(c) the Receiving Party will notify the Disclosifgrty of any actual or attempted unauthorized d#aie or use of the other party’s
Confidential Information promptly after it becomasare of such attempt or use, and will cooperati thie Disclosing Party, in
any manner which the Disclosing Party reasonalgjyests and at no cost to the Receiving Party,dtepr all proprietary rights in
and ownership of its Confidential Informatic

18.4 Compelled Disclosures.

To the extent required by Applicable Law or by laldrder or requirement of a court or governmeatghority having competent jurisdiction
over the Receiving Party, the Receiving Party magldse Confidential Information in accordance vétith law or order or requirement, provided
promptly after becoming aware of such law, ordereguirement and, if possible, prior to disclos@®@gnfidential Information pursuant thereto, the
Receiving Party will so notify the Disclosing Paitywriting. The Receiving Party will use reasor@bfforts not to release Confidential Information
pending the outcome of any measures taken by theld3ing Party to contest, otherwise oppose, d¢ gekmit such disclosure by the Receiving P¢
and any subsequent disclosure or use of Confiddnf@mation that may result from such disclosurbe Receiving Party will cooperate with and
provide assistance to the Disclosing Party reggrdirch measures in such manner as the DisclositygRay reasonably request, and at no cost to the

Receiving Party.
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18.5 Return of Confidential Information.

On the Disclosing Party’s written request or upgpigation or termination of this Lease for any reasthe Receiving Party will, promptly after
written request from the Disclosing Party, withpest to either Landlord or Tenant, as the caseleayeturn or destroy, at the Disclosing Party’s
option, all tangible (the parties acknowledging héormation provided in electronic format shatitbe considered “tangible” for the purposes of thi
Section 18.5) originals and copies of all documenis$ materials it has received containing the Di&nly Party’s Confidential Information.
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18.6 Non-Exclusive Equitable Remedy.

Each Party acknowledges and agrees that due tmthee nature of Confidential Information theregadequate remedy at law for any breach
of its obligations hereunder and that any suchdbrea threatened breach may result in irreparadtentio such Party and, therefore, that upon anly
breach or any threat thereof, each Party will b#led to seek and obtain appropriate equitableinjushctive relief from a court of competent
jurisdiction without the necessity of proving adtless, in addition to whatever remedies eithethein might have at law or equit

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have dulycexed this Lease on the respective dates setlfettlw to be effective as of the
Effective Date.

LANDLORD :

DIGITAL PHOENIX VAN BUREN, LLC
a Delaware limited liability compar

By: Digital Realty Trust, L.P.
a Maryland limited partnershi
its Sole Member and Manag

By: Digital Realty Trust, Inc.
a Maryland corporatior
its General Partne

By: /s/ Richard Berk
Print Name: Richard Berk
Title: VP, Portfolio Management, West Regi

Date: 11/29/11
TENANT :

CARBONITE, INC.,
a Delaware corporatic

By: /s/ Andrew Keenan
Name: Andrew Keenan
Title: Chief Financial Officer

Date: 11/21/11
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Confidential Treatment Requested by Carbonite
EXHIBIT “A”
DEPICTION OF DATACENTER, PREMISES, MEET -ME ROOM, AND UPS ROOM

[***] Information has been omitted and filed separateét the Securities and Exchange Commission. ConfideTreatment has been reques
with respect to the omitted portior



EXHIBIT “B-1"
TENANT'S INSURANCE REQUIREMENTS

Policies

A. Commercial general liability insurance (includingntractual liability): ~ $1,000,000 single limit; $2,000,000 aggregate limvith umbrella
coverage providing an additional $3,000,000 in egamverag

B. “Special Peril For” property insurance Full replacement value of Ten’s Personal Propert

C. Workers’ compensation insurance: In accordance with the laws of the state in whighProperty is located,
and Employer’s Liability insurance with a limit nieiss than $1,000,000
Badily Injury Each Accident; $1,000,000 Bodily ImjuBy Disease —
Each Person; and $1,000,000 Bodily Injury By Digs« Policy Limit.

D. Automobile liability insurance: Primary auto liability insurance with limits of nigiss than $1,000,000
per occurrence covering owned, hired and non-oweéitles used by
Tenant or any other member of the Tenant Gr

E. Business interruption insuranc In such amount as will reimburse Tenant for dimrdndirect loss o
earnings attributable to all perils insured agalnysthe property
insurance described above for a period of nottless twelve (12)
months.

Requirements:

All insurance required of Tenant under this Leds#l$e issued by insurers with a “General Polidghos Rating” of at least A-, VIII, as set forth in

“Best’s Insurance Guide.” Such insurers shall ith@ized to do business in the State in which ttopé@rty is located. Tenant's commercial general
liability policy shall be written to apply to alladily injury (including death), property damage ge&tsonal injury losses, and shall include contralct
liability, broad form property damage, cross lidghiand severance of interest claus



EXHIBIT “B-2"

LANDLORD 'S INSURANCE REQUIREMENTS

Policies

A. Commercial general liability insurance (includingntractual liability):
B. “Special Peril For” property insurance

C. Workers’ compensation insurance:

D. Automobile liability insurance:

Requirements:

$1,000,000 single limit; $2,000,000 aggregate timith an umbrella
policy providing an additional $3,000,000 in excesserage

Full replacement value of the Building and Land’s personal propert
installed therein

In accordance with the laws of the state in whiehProperty is located,
and Employer’s Liability insurance with a limit nletss than $1,000,000
Badily Injury Each Accident; $1,000,000 Bodily ImjuBy Disease —
Each Person; and $1,000,000 Bodily Injury By Dige Policy Limit.

Primary auto liability insurance with limits of nkgss than $1,000,000
per occurrence covering owned, hired and non-owebitles used by
Landlord or any other member of the Landlord Grc

All insurance required of Landlord under this Leaball be issued by insurers with a “General Pblidglers Rating” of at least A-, VIII, as set foith
“Best’s Insurance Guide.” Such insurers shall la@ized to do business in the State in which ttoperty is located. Landlord’s commercial general
liability policy shall be written to apply to alladily injury (including death), property damage getsonal injury losses, and shall include contralct
liability, broad form property damage, cross lighiand severance of interest claus



EXHIBIT “C”
DESCRIPTION OF PATHWAY

Two (2) maxcell sleeves one from each four-inch @8nduit from the Premises to Landlord’s interoection rack in the Meet-Me Room, along
pathway as hereafter designated by Landlord (edinal Fiber Pairs ).

Eight (8) ports, as hereafter designated by Lauldion Landlord’s interconnection rack in the Mee¢-Room (the ‘Original VIII Ports

"*

* Section 1.3 of the Lease notwithstanding, bufesctito the terms of Section 6.1 of the LeaseQHhginal VIII Ports may be utilized by Tenant to
effect interconnections with other occupants, téhand/or telecommunications carriers in the MeetRRbom without monthly recurring charges;
provided, however, that if Tenant requests thadl@m perform a cross-connection utilizing the @réa VIl Ports, Landlord or tel shall, at
Tenant'’s cost, install such cross-connection, agwnt shall pay to Landlord a non-recurring serféeefor such service at Landlord’s standard
ther-current rate, which shall be set forth on the mili-accepted order form for such cr-connection

From and after the Commencement Date, until thé&a&tkpn of the Term of the Lease, th€athway” shall mean and refer to the Original Fiber
Pairs, together with the Original VIl Ports, callively.

Tenant, at Tenant’s sole cost and expense, sis#dllithe fiber running from Tenant’'s Space throtigs Pathway to the Landlord’s Rack in the
Meet-Me Room, subject to the following:

(i) such installation shall be subject to Tenaontitaining Landlord’s prior written approval of tp&ns therefor, which approval
shall not be unreasonably withheld, conditionedjelayed; and

(i) such installation shall be performed by Ter's contractor, subject to the supervision of Lard’s representative



EXHIBIT “D”
ARIZONA STATE LAW PROVISIONS

1.REMEDIES FOR EVENTS OF DEFAULT .

1.1 Landlord’s Right to Terminate Upon Tenant Default. This Lease and the Term and estate hereby grantéthe demise hereby
made are subject to the limitation that if and wéar any Event of Default shall occur, Landlord metyl andlord’s option, in addition to all other
rights and remedies given hereunder or by law aitggdo any one or more of the following withowdtite or demand, any such notice or demand
being hereby waived, to the extent that such wassalowed by Applicable Laws:

1.1.1 Terminate this Lease, in which event Tenhall snmediately surrender possession of the TeSpate to Landlord.

1.1.2 Enter upon and take possession of the T&ate and expel or remove Tenant and any othepanttherefrom, with or
without having terminated this Lease.

1.1.3 Alter locks and other security devices atfthaant Space.

1.1.4 Terminate any and all agreements, sublebsesses, concessions or other consensual arramgefioe possession entered
into by Tenant, with Landlord or with third partjesd affecting the Tenant Space or any part oBthi&ing.

1.2No Surrender or Merger . Exercise by Landlord of any one or more remel&sunder granted or otherwise available shalbeot
deemed to be an acceptance of surrender of afiyopart of the Tenant Space by Tenant, whethegbgeanent or by operation of law, it being
understood that such surrender can be effectedoyrtlye written agreement of Landlord and Tenawotsihich alteration of security devices and no
removal or other exercise of dominion by Landlovethe property of Tenant or others on or aboafliénant Space shall be deemed unauthorized or
constitute a conversion, Tenant hereby conseniftg; any Event of Default, to the aforesaid exsar@f dominion over Tenant’s property within the
Building. All claims for damages by reason of sue¥entry and/or possession and/or alteration dfdar other security devices are hereby waived
(subject to Section 1.7 of thixhibit “D” ), as are all claims for damages by reason of &tyeds warrant, unlawful detainer proceedings,
sequestration proceedings or other legal procesbetextent that such waiver is allowed by Apflled_aws. Tenant agrees that any re-entry by
Landlord may be pursuant to judgment obtained iawful detainer proceedings or other legal procegslior without the necessity for any legal
proceedings, as Landlord may elect, and Landloadl sbt be liable in trespass or otherwise.

1.3Damages Upon Default If Landlord elects to terminate this Lease bysoeaof an Event of Default, then, notwithstandinghs
termination, Landlord may hold Tenant liable fdrrehtal and other indebtedness accrued to thealatgch termination, plus, at Landlord’s election,
either:

(i) such rental and other indebtedness as wouleratike have been required to be paid by Tenanatallord during the period following
termination of the Term of this Lease measured ftloendate of such termination by Landlord until éxpiration of the Term of this Lease (had
Landlord not elected to terminate this Lease omactof such Event of Default) diminished by any sums thereafter received by Landlord
through reletting the Tenant Space during saicbpef@fter deducting expenses incurred by Landlomgiood faith as provided in Section 1.5
below), or



(i) the amount (discounted to present value) byctvhat the time of the termination of this Leasedt any time thereafter if Landlord shall have
initially elected damages under clause (i) abo@g)the aggregate of the rent and other charggegirul over the period commencing with such
termination and ending on the last day as of wihiehTerm of the Lease would have expired, but ichsEvent of Default, exceeds (i) the
aggregate projected market rental value (includithgr charges) for the Tenant Space for such period

Actions to collect amounts due by Tenant providadr clause (i) of this Section 1.3 may be brougbin time to time by Landlord during the
aforesaid period, on one or more occasions, witttmihecessity of Landlord’s waiting until the engpion of such period, and in no event shall Tenant
be entitled to any excess of rental (or rental phirer sums) obtained by reletting over and abbeeé¢ntal provided for in this Lease.

1.4Repossession of Tenant Spacéf Landlord elects to repossess the Tenant Spé@beut terminating this Lease, Tenant shall bbléa
for and shall pay to Landlord all rental and otimelebtedness accrued to the date of such repossepiis Rent required to be paid by Tenant to
Landlord during the remainder of the Term of theake until the expiration of the Term of this Leaminished by any net sums thereafter received
by Landlord through reletting the Tenant Spacerdusaid period (after deducting expenses incuryelddmdlord as provided in Section 1.5 below). In
no event shall Tenant be entitled to any excessipfrental obtained by reletting over and aboved¢nal herein reserved. Actions to collect amounts
due by Tenant as provided in this Section 1.4 neprought from time to time, on one or more ocaasiavithout the necessity of Landlord’s waiting
until the expiration of the Term of this Lease.

1.5Landlord’s Expenses. Upon an Event of Default, Tenant shall also bblé for and shall pay to Landlord, in additioratty sum
provided to be paid pursuant to this Lease: (i)dbs&ts and expenses of securing new tenants, ingledpenses for refixturing, alterations and other
costs in connection with preparing the Tenant Sfaicthe new tenant and any reasonable or necealtargtions, (ii) the cost, incurred by Landlonc
good faith, of removing and storing Tenant’s orestbccupant’s property, and (iii) all reasonablpenses incurred by Landlord in enforcing
Landlord’s remedies, including reasonable attornfaes. Past due rental and other past due payrsbatsbear interest from maturity at the Default
Rate (as defined in Section 3.5 of this Lease) patd.



1.6 Cumulative Remedies; Equitable ReliefThe specific remedies to which Landlord may resader the provisions of this Lease are
cumulative and are not intended to be exclusivengfother remedies or means of redress to whittayt be lawfully entitled in case of any breach or
threatened breach by Tenant of any provisionsieflibase. In addition to the other remedies pravidethis Lease, subject to Applicable Laws,
Landlord shall be entitled to a restraint by injtioie of the violation or attempted or threatenealation of any of the covenants, conditions or
provisions of this Lease or to a decree compeBipecific performance of any such covenants, cantitor provisions.

1.7 Reletting . Landlord agrees to use reasonable efforts to ttedeTenant Space after Tenant vacates the T&paue in the event that
Lease is terminated based upon a default by Tdraetnder. Marketing of the Tenant Space in a masinglar to the manner in which Landlord
markets other premises within Landlord’s controthia Building shall be deemed to have satisfieddlenl’'s obligation to use “reasonable
efforts.” Tenant agrees that, in any event, Lardlltas no obligation to: (i) relet the Tenant Spaider to leasing any other space within the Buiigin
or (ii) relet the Tenant Space (A) at a rental mtetherwise on terms below market, as then détexaiby Landlord in its sole discretion; (B) to any
entity not satisfying Landlord’s then standard fiogl credit risk criteria; (C) for a use (1) nainsistent with Tenant’s use prior to default; (2)ieh
would violate then applicable law or any restriettovenant or other lease affecting the BuildiBywhich would impose a greater burden upon the
Building’s facilities; or (4) which would involversy use of Hazardous Materials (other than thoselwiienant is expressly permitted to use under the
Lease); or (iii) solicit or entertain negotiatiomgh any other prospective tenants for the Tengaic® until Landlord obtains full and complete
possession of the Tenant Space, including the &indlunappealable legal right to re-let the Tesgatce free of any claim of Tenant to occupy the
Tenant Space.

1.8Landlord’s Right to Cure . All covenants and agreements to be performeddmafit under this Lease shall be performed by Teatant
Tenant'’s sole cost and expense. If Tenant shoilltbfenake any payment (other than Base Rent) og any default hereunder within the time herein
permitted, Landlord, without being under any oMiigia to do so, without thereby waiving such defautl in addition to and without prejudice to any
other right or remedy of Landlord, may make sucgynpent and/or remedy such other default for the aetof Tenant (and enter the Tenant Space for
such purpose), and thereupon Tenant shall be dbtida, and hereby agrees to, pay to Landlord aitiddal Rent, within ten (10) days following
Landlord’s demand therefor, all costs, expensesdisitlirsements incurred by Landlord in good faitkel(1ding reasonable attorneys’ fees) incurred by
Landlord in taking such remedial action, plus amauistrative fee of ten percent (10%) of such antoun

2.CALCULATION OF CHARGES . Landlord and Tenant are knowledgeable and expegtkin commercial transactions and agree that the
provisions set forth in this Lease for determinghgrges, amounts and additional rent payable baftgimcluding payments under Section 3.5) are
commercially reasonable and valid even though suethods may not state a precise mathematical farfouldetermining such charge



EXHIBIT “E”
LANDLORD 'S INSTALLATIONS

Landlord shall cause:
. The installation of Metering Equipme— Tenant Space related to electrical pov
. Cage substantially in the lay out set forthExhibit “A” .
. The installation of the Pathway describedExhibit “C”.
. An under floor grounding feed to be delivered terRises.*
* Tenant is responsible for all individua-taps and grounding to cabinets, equipment and ralsl§s, including the cost there

Landlord's Warranty:
(A) Landlord hereby warrants and represents to Tehan{¢ollectively* Landlord’s Warranty ”):

(1) Landlord’s Installations shall be performed:ifia good and workmanlike manner, and (ii) in ptimce with all Applicable
Laws; anc

(2) Landlorc’s Installations will be free from defec
(B)  Exclusions from Landlor's Warranty

Landlord’s Warranty expressly excludes remedy mege or defect caused by abuse, modificationsxestuted by the Landlord,
or Landlord’s agents, employees, or contractorpraper or insufficient maintenance by Tenant oraan@yclaiming by, through or
under Tenant, improper operation, or normal wedrtaar and normal us




©

©)

Tenan's Remedies in the Event of Breach of Lanc’s Warranty

If, on or before the Warranty Expiration Date, asdinafter defined, Tenant gives Landlord writtetice of any breach of
Landlord’s Warranty promptly after Tenant becomesir@ of such breach, Landlord shall, at no co3teteant, correct or repair
such breach as soon as conditions reasonably panchias to which, in either case, Tenant shall lgaxen notice to Landlord, as
aforesaid. The Warranty Expiration Date " shall be defined as the date twelve (12) monttes the Commencement Date.
Except to the extent to which Tenant shall havemiliandlord notice of respects in which Landlord heeached Landlord’s
Warranty, Tenant shall be deemed conclusively teh@) approved Landlord’s construction, (ii) wat/any claim that Landlord
has breached Landlord’s Warranty, and (iii) agrésad Tenant has no claim that Landlord has faikepetrform any of Landlord’s
obligations with respect to Landlord’s Installatioend the Commencement Date Conditions. The pomasif this Section (C) sets
forth the Tenant's sole remedies for any breadhef_andlord’s Warranty; however nothing in thicten (C) shall be deemed to
relieve the Landlord of its responsibilities to feem maintenance and repairs as required pursog®ection 8 of the Lease.

Landlord hereby represents to Tenant thatf éiseoEffective Date, Landlord has obtained suctusieentation as is customarily
issued by the City of Phoenix evidencing that tladenter (including the Tenant Space and the MieeRoom) may be lawfully
used for datacenter purpos




EXHIBIT “E-1"
[INTENTIONALLY OMITTED]



Landlord shall provide the following:

1. Electricity Consumption Threshol

2. Target Battery Capacit

3. BackUp Power Specifications

4. HVAC Specifications.
(a) Target Temperature Range

(b) Target Humidity Range

1. Landlords Essential Services

EXHIBIT “F”
SERVICE LEVEL

Table A.

400 total kW.

Six (6) minutes

Two (2) 2.0 MW Building generator plant suppliesiiated back-up power for the Premises
Back-up power is included in all AC amperage use

Average temperature of the Premises, measuree attihrn air vents in the Premises, between 68
degrees Fahrenheit and 78 degrees Fahre

Average relative humidity of the Premises, measatdtie return air vents in the Premises, between
35% and 55%

Service Level-Terms.

A. Electricity . Landlord shall furnish electricity to the Prensisifficient to meet the Electricity Consumptiorrd$hold. The obligation of
Landlord to provide electricity to the Premiseslisha subject to the rules, regulations and requéets of the supplier of such electricity and of an
governmental authorities regulating providers etticity and shall be limited, except as expressfyforth in the next sentence, to providing power
sufficient to meet the Electricity Consumption Ts$treld. In addition, Landlord shall furnish backqgwer for the Premises sufficient to meet the
Back-Up Power Specifications, at all times excaptrd) maintenance operations and Force MajeuretevErcept for the Back-Up Power
Specifications, Landlord shall have no obligatiorptovide emergency, supplemental or back-up pewstiems for use in the Premises, or otherwise

in, or for, the Tenant Space.

B. HVAC . Landlord shall furnish HVAC to the Premises stiffint to cause the average temperature and hunoiffibe Premises (measured at
the return air vents in the Premises) to meet tHAEl Specifications. The obligation of Landlord toopide HVAC to the Premises shall be limited to
providing HVAC sufficient to meet the HVAC Specifitions.



Confidential Treatment Requested by Carbonite
2. Credits.
A. Outage Credits.

Upon the occurrence of each Separate/Independentuption of Landlord’s Essential Services, Tersrdll be entitled to an Outage
Credit in the amount set forth opposite the duratibsuch Interruption of Landlord’s Essential See¢ in Table 2.A.(1)-A and 2.A.(1)-B, below, as
applicable:

Table Related to the Calculation of Outage Credit§Table 2.A.(1}A)

Interruption Duration: Tenant's Remedy:

0-4 consecutive houl The Leve-1 Outage Credit(s) described in Table 2.A-B, below.
5-8 consecutive houl One (1) additional Outage Cre:

Each eight (8) hour period thereafter during wtdgabh Interruption o One (1) additional Outage Cre:

Landlorc’s Essential Services occurs or contint

Table Describing the Levell Outage Credits (Table 2.A.(1)B)

Interruption Occurrence: Level-1 Outage Credit:

Each First Interruptior One (1) Outage Cred
Each Second Interruptio Two (2) Outage Credit:
Each Third Interruptiol Three (3) Outage Credit
Each Four-Plus Interruption and each Interruptioerahe Fourth Four (4) Outage Credits.

Interruption.
B. Security/Access Credits

Any breach by Landlord of its obligations with respto Security or Access, as set forth in the thement version of the Handbook (such
security and access obligations being set forteiction 7 of the Version 2.5 of the Handbook, d&edtember 3, 2009), shall be considered to be a “
Security/Access Incident’. Tenant shall be entitled to a Credit§&curity/Access Credits’) against Rent in the amount of $[***] for each
Security/Access Incident and $[***] for each dagtlany Security Access/Incident is unresolved.

[***] Information has been omitted and filed sepeails with the Securities and Exchange Commissiamfidential Treatment has been requested
with respect to the omitted portior



C.SOC 2 Audit Credits .

Landlord shall cause a SOC 2 Audit of the Datacdmeperformed at least once every twelve montha tyalified independent auditor. If such
audit determines that the Datacenter is not in diamge with then current SOC 2 standards (or edeitasuccessor standards) and either: (i) Tenant is
unable to use the Tenant Space for the purposesttet under the Lease by reason of such non-camgxdi for any period of time, then Tenant shall
be entitled a Credit (Full SOC 2 Credit ") equal to 100% of the Rent payable by Tenanefich day that Tenant is unable use the Datacenter b
reason of such non-compliance, or (i) if, despitieh non-compliance, Tenant is able to use therfe®@ace for the purposes permitted under the
Lease for a period after the dateSOC 2 Cure Date”) which is (20) days after Landlord receives netfoom such auditor of such non-compliance,
then Tenant shall be entitled to a CrediPértial SOC 2 Credit”) equal to 10% of the Rent payable by Tenant for elaghbetween SOC 2 Cure Di
and the date that Landlord cures such non-commianc

D. Procedures.

In the event that Tenant is entitled to an Outageif, Security/Access Credit, Full SOC 2 CreditPartial SOC 2 Credit, such Credit shall be
applied as a credit towards Tenant's Base Rentrdtiee immediately following month of the Term; pided, however, in the event that a Credit
accrues during the final month of the Term, Landliill pay to Tenant the amount of such Credit witthirty (30) days following the expiration of t
Term.

E. Limits on Credits .

The foregoing notwithstanding, (a) the total aggtegamount of Outage Credits, Security/Access @elull SOC 2 Credits, and Partial SOC 2
Credits to which Tenant may become entitled in @algndar month shall not exceed Tenant’s total hipiBase Rent (at the time of the event); and
(b) Tenant's entitlement to, and accrual of, Out@gedits related to any Interruption — Electridal$ occur only from and after the point at whitle t
aggregate duration of all Interruptions — Electraharing any rolling twelve (12) month period exdsehe Interruption Electrical Duration Threshol

F. Cure Notices. Once Landlord has rectified a particular Intetimp of Landlord’s Essential Services, Security/@ss Incident, or SOC 2 non-
compliance, Landlord shall provide notice of suettification or cure to Tenant as soon as is resslgrpracticable thereafter.

3. Termination Rights .

A. Continuous Outage Termination Right. In the event of a Continuous Outage, Tenant raayinate this Lease by timely delivery of the
Continuous Outage Termination Notice to Landlorendnt’s failure to timely deliver Tenant's ContimscdOutage Termination Notice shall
automatically extinguish Tenant’s right to termmé#tis Lease with respect to that particular Carttrs Outage. If Tenant exercises its termination
right under this Paragraph B, then Landlord shethburse Tenant for the reasonable costs inculyéliehant in moving Tenant’s Personal Property
from the Tenant Space to a new locat



B. Chronic Outage Termination Right . In the event of a Chronic Outage, Tenant may iteata this Lease by timely delivery of the Chronic
Outage Termination Notice to Landlord. Tenant'$ufa to timely deliver Tenant’s Chronic Outage Teration Notice shall automatically extinguish
Tenant's right to terminate this Lease with respedhat particular Chronic Outage.

4. Remedies Exclusive Tenant agrees that Tenant’s entitlement to Outagdits, Security/Access Credits, Full SOC 2 Gsedind Partial SOC 2
Credits and the termination rights set forth ab@eas expressly set forth in tHishibit “F” , shall be Tenant’s sole and exclusive remediés wit
regard to each Interruption of Landl’s Essential Service



EXHIBIT “G”
INTENTIONALLY OMITTED




EXHIBIT “H”
COMMENCEMENT DATE NOTICE

, 2011
VIA [FAX/E-MAIL]: [# OR E-MAIL ADDRESS]
AND FEDERAL EXPRESS
CARBONITE, INC.
Re: That certain TURNKEY DATACENTER LEASE with affective date of , 201% @amended and modified from time to time,
the “Lease”), by and between CARBONITE, INC. {enant”), as tenant, and (“Landlord "), as landlord, covering

certain premises more particularly described inlibase at that certain building located at 120 EA®N BUREN STREET, PHOENIX,
ARIZONA. Capitalized terms not otherwise defineddie shall have the meanings ascribed to themerL#ase

Ladies and Gentlemen:

Please be advised that Landlord has caused edlcb Gommencement Date Conditions to occur. Accgigjrandlord confirms the following:
1. The Commencement Date of the Lease is 20

The Rent Commencement Date of the Lease is , 20
3. Tenan's Base Rent schedule is as follo

$ for the period ,20  through , 2
(the Partial Month) [DELETE IF COMMENCEMENT DATE IBHE 15T ]

$ per month for the period , 20 through , 20
(months 1-12 of the Term)

$ per month for the period , 20 through , 20
(months 13-24 of the Term)

$ per month for the period , 20 through , 20
(months 25-36 of the Term)

$ per month for the period , 20 through , 20

(months 3-48 of the Term



Should you have any questions, please contact (Property Manager) at , who will be glad to assist you.

Sincerely,

DIGITAL PHOENIX VAN BUREN, LLC,
a Delaware limited liability compar

By: Digital Realty Trust, L.P.
a Maryland limited partnershi
its Sole Member and Manag

By: Digital Realty Trust, Inc.
a Maryland corporatior
its General Partne

Attest By:

Print Name:

Title:

Date:

CARBONITE, INC.

By:

Name:

Title:

Date:

cc: ADDITIONAL TENANT NOTICE ADDRESSES



120 EAST VAN BUREN STREET
PHOENIX, ARIZONA

OFFICE SPACE RIDER

Between

DIGITAL PHOENIX VAN BUREN, LLC
a Delaware limited liability company

as Landlord
and

CARBONITE, INC. , a Delaware corporation
as Tenant

Dated

November 29, 201



Confidential Treatment Requested by Carbonite
SCHEDULE “1”
CERTAIN DEFINED TERMS

“ Building Office Standard " shall mean and refer to the type, grade, quaatity design of materials and construction as asmmarily utilized by
Landlord in the Building for the construction ofdiglen-variety” office uses.

“ Landlord " shall mean and refer to the Landlord set fortftém 1 of the Basic Rider Information.
“ Landlord’s OS Installations ” shall mean and refer to the installations defiasduch, as set forth &xhibit “E” , attached hereto.

“ Landlord’s Repair Obligations ” shall mean and refer to Landlord’s obligationsteange for the repair and maintenance of thedation, exterior
walls and roof of the Building; the Common Areashii the Building; and the HVAC systems serving @& Premises and/or the Common Areas of
the Building, and all other common utilities sexyithe Building and the Common Areas.

“Lease” shall mean that certain Turnkey Datacenter Ledagedeto Suite [***] in the Building, having an Ettive Date of November 29, 2011 by .
between Landlord and Tenant, as amended from briene.

“ Maximum Structural Load — OS ” shall mean and refer to the Maximum Structurahdie- OS set forth in Item 12 of the Basic Ridepinfation.
“ OS Base Rent shall mean and refer to the amounts of OS Bas# & forth in Item 6 of the Basic Rider Infornoati
“ OS Commencement Date Condition$shall mean and refer to Landlord’s completiorLahdlord’s OS Installations.

“ OS Commencement Date Noticgshall mean and refer to a notice from Landlord &mant, substantially in the form attached heastexhibit
“F" , which shall memorialize Landlord’s delivery oEt®S Tenant Space to Tenant and confirm the a®8alommencement Date.

“ OS Demising Walls” shall mean and refer to Building Office Standdrgiwall office demising walls.

“ OS Electrical Metering Equipment” shall mean and refer to a Building Office Starttlalectrical metering device (or electrical metgritevices)
compatible with Landlord’s energy management sydtarseparately (i.e., by either direct meter cedtmeter) monitoring electricity only in the OS
Tenant Space.

“ OS Electricity Consumption Threshold” shall mean and refer to the amount of electqzater specified in Item 11 of the Basic Rider Imfiation.

“ OS Partial Month ” shall, in the event of an OS Commencement Daedhbcurs on a date that is other than the first)day of a calendar month,
mean and refer to the number of calendar daysu@ing the OS Commencement Date) remaining in thetimio which the OS Commencement Date
occurs.

“OS Permitted Use” shall mean and refer to the OS Tenant Space heiad only for general office purposes and stopagposes related to Tenant's
use of the Tenant Space only.

“ OS Power Payment’ shall mean and refer to the actual cost of at#lcity provided to and/or used in the OS Tergpece based solely upon the
OS Electrical Metering Equipment and shall excladg fees and profit to Landlord or any other “markabove the actual cost of electricity charged
to Landlord by the utility company.

[***] Information has been omitted and filed sepailst with the Securities and Exchange Commissiamfidential Treatment has been requested
with respect to the omitted portior



“ OS Rider Term ” shall mean and refer to the period describedémI4 of the Basic Rider Information, subject te terms of such Item 4.

“ OS Rules and Regulation$ shall mean and refer to Landlosvritten rules and regulations for the OS Tengmatc8, as same may be amended
time to time by Landlord in Landlord’s reasonabigcdetion. Landlord agrees that it will not discimate against Tenant in the enforcement of OS
Rules and Regulations as compared to other siyitatliated tenants. The terms of the Lease shp#irsede and prevail over any inconsistent or

conflicting OS Rules and Regulations.

“ OS Tenant Space shall mean and refer to the OS Tenant Spaceosttt ih Item 5 of the Basic Rider Information.

“ OS Tenant Work ” shall mean and refer to any and all work (ottemtthe completion of Landlord’s OS Installatiofts)the OS Tenant Space that
Tenant shall be responsible for installing, at Téisasole cost and expense.

“ Substantial Completion” shall mean and refer to the final completiontod Tenant Finish Work, as reasonably determinea tepresentative of
Landlord.

“ Target OS Commencement Daté shall mean and refer to the Target OS CommenceDate set forth in Item 3 of the Basic Rider Imfation,
subject to the terms of Section 1.3 of the Stan&ad@r Provisions.

“ Tenant” shall mean and refer to the Tenant set forthieml 2 of the Basic Rider Information.



120 EAST VAN BUREN STREET
PHOENIX, ARIZONA

OFFICE SPACE RIDER

This Office Space Rider (thisRider ”) is entered into as of the OS Effective Date by detween Landlord and Tenant with referencedo th
following:

RECITALS
A. Tenant leases Tenant Space in the Building ftamdlord pursuant to the Lease.

B. Landlord desires to lease to Tenant certaircefipace within the Building and Tenant desirdedse such space, pursuant to the terms and
conditions of this Rider.

C. Unless otherwise specifically indicated to tbatcary, all initially capitalized terms containedthis Rider shall have the meanings set fort
Schedule “1”, attached to this Rider. All initially capitalizéerms contained in this Rider not otherwise defiherein shall have the meanings
ascribed to them in the Lease.

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the covenants agreements hereinafter set forth, Landlord aemhit agree to the following terms of
this Rider, which shall supplement the Lease abkefS Effective Date:

BASIC RIDER INFORMATION

1. Landlord: Digital Phoenix Van Buren, LLC, a Delaware limitéability company
2. Tenant: Carbonite, Inc., a Delaware corporat

3. OS Effective Date/OS
Commencement Da:

a. OS Effective Dat¢: November 29, 2011, being the latest of the p¢ respective dates of execution of this Rider, asas#t on the signatur
page of this Rider (and which date shall be insenehis Item 3 by Landlord, upon Landlord’s coeméxecution of this
Rider).

b. Target OS
Commencement Da: February 1, 2012

c. OS Commencement Subject to the terms of Section 1.3 of the Stan&ader Provisions, the date as of which: (x) Landlbas completed the

Date: OS Commencement Date Conditions, (y) the CommenceDete with respect to the Tenant’'s Space hasroetuand
(z) Datacenter Commencement Date has occi
4. OS Rider Term Commencing on the OS Commencement Date and comgiruitil the expiration or earlier termination bétterm of the

Lease (as same may be extended or reduced fromditimee in accordance with the terms of the Leasagh that the C
Rider Term shall be coterminous with the Term ef tiease
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Confidential Treatment Requested by Carbonite

5. _OS Tenant Space Approximately 288 rentable square feet in Suite]tn the ([***]) floor of the Building, as depict& on the diagram of
the OS Tenant Space containedexibit “A” , attached hereto.

Tenant acknowledges that Tenant has had the opyityrto measure the OS Tenant Space. Thereforallbathand
Tenant hereby stipulate that notwithstanding amgierein to the contrary, the OS Tenant Spac¢ lshaleemed to
consist of two offices, each containing 144 rergadgjuare feet, for a total of 288 rentable squaet ind that no
shortage or overage in the rentable square febeaDS Tenant Space purported by either party beathe basis for
changing the number of rentable square feet hstgiolated

6. OS Base Rer: $8,640.00 per yea
7. Intentionally Deletec. Intentionally Deleted
8. OS Installation Fe: None.

9. Intentionally Deletec. Intentionally Deleted
10. Intentionally Deletec. Intentionally Deleted

11. OS Electricity
Consumption Thresholt Three (3) watts per rentable square foot for liggntand below ceiling convenience pow

12. Maximum Structural Loe

—O0S: 200 pounds of live load per square fc
13. OS Rules and
Regulations: The current version of the OS Rules and Regulai®asiached hereto Exhibit “G” .

This Rider shall consist of the foregoing Basic&Rithformation, and the provisions of the StandRidkr Provisions below Schedule 17,
above, andxhibits “ A ” through “G " , all of which are incorporated herein by this refex@ as of the OS Effective Date. In the event gfamflict
between the provisions of the Basic Rider Informmatnd the provisions of the Standard Rider Promsithe Basic Rider Information shall control.

[no further text on this page]

[***] Information has been omitted and filed sepeilg with the Securities and Exchange Commissiamfidential Treatment has been requested
with respect to the omitted portior
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STANDARD RIDER PROVISIONS
1.0S TENANT SPACE.

1.10S Tenant Space Upon and subject to the terms and conditionsisfRider, the Lease is hereby modified to refthat Landlord
does hereby lease, demise and let unto Tenantemahl does hereby lease from Landlord the OS T&@ate, to have and to hold for the OS Rider
Term, together with the non-exclusive right to tte® Common Areas of the Building (as they may kengled from time to time by Landlord pursuant
to the provisions of the Lease), appurtenant toemessary for the use of the OS Tenant Space.

1.2 Condition of OS Tenant Space Tenant agrees that Tenant shall be deemed todwepted the OS Tenant Space in its “AS IS,
WHERE IS” condition on the OS Commencement Dat@ané acknowledges that, aside from Landlord’s Rephligations, Landlord shall have no
obligation to perform any work in the OS Tenant &éncluding, without limitation, demolition of gimprovements existing therein or construction
of any tenant finistwork or other improvements therein), and Landldrdllsnot be obligated to reimburse Tenant or prewad allowance for any cot
related to the demolition or construction of impeavents therein. Tenant acknowledges that, except@sssly set forth herein, no representation or
warranty (express or implied) has been made by loatés to the condition of the OS Tenant Spadesauitability or fitness for Tenant's intended
purpose.

1.3 Delivery of OS Tenant Space Landlord and Tenant acknowledge and agree thatirtue of Landlord’s delivery of the OS
Commencement Date Notice to Tenant, Landlord $leatleemed to have delivered the OS Tenant Spdentmnt, and Tenant shall be deemed to
accepted the same. Landlord shall use commercedlyonable efforts to cause Landlord’s OS Instatiatto be completed prior to the Target OS
Commencement Date. Upon the completion of Landto@S Installations, Landlord shall deliver the Q@rnencement Date Notice to Tenant. In
event, however, that Landlord’s OS Installationgehaot been completed by the Target OS Commencelraat Landlord shall not be deemed in
default hereunder, and the OS Commencement Dallebshgostponed, as Tenant's sole and exclusivedgmnuntil the date on which Landlord’s OS
Installations have been completed and Landlord slaake delivered the OS Commencement Date Notidetant.

1.4Rights Reserved to Landlord. Intentionally Deleted.

2.0S RIDER TERM . The term of this Rider, and Tenant’s obligatiorpaly OS Base Rent and other sums due under tthés,Rhall
commence on the OS Commencement Date and shalhgernin effect for the OS Rider Term, unless thideRis earlier terminated as provided her

3.0S BASE RENT AND OTHER CHARGES.
3.10S Base Rent Landlord hereby acknowledges receipt of all ti®eEBase Rent due and payable for the entire OS Rielen.
3.2Intentionally Deleted.

3.30S Base Rent and ChargesThe OS Base Rent and all other charges undeRitler are in addition to, and not in lieu of, B&sent
and all other charges under the Lease, and shadtitte Rent under the Lease. For the avoidandewlbt, Tenant acknowledges and agrees that all
Rent due under this Rider shall be subject toghm$ of Section 3.4 of the Standard Lease Prodsibthe Lease.

3.4.0S Installation Fee. Intentionally Deleted.



3.5.Electrical Power . Landlord shall furnish electricity to the OS Tah&pace in the amount of the Electricity Consumpihreshold
set forth in Item 11 of the Base Rider Informatajrthis Rider. The obligation of Landlord to progiélectricity to the OS Tenant Space shall be st
to the rules, regulations and requirements of tippker of such electricity and of any governmemtathorities regulating providers of electricitydan
shall be limited to providing the OS Electricity @umption Threshold. Landlord shall have no resibditg to provide Back-Up Power for use in the
OS Tenant Space.

3.6.0S Electricity Consumption Threshold. Tenant's actual electricity consumption for th® Cenant Space, as determined by the use
of the OS Electrical Metering Equipment shall noamy time, exceed the OS Electricity Consumptibneghold. The electrical power draw by all
equipment (belonging to Tenant or otherwise, Larttlereby agreeing that Landlord will not permé thstallation of any equipment in the OS Te
Space using electricity belonging to Landlord dresttenants/occupants of the Property) locatedimvitte OS Tenant Space shall be included in the
calculation of Tenant’s actual electricity consuioptfor the OS Tenant Space. In the event thaptveer consumption in the OS Tenant Space
exceeds the OS Electricity Consumption Threshodshaht agrees to take immediate action to causerpmwsumption in the OS Tenant Space to
or below the OS Electricity Consumption Threshold.

3.7.Maximum Structural Load—OS . Tenant shall not place a load upon the OS TeBpate exceeding the Maximum Structural
Load—OS.

4. USE.

4.10S Permitted Use. The OS Tenant Space may be used only for theegd@ifeed Use. Tenant shall not use any portiohef@S
Tenant Space as a datacenter or telecommunicd#ottisy or similar use but the OS Tenant Space f@ysed for purposes ancillary to Tenant's
datacenter use of the Tenant Space, provided, fewiaat in no event shall Tenant install, main@inise the datacenter equipment in the OS Tenant
Space.

4.2 0S Tenant Space AccessSubject to all of the terms and conditions o tRider and the Lease, Tenant shall quietly hawiel, &nd
enjoy the OS Tenant Space without hindrance fromdlaad or any person or entity claiming by, throwaghunder Landlord. Subject to the terms and
conditions of the Lease and this Rider (includimghout limitation, the OS Rules and Regulatiohsgndlord’s Access Control Systems and Force
Majeure, Tenant shall have access to the OS T&mate twenty-four (24) hours per day, seven (7% g&y week, fifty-two (52) weeks per year.
Tenant and its Tenant Parties shall comply with@$eRules and Regulations. Tenant acknowledged #matlord may revise the OS Rules and
Regulations from time to time.

4.3 Services to be Provided by Landlord Subject to the OS Rules and Regulations, Landibadl furnish Tenant, at Landlord’s expense,
while Tenant is occupying the OS Tenant Spacefdifmving services during the OS Rider Term:

(2) Air conditioning and heating in season, Montlapugh Friday from 8:00 a.m. to 6:00 p.m., andSaiturday from 9:00 a.m. to
1:00 p.m., at such temperatures and in office-tesgdsird amounts for the Building, but such sereic&aturday after 1:00 p.m., Sundays and holidays
to be furnished only upon the request of Tenang shall bear the cost thereof. Tenant acknowlettggssuch service and temperature may be subjec
to change by local, county, state or federal ragriaWhenever machines or equipment that genataitermal heat are used in the OS Tenant Space
which affect the temperature otherwise maintainethlk air conditioning system, Landlord shall haéwe right to install supplemental air conditioning
in the OS Tenant Space, and the cost thereof,dmgthe cost of installation, operation, use aradmenance, shall be paid by Tenant to Landlord as
Additional Rent upon demand.

(2) Water at those points of supply provided fongyal use.

(3) Janitor service in and about the Building, #m@lOS Tenant Space, as may in the judgment oflbethte reasonably required,;
however, Tenant shall pay the additional costdattzble to the cleaning of improvements within @® Tenant Space other than building standard
improvements. Landlord shall provide the janitosafvices to the OS Tenant Space throughout thedéthe Lease with respect to the OS Tenant
Space.
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(4) Elevators for ingress to and egress from thiddBig as may in the judgment of Landlord be readiy required. Landlord may
reasonably limit the number of elevators in operatfter usual and customary business hours aightinday afternoons, Sundays and legal holidays.

(5) Replacement of fluorescent lamps in the bugditandard ceiling mounted fixtures installed bydlard and incandescent bulb
replacement in all public areas.

4.4Interruption of Services . Landlord shall not be liable or responsible todm for any loss, damage or expense of any typehwh
Tenant may sustain or incur if the quantity or eleter of the utility provided electric service lganged, is no longer available, or is no longetasis
for Tenant’s requirements. No interruption or matftion of any electrical or other service (incluglimvithout limitation, HVAC) to the OS Tenant
Space (or to any other portion of the Building oogerty) shall, in any event, (i) constitute ancéiein or disturbance of Tenant’'s use and possesdion
the OS Tenant Space, (ii) constitute a breach Ingload of any of Landlord’s obligations under thealse or this Rider, (iii) render Landlord liable fo
damages of any type or entitle Tenant to be retidk@m any of Tenant's obligations under the Leaisthis Rider (including the obligation to pay
Additional Rent, or other charges), (iv) grant Tetnany right of setoff or recoupment, (v) providernaint with any right to terminate the Lease or this
Rider, or (vi) make Landlord liable for any injuty or interference with Tenant’s business or anyifee, incidental or consequential damages (of any
type), whether foreseeable or not, whether arifioig or relating to the making of or failure to neaény repairs, alterations or improvements, or
whether arising from or related to the provisioroofailure to provide for or to restore any seevin or to any portion of the OS Tenant Space, the
Property, or the Building. In the event of any intgtion, however, Landlord shall employ commetgiaéasonable efforts to restore such service or
cause the same to be restored in any circumstémedsich such restoration is within the reasonaluletrol of Landlord.

5. MAINTENANCE; ALTERATIONS

5.1Landlord’s Maintenance . Aside from Landlord’s Repair Obligations, Landiarhall have no repair and maintenance obligafions
connection with the OS Tenant Space. Subject tti@®e6 below, Landlord shall be responsible for dimnd’s Repair Obligations, all as necessary to
maintain such elements of the Building and the @8aht Space in a first class, clean, and safe tondin the event that the OS Tenant Space
becomes in need of repairs which are within LarddfoRepair Obligations, Tenant shall give immediatéce to Landlord of the nature of such repair
needs; and Landlord shall cause such repairs totpleted within thirty (30) days after such requessuch additional reasonable period of timés.
reasonably necessary to repair such condition(s).

5.2 Tenant's Maintenance. Aside from Landlord’s Repair Obligations, duritigg OS Rider Term, Tenant shall, at Tenant’s so& and
expense, maintain the OS Tenant Space and Tepapsrty, fixtures and equipment therein in clesaie and good condition, in as good condition as
when Tenant took possession, ordinary wear ancetezapted. If Tenant fails to perform its covenarftmaintenance and repair hereunder within
thirty (30) days after written notice that Tenaasltiailed to perform such maintenance and repasych longer time as Tenant may reasonably re
to perform such maintenance and repair, providatTenant commences to perform such maintenancespad within such thirty (30) day period
and thereafter diligently prosecutes such maintemamd repair to completion), or if Tenant or ahfenants technicians or representatives physic
damages the OS Tenant Space, the personal prafenty other tenant or anything else in the Butdim the Property, Landlord may, but shall not be
obligated to, perform all necessary or appropnaééntenance and repair, and any amounts expendedrajord in connection therewith, plus an
administrative charge of ten percent (10%), shaltddmbursed by Tenant to Landlord as AdditionaitRgon demand, provided, however, that, in an
emergency, Landlord shall not be required to gigadnt prior notice as a condition to exercisingights under this sentence.
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5.3 Alterations; Fixtures .

5.3.1 Tenant will make no alteration, change, improent, repair, replacement or physical additioarito the OS Tenant Space or
the Building without the prior written consent aayobroval of Landlord, which consent shall not besasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed. All
materials introduced by or for Tenant, or anyorénging by, through, or under Tenant, into the O8are Space and/or, except as otherwise permitted
pursuant to the provisions of the Lease, the Ptppeust be consented to in advance by Landlordcattle installed by or for Tenant, or anyone
claiming by, through, or under Tenant, in the O&dr¢ Space and/or otherwise at the Property mugldmeim rated. If such prior written consent of
Landlord is granted, the work in such connecticalldbe at Tenant's expense by workmen and contraetoproved in advance in writing by Landlord
and in a manner and upon terms and conditions &fiies that are reasonably satisfactory to ansloregbly approved in advance in writing by
Landlord. In any instance where Landlord granthstansent, Landlord may grant such consent contirgged conditioned upon Tenant’s contractors,
laborers, materialmen and others furnishing lalvonaterials for Tenant’s job working in harmony arat interfering with any labor utilized by
Landlord, Landlord’s contractors or mechanics oahy other tenant or such other tenant’'s contra@iomechanics; and if at any time such entry by
one (1) or more persons furnishing labor or matef@ Tenants work shall cause disharmony or interference fgrr@ason whatsoever without reg
to fault, the consent granted by Landlord to Temaay be withdrawn at any time upon written noticd €nant.

5.3.2 Tenant shall remove Tenant's trade fixtuo#fi;e supplies and movable office furniture andipgqent not attached to the
Building prior to the expiration of the OS Riderriire All other property in the OS Tenant Space amgdateration or addition to the OS Tenant Space
(including wall-to-wall carpeting, paneling or otheall covering) and any other article attacheaffixed to the floor, wall or ceiling of the OS Tamt
Space or the Building shall, upon such expiratioteanination, become the property of Landlord,lldb& surrendered in good condition, normal wear
and tear and damage caused by a Casualty Evernnglaka Landlord breach excepted, and shall rempgm, and be surrendered with, the OS Tenant
Space or the Building, as applicable, as part tifeaethe expiration of the OS Rider Term, Tenareby waiving all rights to any payment or
compensation therefor; provided, however, that Meshall, in any event, remove all cabling, inchgliwithout limitation, telephone and computer
cabling, installed in the OS Tenant Space andriders of the Building in connection with Tenarigase of the OS Tenant Space. If, however,
Landlord so requests in writing, Tenant will, priorthe termination of this Rider, remove in a gaod workmanlike manner any and all alterations,
additions, fixtures, equipment and property plagethstalled by Tenant in or about the OS Tenaric8@nd/or the Building in connection with each
alteration, including, without limitation, aboveiliey alterations, and will repair any damage odémasd by such removal. Landlord agrees to make
such election at the time that Landlord approvesahés plans for any such alteration, if Tenanuesys in writing that Landlord make such electibn a
the time that Tenant request Landlord’s approvalumh alteration.

6. MISCELLANEOUS.

6.1Incorporation; Amendment; Merger . The OS Tenant Space shall be deemed to be afghg Tenant Space under the Lease for the
purposes of Sections 2.3 (except for rent), 681,,8.4, 9, 10, 11, 12, 13, 14, 15 and 16. ThaeRialong with any exhibits and attachments oeoth
documents referred to herein, all of which are bgiacorporated into this Rider by this referenmastitutes the entire and exclusive agreement
between Landlord and Tenant relating to the OS fe8pace, and each of the aforementioned documeaytde altered, amended or revoked only by
an instrument in writing signed by the party tocharged thereby. All prior or contemporaneous oralritten agreements, understandings and/or
practices relative to the leasing or use of thel@fant Space are merged herein or revoked heréliy Rider is hereby incorporated into the Lease by
this reference.

6.2 Effectiveness of Rider. This Rider shall not be binding or effective littie parties have executed and delivered an @iigin
counterpart hereof to each other.
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6.3 Authority . Landlord and Tenant hereby represent to one anttht the persons executing this Rider on bedfdlandlord and Tenal
are duly authorized to execute and deliver thieRlrsuant to their respective by-laws, operagiggeement, resolution or other legally sufficient
authority. Further, Landlord and Tenant represemtrte another that (i) if it is a partnership, timnelersigned are all of its general partners, t(ljpis
been validly formed or incorporated, (iii) it islglgualified to do business in the state in whica Property is located, and (iv) this Rider is bein
executed on its behalf and for its benefit.

6.4 Counterparts; Delivery by Facsimile or E-mail. This Rider may be executed simultaneously in t&wmore counterparts each of
which shall be deemed an original, but all of whitfall constitute one and the same Rider. LandiadiTenant agree that the delivery of an executed
copy of this Rider by facsimile or e-mail shalllbgal and binding and shall have the same fullé§@ed effect as if an original executed copy of thi
Rider had been delivered.

6.5 Confidentiality . Each party agrees that (i) the terms and pravésad this Rider are confidential and constituteppietary information
of the parties; and (ii) as such, the terms andipians of this Rider are, and shall be, subje¢h#terms of Section 17.19 of the Lease.

[SIGNATURES APPEAR ON NEXT PAGE]
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have dulgcexed this Rider on the respective dates set Emfitw to be effective as of the OS
Effective Date.

LANDLORD :

DIGITAL PHOENIX VAN BUREN, LLC
a Delaware limited liability compar

By: Digital Realty Trust, L.P., a
Maryland limited partnership,
Its Sole Member and Manag

By: Digital Realty Trust, Inc.,
Maryland corporation,
Its General Partne

By: /s/ Richard Berk
Name Richard Berk
Title: VP, Portfolio Management, West Region

Date 11/29/11

TENANT :

CARBONITE, INC.,
a Delaware corporation

By: /s/ Andrew Keenan
Name Andrew Keenan
Title: CFO

Date 11/21/11




EXHIBIT “A”
DEPICTION OF OS TENANT SPACE

See attachet
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EXHIBITS “B”,“C”, and“D”

Intentionally Deleted.
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EXHIBIT “E”
LANDLORD 'S OS INSTALLATIONS

Landlord agrees to cause:
1. The OS Demising Walls to be constructed in t&eT@nant Space, approximately as set fortEximbit “A” attached hereto.*
2. The OS Demising Walls to be painted with Buiggidffice Standard type, color and quantity of paint
3. Building Office Standard carpeting to be ingdlin the OS Tenant Space.*
*Landlord agrees to complete Landlord’s OS Instadles at Landlord’s sole cost and expense; provitedever, in the event that Tenant
requests changes to the foregoing description nilload’s OS Installations (including any requestdther than “Building Office Standard” materials,

design and/or quantity), Tenant shall bear theecimental costs related to all such change requestisshall pay the same to Landlord within thirty
(30) days after Tenant’s receipt of an invoice éf@rfrom Landlord.

Landlorc's Warranty, as set forth (Exhibit “E " to the Lease, shall apply to the Land’s Installations with respect to the OS Tenant Sg



EXHIBIT “F”
OS COMMENCEMENT DATE NOTICE

20

VIA [FAX/E-MAIL]: [# OR E-MAIL ADDRESS]
AND FEDERAL EXPRESS

[INSERT TENANT'S ADDRESS
FOR NOTICES FROM BLI #3]

Re: That certain Office Space Rider with an effectiatedof , 20__ (as amended and modified from time to time," Rider "),
by and betwee@ARBONITE, INC. (“ Tenant”), as tenant, an®IGITAL PHOENIX VAN BUREN, LLC (“ Landlord "), as landlord
covering Suite at that certain building located 520 EAST VAN BUREN STREET, PHOENIX, ARIZONA . Capitalized terms not
otherwise defined herein shall have the meaningstesl to them in the Ride

Ladies and Gentlemen:

Please be advised that Landlord has caused edlcb Gommencement Date Conditions to occur. Accgigjiandlord confirms the following:
1. The OS Commencement Date ,20

2. Tenan's OS Base Rent schedule is as follows: $100 perwieizh has been paid in full for the entire OS &iderm.

Should you have any questions, please contact (Property Manager) at , who will be glad to
assist you.
Sincerely,
By:
Name:
Title:

On behalf of Landlort

cc: [INSERT ADDITIONAL NOTICE
ADDRESSES, IF APPLICABLE]



EXHIBIT “G”
OS RULES AND REGULATIONS

1. Upon termination of this Rider, Tenant agreesetarn all keys to Landlord.

2. Tenant shall refer all contractors, contractegfgresentatives and installation technicians reng@ny service to Tenant, to Landlord for
Landlord’s supervision, approval (not to be unreaddy withheld, delayed or conditioned) and contba@fore performance of any contractual service.
This provision shall apply to all work performedtire Building, including, without limitation, indtation of telephones, telegraph equipment, eleat
devices and attachments and installations of ahyr@affecting floors, walls, woodwork, trim, winds, ceilings, equipment or any other physical
portion of the Building.

3. Movement in and out of the Building of furnitudfice equipment or other bulky materials, or rament through Building entrances or lob
or dispatch or receipt by Tenant of any merchandiseaterials which requires use of elevators ainstys shall be restricted to hours designated by
Landlord. All such movement shall be under supé@wisf Landlord and in the manner agreed betweeraiieand Landlord by prearrangement before
performance of any such movement. Such prearrangsrirétiated by Tenant shall include determinatignLandlord, and subject to Landlord’s
decision and control, of the time, method and rautif movement, and limitations imposed by safetgtber concerns which may prohibit any article,
equipment or any other item from being brought thie Building. Tenant shall assume all risk asamédge to articles moved and injury to persons or
public engaged or not engaged in such movementdimg equipment, property and personnel of Lardlibdamaged or injured as a result of acts in
connection with carrying out this service for Tenfram the time of entering property to completminvork.

4. No signs, advertisements or notices shall lwavaltl in any form on windows or doors inside or meghe OS Tenant Space or any other part
of the Building, and no signs except in uniformdtion and uniform styles fixed by Landlord shallggrmitted on exterior identification pylons, ifya
in the public corridors or on corridor doors orrances to the OS Tenant Space. All signs shalbh&acted for by Landlord for Tenant at the rate
fixed by Landlord from time to time, and Tenantlsba billed and pay for such service accordinghpn demand.

5. No draperies, shutters, or other window covesingill be installed on exterior windows or wallsdndows and doors facing public corridors
without Landlord’s written approval. Landlord shiadive the right to require installation and contidwse of uniform window covering for such
windows.

6. No portion of the OS Tenant Space or any othergf the Building shall at any time be used arugied as sleeping or lodging quarters.

7. Tenant shall not place, install or operate s@@% Tenant Space or in any other part of the Bugjldny machinery or conduct mechanical
operations, or place or use in or about the OS AteBpace any explosives, gasoline, kerosene,adils acaustics or any other inflammable, explosive
or hazardous materials, fluid or substance wittlo@tprior written consent of Landlord.

8. Landlord shall not be responsible for lost otest personal property, equipment, money or jewiebyn the OS Tenant Space or public rooms
regardless of whether such loss occurs when arlyanea is locked against entry or not.

9. No birds or animals shall be brought into ortkapr about the OS Tenant Space or any othergbdhie Building.

10. None of the entries, sidewalks, vestibulesjagte shafts, passages, doorways or hallways anithsiareas shall be blocked or obstructed, or
any rubbish, litter, trash or material of any natptaced, emptied or thrown into such areas, dn aveas be used at any time for any purpose ekue
ingress or egress by Tenant, Tenant’s agents, gegBoor invitees to and from the OS Tenant Spaddargoing from one to another part of the
Building.



11. Tenant and Tenant's employees, agents ane@s/ghall observe and comply with the driving asudkipg signs and markers on the premises
or parking facilities surrounding the Building.

12. Landlord shall have the right to prescribeweéght and position of safes and other heavy eqeigrwhich shall, in all cases, in order to
distribute their weight, stand on supporting desiapproved by Landlord. All damage done to the ®8aht Space or to the Building by placing in or
taking out any property of Tenant, or done by Te'sguroperty while in the OS Tenant Space or thédiug, shall be repaired immediately at the sole
expense of Tenant.

13. Plumbing fixtures and appliances shall be us#y for purposes for which constructed, and noepirgg, rubbish, rags or other unsuitable
material shall be thrown or placed therein. Damagelting to any such fixtures or appliances frorause by Tenant, or Tenant’s agents or employees
shall be paid by Tenant, and Landlord shall natrig case be responsible therefor.

14. Tenants on multi-tenant floors shall keep affance doors to the OS Tenant Space closed tihak.

15. Landlord reserves the right to rescind anynegé rules and make such other and further realsonadés and regulations as in Landlord’s
judgment shall from time to time be needful for Hadety, protection, care and cleanliness of thié&Big, the operation thereof, the preservatiol
good order therein, and the protection and conufbits tenants, their agents, employees and insjtedich rules when made and notice thereof given
to a tenant shall be binding upon such tenanketianner as if originally prescribed.



Exhibit 21.1

Subsidiaries of Carbonite, Inc.

Subsidiary Jurisdiction
Carbonite Holdings, Inc United States (Delawar:
Carbonite Securities Corporati United States (Massachuse
6745385 Canada, In Canade
Carbonite (China) Co., Lt China

Each of the subsidiaries is a wholly owned subsjdié Carbonite, Inc., except for Carbonite (Chi@a)., Ltd., which is a wholly owned subsidiary of
Carbonite Holdings, Inc.



Exhibit 23.1
CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

We consent to the incorporation by reference inRbgistration Statement (Form S-8 No. 333-176378uoreport dated March 7, 2012 with
respect to the consolidated financial statemen@aobonite, Inc., included in this Annual Reponbifid 10-K) of Carbonite, Inc. for the year ended
December 31, 2011.

/sl Ernst & Young LLP

Boston, Massachusetts
March 7, 2012



Exhibit 31.1
CERTIFICATIONS

I, David Friend, certify that:

1.
2.

| have reviewed this annual report on Forr-K of Carbonite, Inc.

Based on my knowledge, this report does not corsiaynuntrue statement of a material fact or omgtéde a material fact necessan
make the statements made, in light of the circunt&ts under which such statements were made, nigadisg with respect to the period
covered by this repor

Based on my knowledge, the financial statememtd,other financial information included in théport, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operstand cash flows of the registrant as of, amngtfe periods presented in this rep

The registrang other certifying officer and | are responsibledstablishing and maintaining disclosure contavild procedures (as defin
in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e))iateginal control over financial reporting (as defihin Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f)
and 15-15(f)) for the registrant and hav

a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedaresiused such disclosure controls and procedaoites designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhtibsidiaries, is made known tc
by others within those entities, particularly dgrite period in which this report is being prepa

b) Designed such internal control over financial réipgr;, or caused such internal control over finah@aorting to be designed unc
our supervision, to provide reasonable assuramgzgding the reliability of financial reporting atite preparation of financial
statements for external purposes in accordancegeitierally accepted accounting princip

C) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registradisslosure controls and procedures and presentiisineport our conclusions about
the effectiveness of the disclosure controls andgutures, as of the end of the period coveredibyeport based on such
evaluation; ant

d) Disclosed in this report any change in the ttegiig’s internal control over financial reportirtgat occurred during the registrant’s
most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fodikbal quarter in the case of an annual repo#) ttas materially affected, or is
reasonably likely to materially affect, the regist’s internal control over financial reporting; 8

The registrans other certifying officer and | have disclosedsdxon our most recent evaluation of internal @miver financial reportin
to the registrar’s auditors and the audit committee of the regit's board of directors (or persons performing thevedent functions)

a) All significant deficiencies and material weagses in the design or operation of internal cortvelr financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the regig’s ability to record, process, summarize and reffeancial information; ani

b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involveamagement or other employees who have a significéain the registra’s
internal control over financial reportin

Dated: March 7, 2012

/s/ David Frienc
David Friend
Chief Executive Office




Exhibit 31.z
CERTIFICATIONS

I, Andrew P. Keenancertify that:

1.
2.

| have reviewed this annual report on Forr-K of Carbonite, Inc.

Based on my knowledge, this report does not corsiaynuntrue statement of a material fact or omgtéde a material fact necessan
make the statements made, in light of the circunt&ts under which such statements were made, nigadisg with respect to the period
covered by this repor

Based on my knowledge, the financial statememtd,other financial information included in théport, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operstand cash flows of the registrant as of, amngtfe periods presented in this rep

The registrang other certifying officer and | are responsibledstablishing and maintaining disclosure contavild procedures (as defin
in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e))iateginal control over financial reporting (as defihin Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f)
and 15-15(f)) for the registrant and hav

a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedaresiused such disclosure controls and procedaoites designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhtibsidiaries, is made known tc
by others within those entities, particularly dgrite period in which this report is being prepa

b) Designed such internal control over financial réipgr;, or caused such internal control over finah@aorting to be designed unc
our supervision, to provide reasonable assuramgzgding the reliability of financial reporting atite preparation of financial
statements for external purposes in accordancegeitierally accepted accounting princip

C) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registradisslosure controls and procedures and presentiisineport our conclusions about
the effectiveness of the disclosure controls andgutures, as of the end of the period coveredibyeport based on such
evaluation; ant

d) Disclosed in this report any change in the ttegiig’s internal control over financial reportirtgat occurred during the registrant’s
most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fodikbal quarter in the case of an annual repo#) ttas materially affected, or is
reasonably likely to materially affect, the regist’s internal control over financial reporting; 8

The registrans other certifying officer and | have disclosedsdxon our most recent evaluation of internal @miver financial reportin
to the registrar’s auditors and the audit committee of the regit's board of directors (or persons performing thevedent functions)

a) All significant deficiencies and material weagses in the design or operation of internal cortvelr financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the regig’s ability to record, process, summarize and reffeancial information; ani

b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involveamagement or other employees who have a significéain the registra’s
internal control over financial reportin

Dated: March 7, 2012

/s/ Andrew P. Keena
Andrew P. Keena
Chief Financial Officel




Exhibit 32.1

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Annual Report of Carbonite,. (the “Company”) on Form 10-K for the perioddamg December 31, 2011 as filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission on the datehg@he “Report”), |, David Friend, Chief Executigficer of the Company, certify, pursuant to
18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant tacBe@a®6 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that:

(1) The Report fully complies with the requirementsSeftion 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchangeoh 1934; anc

(2) The information contained in the Report faphgsents, in all material respects, the finanaaldition and results of operations of the
Company

/s/ David Frienc

David Friend

President, Chairman of the Board and
Chief Executive Officer

March 7, 2012

A signed original of this written statement reqdit®y Section 906 has been provided to the Compadyll be retained by the Company and
furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commigsidts staff upon request.



Exhibit 32.2

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Annual Report of Carbonite,. (the “Company”) on Form 10-K for the perioddamg December 31, 2011 as filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission on the datehg@he “Report”),l, Andrew P. Keenan, Chief Financial Officer of tBempany, certify, pursua
to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuarg¢tidh 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that:

(1) The Report fully complies with the requirementsSefction 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchangeoh 1934; anc

(2) The information contained in the Report fairly grets, in all material respects, the financial ctodiand results of operations of
Company

/s/ Andrew P. Keena
Andrew P. Keenan
Chief Financial Office

March 7, 2012

A signed original of this written statement reqdit®y Section 906 has been provided to the Compadyll be retained by the Company and
furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commigsidts staff upon reques



